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CHINA NICKEL RESOURCES

China Nickel Resources is a leading integrated hi-tech special steel, non-
ferrous metal and mineral enterprise in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”). The Company was listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) in 2005 (stock code:
2889.HK) and is the first non-state-owned mineral-resources exploration,
development, and processing enterprises, and is the first hi-tech special
steel producer in the PRC listed abroad. Our businesses are now
vertically integrated from mining to ferrous and non-ferrous metal
production. We have successfully transformed from a traditional special
steel manufacturer to a leading integrated mineral-resources exploration
and processing enterprise in the PRC. Our businesses include ore
trading, ore processing, ferrous and non-ferrous metallurgy. Our products
have been extended to stainless steel, tool steel, bearing steel, gearing
steel, and high strength alloy steel; and these products are widely used in
metallurgy, automobile, ship-building, petrochemical, buildings, bridges,
railway transportation and infrastructures. The Group has successfully
developed a number of innovative and patented technologies. For
example, we used our own technology to extract valuable metals from
the multi-element low-grade ore; which is able to produce high strength
and high-value-added NiCr based alloy steel products from inferior ore
resources. The Group capitalises on its own exclusive offtake right on
mineral resources and technological advantages to enter into the mineral
resources and ore processing industries. With the long-term exclusive
offtake agreement entered into with an Indonesia mine, the Group is
actively expanding in the PRC and overseas and is seeking iron and
nickel mine investment and partnership opportunities in Southeast Asia.
Currently, the Group has subsidiaries and offices in the PRC, Hong Kong,
Singapore, and Indonesia with a global workforce of about 900 people.
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Corporate Information

LAFEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Dong Shutong (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Wang Ping (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)
(Appointed on 10 October 2014)

Mr. Yin Sheping (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)
(Appointed on 10 October 2014)

Mr. Chiang Shyh yi (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)
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Mr. Song Wenzhou

Mr. Yang Fei
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Mr. Yang Tianjun
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Mr. Wong Chi Keung
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Mr. Wong Chi Keung (Committee Chairman)
Mr. Huang Changhuai

Mr. Bai Baohua
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Mr. Dong Shutong
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Mr. Wong Chi Keung
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Mr. Chan Yee Lok (Resigned on 26 April 2014)
Mr. Choi Kwok Keung Sanvic (Appointed on 3 June 2014)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. Dong Shutong
Mr. Yang Fei

REGISTERED OFFICE
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE IN HONG KONG
Room 3501, 35th Floor

China Merchants Tower

Shun Tak Centre

168-200 Connaught Road Central
Sheung Wan

Hong Kong
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Corporate Information

LAFEH

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC

No. 7, Block F

Runhua Business Garden

No. 24 Jinshui Road, Jinshui District
Zhengzhou City, Henan Province
The PRC 450012

AUDITOR
PricewaterhouseCoopers

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Royal Bank of Canada

Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

4th Floor

Royal Bank House

24 Shedden Road

George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-1110

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND

TRANSFER OFFICE
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
17M Floor, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Hong Kong:

China CITIC Bank International Limited

Shanghai Commercial Bank Ltd.

Pudong Development Bank Co. Ltd.

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

The PRC:

China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited
Pudong Development Bank Co. Ltd.
China Guangfa Bank Co., Ltd.

Bank of Jiangsu Co., Ltd.

Singapore:

Citibank Singapore Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
DBS Bank Limited

China CITIC Bank International Limited

WEBSITE
ir.cnrholdings.com

STOCK CODE
02889
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Five-Year Financial Summary

AFEMBEE

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of China Nickel Resources Holdings
Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter
collectively referred as to the “Group”) for the last five financial years
prepared on the basis set out in the note below is as follows:

MBEREE
PEBERERARARN (AR REMEL
Al AT 488 [ AR E ) B =T AR REERE
TXHEMBEERHUZERMERE  BE A
BRI RS - BT

Results E4
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
—E-NF —EF—=-F —T——F —FT—F —T-%F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$ 000 HK$’'000
FET TFHT FHET FHT FHET
Revenue g 336,403 1,635,170 1,810,036 3,114,804 1,774,127
Cost of sales SRR AN (501,897) (1,664,620) (1,656,057) (2,718,530) (1,578,579)
Gross (loss)/profit (£8) EF (165,494)  (29,450) 153,979 396,274 195,548
Other gains/(loss), net Halas, (BE)
FEE 18,855 49,477 (100,414) 180,356 84,187
Selling and distribution SHE R SR A
costs (10,036) (5,196) (19,225)  (52,109) (26,946)
Administrative expenses TR (176,980)  (284,672)  (243,040)  (155,727)  (169,146)
Finance income AMEWA 145,079 17,735 20,546 11,767 9,510
Finance costs RUE A (559,261) (280,927) (356,547) (246,868) (104,470)
Other expenses Hmfx (36,740) (67,737) (10,981) (18,639) (31,982)
Gain on disposal of HE B AT
a subsidiary Z&H - - 675,291 - -
Impairment losses on W - BB R
property, plant and BERE
equipment (597,392) (726,185)  (151,883) - (4,937)
Provision for impairment of ~ B F—HEE AT
loan to an associate 2R E R (56,975) - - - -
Share of (loss)/profit of FE{E — B2 A )
an associate (E518) /&7 (26,474) (13,508) 851 4,230 21,613
(Loss)/profit before BRETEBHL AT
income tax (E8]), &R (1,465,418) (1,340,463) (31,423 119,284 (26,623)
Income tax credit/(expense)  FTEEE R, (FX) 11,205 (25,043)  (248,293) (38,181) 29,584
(Loss)/profit for the year  FE (F518) % F (1,454,213) (1,365,506)  (279,716) 81,103 2,961
Attributable to: B
Equity holders of the RRATERFEE A
Company (1,453,133) (1,366,411)  (278,301) 79,856 1,695
Non-controlling interests FEERR (1,080) 905 (1,415) 1,247 1,266
(1,454,213) (1,365,506)  (279,716) 81,103 2,961
Dividends BE - - 23,043 - 4,588
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Five-Year Financial Summary

AFEMBEE

Assets, Liabilities and Non-controlling Interests BE - BERFERES
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
—E-mF —FT—=F —ZFT——F —T——F T-FTF

HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
FTET TAT TAT TAT TAT

Total assets BEE 5,367,597 6,316,918 7,824,022 8,151,068 8,276,075
Total liabilities HAE 3,973,220 3,498,941 3,819,426 3,721,760 3,761,591
Non-controlling interests IR 8,465 9,450 18,905 150,004 141,699
Net assets FAE 1,394,377 2,817,977 4,004,506 4,429,308 4,514,483
Note: B3

The consolidated results of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2010, 2011, AEEAREHEEZE-TE—ZTF - ZFT——F T ZFR=F
2012 and 2013 are extracted from the Annual Report 2010, 2011, 2012, and 2013 ofthe —=ZF+ A=+ A LEEZHAEE D RIREEARAE
Company respectively (as restated from RMB to HK$) while those for the year ended 31 ZERF - —F - CERCE-—FFERSE

December 2014 were prepared based on the consolidated income statement and (M ARBEIAER) MEBEE-_T—NF+_-_A=+—H

consolidated statement of financial position as set out on page 69 and pages 71 to 73, It FEZHGREEE NN AENRFOBERET1EEZE73E 27

respectively. This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements. Gl ER LA MERRAREER o LB E I AR FEZ TS
k2 —8HD o
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Corporate Responsibility

ERRE

UNLIMITED COMMITMENT WITH LIMITED
RESOURCES

It is the responsibility of an enterprise to utilise limited resources in an
efficient way and protect the environment with dedication and
creativity. Aiming to fulfil unlimited commitment with limited resources,
the Group has devoted efforts in the research and development of
new and green technologies and products in order to realise the
targets of high recovery rate, low emission as well as resources
recycling with effective and comprehensive use of resources. The
management believes that the Group is able to bring satisfactory
economic returns for the investors through proper use of limited
resources.
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Recognition and Awards
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHES

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the Annual Report of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2014 and extend my gratitude to all the
shareholders on behalf of the Board of China Nickel Resources
Holdings Company Limited.

REVIEW

2014 continues a challenging year full of uncertainties for both the
market and the Group. The over-supply situation had not
fundamentally improved amid the increasingly fierce competition from
similar products in the steel market. As a result, the gross profit
margin of iron and steel products remained thin.

During the year, the steel price was persisting weak. Together with
the Export Ban which was implemented in early 2014 by the relevant
governmental authorities of Indonesia has continuously casted
significant doubt on the Group’s financial performance and cash
flows position in 2015.

Being the largest emerging economy in the world, the economic-
growth of China was slowing down in recent years, thus economic
stimulus policies may be launched in order to maintain the objective
of steady growth. There was also a sign of slowdown of China’s
economy that the demand for the iron and steel in China in 2014 was
sluggish. The steel-making business continued to be hindered by
over-supply issue and the structural reform of China’s economy.
Prices of steel products also dropped significantly as a result of the
steel manufacturers cut their inventory level.

The above unfavourable factors continuously brought substantial
negative impacts to the Group’s future operational and financial
performance. During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group’s
turnover dropped dramatically when compared with last year and the
Group recorded a substantial loss mainly due to the significant
provision for impairment losses of property, plant and equipment and
prepaid land lease payments of HK$597.4 million.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHES

Although the financial results of the Group recorded unexpectedly
substantial loss due to the above-mentioned reasons, the Group had
completed the innovation on the new “high-strength steel” product in
the second half of the year 2014 which can be applied to bridge
construction, offshore oil platform construction, marine construction,
ship construction, power transmission engineering and marine
transport facilities. The Company believes that the “high-strength
steel” product can contribute substantially to the Group’s future
operating profits upon the exploration and development of the new
“high-strength steel” products in the PRC’s steel market in the near
future. The Group will also actively explore the promotion of the high-
end alloy, bearing steel and stainless steel products catering for
household, photovoltaic and animal husbandry uses etc., which will
generate higher margin with lesser impact affected by macro
economy.

PROSPECTS
We expect the economy of China will continue its healthy growth
trend and the demand and profitability of our steel products will
rebound in future.

In a longer term, we expect China will continue its modernisation and
urbanisation that the demand of high quality steel products for public
infrastructure and equipment manufacturing will increase steadily.
This definitely will bring enormous business opportunities for our
Group.

We believe that after the technology industrialisation and
modernization of steel products, the Group will have a stronger
competitive advantage in the industry.

Also, we are considering and seeking for any possible alternatives
and financing sources to facilitate the development of the Indonesia
project, that is, for building up steel mills in Indonesia in the
foreseeable future.

| have confident to achieve our restated performance targets through

the cooperation with all staff to bring fruitful returns to our
shareholders.

Dong Shutong
Chairman & CEO

Hong Kong, 31 August 2015
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THEMWRES

For the year ended
31 December

BEt-A=T-HLEE

2014 2013

—E—F T

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET FHIT

Revenue Wk 336,403 1,635,170

Gross Loss SEF (165,494) (29,450)
Loss before Interest, Tax, BRFE - BE -

Depreciation and Amortisation* e R B SRRl 2 B iR (329,069) (80,049)
Loss before Tax B A B 18 (1,465,418) (1,340,463)
Loss Attributable to Equity Holders of ARREERE ARIEER

the Company (1,453,133) (1,366,411)
Gross Loss Margin EBRE (49.2%) (1.8%)
LBITDA Margin LBITDA % (97.8%) (4.9%)
# Loss before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (“LBITDA”) also excluded # BAE - BiIE - HTE REERERE ([LBITDA]) IR A8 1E

impairment losses of property, plant and equipment and prepaid land lease
payments of HK$597.4 million (2013: HK$746.9 million).

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT ANALYSIS

Impact of Export Ban

The business of the Group has been severely affected by an export
ban since 12 January 2014.

Pursuant to the relevant regulations promulgated in Indonesia,
unprocessed ore export by mining business licence holders in
Indonesia (“IUP Holders”) has been banned from 12 January 2014
onwards unless the IUP Holders have carried out processing and
refining domestically according to Government Regulation No. 23 of
2010 regarding implementation of activities of business of minerals
and coal mining and have conducted refining and smelting in
accordance with Law No. 4 of 2009 regarding minerals and coal
mining (“Export Ban”).

The Group purchases ores for both trading of limonitic ore business
and self-use manufacturing of iron and steel products. In the past few
years, the Group enjoyed fixed price in ore supply through an
exclusive offtake agreement (“EOA”).

After the Export Ban, the ore trading business, which contributed
91% of revenue to the Group in 2013, was completely suspended.
The turnover from ore trading business shrank 96.5% from
HK$1,493.9 million in 2013 to HK$52.1 million in 2014.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THEMWRES

Besides the direct impact on the ore trading business, the Export Ban
also adversely affected the manufacturing of iron and steel products.
Without ore supply in stable price under the EOA, the Group had to
purchase the ores from the PRC market with volatile ore price
fluctuation which affected the cost of manufacturing of the iron and
steel products.

Operating environment in 2014

In 2014, the PRC’s steel market continued to be negatively affected
by the over-supply and the persisting weak steel price under fierce
competition in the steel market. As a result, the sales of iron and steel
products recorded gross loss during the year.

We remain pessimistic about the steel market in the PRC in the short
term due to the continuation of over-supply and the persisting weak
steel price under fierce competition in the steel market. We expect
the prices of iron and steel products will not have significant rebound
in the near future. However, in the long term, we expect the global
economy will gradually recover and the economy of the PRC wiill
maintain its healthy growth trend. Going forward, domestic market in
the PRC will become quality-oriented, which will impose higher
requirements on products in terms of environmental-friendliness,
safety and durability, sustainability and recycling. We expect that the
quantitative demand for high quality steel products will increase
significantly in the long run, and product development will incline to
the high-end market.

To capture these business opportunities, the Group has shifted to the
production of high quality iron and steel products through the
application of more environmental-friendly production method.
Moreover, the Group completed the innovation on the new “high-
strength steel” product in the second half of the year 2014 which can
be applied to bridge construction, offshore oil platform construction,
marine construction, ship construction, power transmission
engineering and marine transport facilities. Despite the new “high-
strength steel” products launching to the market is at very beginning
stage, the Directors believe that the “high-strength steel” product can
contribute substantially to the Group’s future operating profits upon
the successful exploration and development of the new “high-strength
steel” products in the PRC’s steel market in the near future.

However, as the current operating environment as a whole remains
weak, the Directors have reviewed the recoverable amounts of the
property, plant and equipment in the Group’s plants in Zhengzhou
and made an impairment loss of HK$312.9 million in 2014.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Project Progress

In the PRC

Lianyungang City East Harvest Mining Company Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, has constructed a production
plant to produce nickel fine powder. The first production line of the
production plant started trial production in the second half year of
2012. The nickel fine powder can be treated as finished product for
direct sales; alternatively, it can be treated in a blast furnace and
possessed into nickel-iron alloy fluid, which becomes a high-quality
raw material for the production of stainless steel. The Lianyungang
plant applies low carbon metallurgical technology developed by the
Group. Ordinary coal, rather than coke used in traditional process, is
used in the reduction purification process, under which the
consumption of carbon may decrease by up to 40%. In addition, the
plant can utilise low grade nickel ore for production, the cost of which
is much lower than that used in traditional production process. The
project is highly recognised by the local government. Moreover, the
plant is situated at the Lianyungang port and benefits from
geographical advantages. Ores and other raw materials from
overseas can be conveniently transported to the plant, largely
reducing the inland transportation costs and logistics pressure.

Due to the Export Ban, the production of iron ores related products
was affected substantially. The management has decided to suspend
the production plan to a later period. Because of the Export Ban, the
expected recoverable amount of the plant continually decreased
since last year. As a result, the Directors made a provision for
impairment of the property, plant and equipment of the plant
amounted to HK$249.7 million in 2014.

In Indonesia

PT. Mandan Steel, our wholly-owned subsidiary incorporated in
Indonesia, is our future processing and manufacturing arm in
overseas. PT. Mandan Steel is also recognised as a key iron and steel
mill construction project of Indonesia with strong support from
Indonesia central government, and offers manufacturing capability
that is valuable considering the new mining regulations in Indonesia.
The steel mill project will produce steel bar for concrete reinforcement
to capture the market opportunities in Indonesia. This processing
facility can save shipping fee, loading and unloading charges and
inland port charges. The Stage 1 development is facilitated and
based on the overall relocation of the equipment from Luoyang
Yongan Special Steel Company Limited, a former wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company. To ensure high quality, environmental
protection, energy efficiency and low production cost, new equipment
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will be added to existing equipment and some existing facilities will be
modified. After the Export Ban which affected our cash flow position
together with the delay in disposal of 30% equity interest of S.E.A.
Mineral Ltd. (“SEAM”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
the Group is seeking other financing sources to facilitate the
development of the project. Management is currently negotiating with
the relevant parties to facilitate the completion of the proposed
disposal despite longer than expected time was spent as a result of
the rapid changes in environment the SEAM operates in.

Business Development

Ore trading business

The Group purchases ores from Indonesia through the EOA at fixed
price for self-use or for sale, and has started selling ores to third
parties since the end of 2009. The ore trading business had a
remarkable contribution to our profitability and cash flows in the past
few years due to strong demand from the PRC customers.

After the Export Ban, the ore trading business of the Group has been
suspended and it is anticipated that this will have a continuous
significant negative impact on the financial and operating results of
the Group.

It is possible that the relevant mining regulations in Indonesia may be
amended but there is no guarantee that the Export Ban will be
uplifted in near future.

The Directors are considering any possible alternatives, including but
not limited to, co-operation with local enterprises for building up steel
mills in Indonesia.

Steel-making operations

For the steel-making operations of the Group, both the sales volume
and profit margins of stainless steel products and Ni-Cr alloy steel
ingot continued to be low during the year as a result of over-supply
under the intense competition on steel products market in the PRC.
In addition, due to the Export Ban, the production plant of our
Yongtong Special Steel Company Limited (“Yongtong Special Steel”)
suspended production during January 2014 to April 2014. This also
led to low production and sales volume in 2014. Since early of May
2014, the Group’s steel-making operations had resumed its
production gradually. Also, due to the continuing weak demand in
iron and steel market, the production suspended after long Chinese
New Year holiday in the year of 2015. Since early July 2015, the
Group’s steel-making operations has been resumed gradually.
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While we expect the keen competition in the PRC’s steel market will
continue in 2015, the demand for steel products will gradually pick
up. The Group is actively developing new high value-added steel
products and identifying PRC and overseas markets with growth
potentials to strengthen our product portfolio and reduce market
concentration risk.

Financing Arrangement

As at 31 December 2014, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$2,358.3 million. The Group has been actively
negotiating with PRC and overseas banks and institutional investors
for new borrowings and renewal of existing borrowings when they fall
due. During the year, the Group had successfully obtained bank and
other borrowings of HK$1,067.8 million to finance our operation and
for repayment of our borrowings when they fell due.

In addition, based on the framework agreement with a potential
investor for the disposal of 30% equity interest of SEAM, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group, the aggregate consideration will be
approximately RMB900 million (equivalent to approximately HK$1.1
billion). The transaction is still in progress due to the rapid change in
operating and regulatory environment of our subsidiary, and the
potential investor needs more time for conducting due diligence work.

Event of Default and Cross-Default

Bonds

During the year and subsequent to the year end, the Group had
default in payment of due interest and principal under the terms and
conditions of the bonds, the default may trigger a cross-default in
accordance with respective terms and conditions of the bonds. In
such an event, DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited, in its respective
capacities as trustee for the holders of the bonds is entitled to,
amongst other things, accelerate the Company’s obligations under
the bonds and declare the outstanding principal amounts of the
bonds to be immediately due and payable, together with outstanding
interest and all other sums payable. As at the date of this report, DB
Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited has not made any demand for
immediate repayment of the 12% Coupon Senior Bonds, the 8%
Coupon Convertible Bonds or the Modified 10% Coupon Bonds. As
at the date of this report, (i) the principal amount of the 12% Coupon
Senior Bonds of HK$390,990,000 and the accrued interest of
HK$47,807,000 are outstanding; (i) the principal amount of the 8%
Coupon Convertible Bonds of HK$117,525,000 and the accrued
interest of HK$10,407,000 are outstanding; and (i) the principal
amount of the Modified 10% Coupon Bonds of HK$28,400,000 and
the accrued interest of HK$3,604,000 are outstanding.
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Bank Loans

CITIC Loan

Under the terms and conditions of the bank loan from China CITIC
Bank International Limited (“CITIC Bank”) to the Company (the “CITIC
Loan”), payment of the interest in respect of one of the CITIC Loan in
the amount of US$96,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$745,000)
has fallen due and was payable on 12 January 2015. The Company
did not repay the above interest.

On 14 January 2015, the Company received a demand letter from
the CITIC Bank demanding settlement of all the outstanding principal
amount of US$25,616,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$198,708,000) together with accrued interests, other charges and
any amount due to the CITIC Bank (“Full Outstanding Amount of
CITIC Loan”) thereon in full on or before 22 January 2015. Since the
Company did not repay the Full Outstanding Amount of CITIC Loan
by 22 January 2015, the CITIC Bank is entitled to lodge their claims
against the covering standby letters of credit issued by China CITIC
Bank Corporation Limited, as a security of the CITIC Loan.

Under the terms and conditions of the CITIC Bank, the principal in the
amount of US$12,516,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$97,078,000) has fallen due and was payable on 6 July 2015.
Since the Company did not repay the above principal, on 6 July
2015, the CITIC Bank lodged and has completed its claims against
the covering standby letter of credit issued by China CITIC Bank
Corporation Limited, as a security of the CITIC Loan fully backed up
by the pledged deposit of the Group, for the outstanding principal
amount of US$12,516,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$97,078,000) together with accrued interests, other charges and
any amount due to the CITIC Bank thereon in full.

Up to the date of approval of the consolidated financial statements,
CITIC Bank has not lodged its claims against the securities in respect
of the remaining outstanding CITIC Loan with principal amount of
US$13,100,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$101,630,000), that
is, the stand-by letters of credit issued by China CITIC Bank
Corporation Limited fully backed up by the pledged deposit of the
Group. The remaining outstanding principal has not been settled and
the interest rate swap contracts entered between CITIC Bank and the
Company remain effective with no loss incurred.
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SCB Loan

Under the terms and conditions of the bank loan facility letters from
Shanghai Commercial Bank Limited (the “SCB”) to the Company (the
“SCB Loan”), payment of the interest in respect of one of the SCB
Loan in the amount of US$100,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$775,000) has fallen due and was payable on 12 January 2015.
The Company did not to repay the above interest.

On 14 January 2015, the Company received a demand letter from
the SCB demanding settlement of all the outstanding principal
amount of US$15,650,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$121,386,000) together with accrued interests, other charges and
any amount due to the SCB (“Full Outstanding Amount of SCB Loan”)
thereon in full on or before 22 January 2015. Otherwise the SCB
would be entitled to lodge their claims against the covering standby
letters of credit issued by Bank of Jiangsu Company Limited, as a
security of the SCB Loan.

The Company did not repay SCB the Full Outstanding Amount of
SCB Loan by 22 January 2015. As a result, on 26 January 2015, the
SCB lodged and has completed its claims against the securities, and
the Full Outstanding Amount of SCB Loan has been fully offset by the
pledged deposit of the Group.

SPD Loan

On 26 January 2015, the Company received a demand letter from
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd. (“SPD”) in relation to
the bank loan facility and interest rate swap facility granted to the
Company by SPD.

On 5 February 2015, the Company did not repay SPD all the
outstanding principal, accrued interests and the break funding cost
due by the Company to SPD (“Full Outstanding Amount of SPD
Loan”). As a result, the SPD lodged and has completed its claims for
the Full Outstanding Amount of SPD Loan against the securities, that
is, the irrevocable and unconditional letters of guarantee issued by
the SPD Zhengzhou Branch fully backed up by the pledged deposit
of the Group. The Full Outstanding Amount of SPD Loan has been
fully offset by the pledged deposit of the Group.

The transactions under the interest rate swap contracts entered
between the SPD and the Company was terminated immediately.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Turnover and sales volume

Major products of the Group were stainless steel products, Ni-Cr
alloy steel ingot, ferro-nickel alloys and limonitic ores. The table below

Bt %5 O R

ERBEREE
AEEZ EBEMSTHMER RIS W -
RHASRBEE - TR AKBEERRFIR

sets out the turnover and sales volume of our products for the years FE 7 &X5ENIEE -
indicated:
Turnover B
For the year ended 31 December
BE+=-A=1+—HILEE
2014 2013
—E-NF —F—=
HK$’000 % HK$'000 %
FET % FHETT %
Mineral Resources: BYEIR :
Limonitic ores T 52,111 16% 1,493,930 91%
Iron and Steel Products: SR -
Stainless steel products TEE R 171,913 51% 19,446 1%
Ferro-nickel alloy steel ingot RiEA S MEAM
and others 62,044 18% 42,277 3%
Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot 1286 S T 50,335 15% 79,517 5%
Total et 336,403 100% 1,635,170 100%
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Sales volume

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-—A=+—HLEE

2014 2013
—ZT—-{F —E—=F
(tonnes) % (tonnes) %
(AMWE) % (AWA) %
Mineral Resources: BYER :
Limonitic ores R 142,125 75% 3,532,417 100%
Iron and Steel Products: MER M -
Stainless steel products TEE S 24,355 13% 3,808 0%
Ferro-nickel alloy steel ingot REA S REAM
and others 15,179 8% 10,371 0%
Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot IR E S T 8,849 4% 8,281 0%
Total et 190,508 100% 3,554,877 100%

The Group’s turnover in 2014 decreased by HK$1,298.8 million, or
79.4%, to approximately HK$336.4 million (2013: HK$1,635.2
million). The decrease was primarily due to the decrease in sales of
limonitic ores after the Export Ban since January 2014.

Pursuant to the Export Ban, unprocessed iron ore export from PT.
Yiwan Mining (“Yiwan”) to our Group has been suspended from 12
January 2014 onwards. The ore trading business of the Group was
suspended and there was a significant negative impact on the
financial and operating results of the Group in 2014. It is possible that
the relevant mining regulations in Indonesia may be amended but
there is no guarantee that the Export Ban will be uplifted in near
future.

During 2014, the Group’s ore trading business, which was the key
revenue and cash flows contributor of the Group in 2013, has
decreased sharply that the Group sold 142,125 dry tonnes of ores
(2013: 3,532,417 dry tonnes) and achieved a turnover of HK$52.1
million (2013: HK$1,493.9 million).

In addition, as a result of the weak demand and intense market
competition in the PRC, the sales volume of our steel products
remained low during the year.
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The Group’s sales volume of stainless steel products and Ni-Cr alloy
steel ingot in 2014 increased by approximately 20,547 tonnes and
568 tonnes, or 539.6% and 6.9%, to approximately 24,355 tonnes
and 8,849 tonnes respectively (2013: 3,808 tonnes and 8,281
tonnes). The Group’s sales volume of limonitic ores in 2014
decreased by approximately 3.4 million dry tonnes, or 96.0% to
approximately 0.1 million dry tonnes (2013: 3.5 million dry tonnes).
During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group’s average
selling price per tonne for stainless steel products and Ni-Cr alloy
steel ingot were HK$7,059 (2013: HK$5,107) and HK$5,688 (2013:
HK$9,602) respectively while the average unit selling price per dry
tonne for limonitic ores was HK$367 (2013: HK$423).

Cost of sales

The cost of sales in 2014 decreased by HK$1,162.7 million, or
69.8%, to approximately HK$501.9 million (2013: HK$1,664.6
million). The decrease in cost of sales was mainly due to decrease in
sales.

The unit costs of sales for stainless steel products and Ni-Cr alloy
steel ingot were HK$8,470 and HK$14,183 per tonne respectively in
2014 (2013: HK$6,684 and HK$12,138 per tonne respectively). The
unit cost of limonitic ores in 2014 decreased by HK$15 per dry tonne,
or 3.7%, to HK$382 per dry tonne (2013: HK$397 per dry tonne).

The table below shows a breakdown of our costs of sales for the
year:

REBWTFMEREEFERSSMEHEEN =T
—ED R4 524,355 M8 28,849 AME( =
— =% : 3,808 A A }2 8,281 A WE) - & BIIE N4y
20,547 /A W8 12 568 /3 8 3, 539.6% £ 6.9% ° A &
ERERENEEN T —NELHA01 BB AN
ZE-=F:35ABLAM) BMLLHI4EE
B AMEEK96.0% - BE T —ME+-_A=+—
RAIEFEAR  AEBMNTHINESRHEIFIIKS
SEFHEEBS R AT A7 0598 T (ZE—=4F :
51078 L) &5,688F L (—ZF— = : 9,602/8
JT) - MBEENFHEMNEEB AT AN
TT(ZEF—=%F : 423/87T) °

SHERH A&

RIZE—F - HERERAD1,162.7 BB BT
69.8% EX501. 9B BB IL(ZT—=4F : 1,664.6
AEBIL) - HEXARD EZHREER DA -

T(ZZE—=F: D5 AT ANE6,684%E T &
12,138 7T) - R-ZE—N4F - BEBAEL KA
FEAMER A 1587050 3.7% 2 FF AN 3828 7T
(ZZ—=%F : B AME397ETT) °

TRARRBNEARZ HEKARA :

For the year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+t—HLEFE

2014 2013
—E—-mEF —E—=4F

HK$’000 % HK$’000 %

FET % F&TT %

Raw materials R4k 256,351 51% 1,333,415 80%

Fuel and Freight Y RYSE = 101,010 20% 163,230 10%

Utilities KEEB 37,685 8% 21,223 1%

Depreciation e 61,168 12% 41,865 3%

Staff costs B ITRA 24,228 5% 10,060 1%
Provision for impairment losses of 17 & (B &5 18 B &

inventories 19,481 4% 88,765 5%

Others H 1,974 0% 6,062 0%

Total @t 501,897 100% 1,664,620 100%
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Gross (loss)/profit

The unit gross loss for stainless steel products in 2014 was HK$1,411
per tonne (2013: HK$1,578 per tonne). The increase in gross loss
margin was mainly due to increase in cost of sales and weak demand
in steel market.

The unit gross loss for Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot in 2014 was HK$8,494
per tonne (2013: HK$2,536 per tonne). The unit gross loss margin of
Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot was mainly due to decrease in selling price as a
result of weak steel demand in the PRC.

The unit gross loss for limonitic ores in 2014 was HK$15 per dry
tonne (2013: unit gross profit of HK$26 per dry tonne). The unit gross
loss for limonitic ores in 2014 was primarily due to decrease in selling
price.

As a result of the above factors, the Group’s recorded the gross loss
amounted to HK$165.5 million in 2014 (2013: HK$29.5 million).

Other gains, net

Other gains in 2014 was HK$18.9 million (2013: HK$49.5 million).
The decrease was mainly due to less gain in fair value of derivative
financial instruments.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses in 2014 increased by HK$4.8
million, or 93.1%, to HK$10.0 million (2013: HK$5.2 million),
representing 3.0% of turnover (2013: 0.3%). Increase in selling and
distribution expenses was mainly due to the increase in sale of iron
and steel products.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses in 2014 decreased by HK$107.7 million, or
37.8%, to HK$177.0 million (2013: HK$284.7 million), representing
52.6% of turnover (2013: 17.4%). The decrease in administrative
expenses was mainly due to the implementation of cost control plans
as well as temporary suspension of manufacturing operation during
the year.

Finance income

Finance income increased by HK$127.4 million, or 718.0% to
HK$145.1 million (2013: HK$17.7 million). Finance income increase
was mainly due to gain on restructuring of bonds.
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Finance costs

Finance costs in 2014 increased by HK$278.4 million, or 99.1% to
HK$559.3 million (2013: HK$280.9 million). Increase was mainly due
to acceleration of unwinding interest on bonds.

Other expenses
Other expenses in 2014 decreased by HK$31.0 million, or 45.8%, to
HK$36.7 million (2013: HK$67.7 million).

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment

In 2014, the Group recorded an impairment loss on its property, plant
and equipment totalling HK$597.4 million (2013: HK$726.2 million).
Details of the background of the impairment was discussed above.

Loss before tax

As a result of the factors discussed above, the loss before tax for the
year ended 31 December 2014 was HK$1,465.4 million (2013:
HK$1,340.5 million). The Group'’s loss before tax margin was 435.6%
(2013: 82.0%). The loss before interest, tax, depreciation and
amortisation (LBITDA) margin was 97.8% (2013: 4.9%).

Income tax expense

The applicable Hong Kong profits tax rate of the Company and its
subsidiaries which operate in Hong Kong is 16.5% based on existing
legislation. The entities within the Group which operate in the PRC,
Singapore and Indonesia are subject to corporate income tax at rates
of 10% to 25% for the year ended 31 December 2014. The income
tax credit of HK$11.2 million (2013: income tax expense of HK$25.0
million) was mainly due to overprovision in prior years.
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Loss for the year and loss attributable to shareholders
As a result of the factors discussed above, the Group’s 2014 loss for
the year was HK$1,454.2 million (2013: HK$1,365.5 million) and the
2014 loss attributable to shareholders was HK$1,453.1 million (2013:
HK$1,366.4 million).

FEBERRRELER
ERUEFMFmzEER AEER-_TE—NF2
FEEBEEA1I442EEB (T —=
1,365.5B8EIL) c RZZ—HF - [REREMLE
BAE14581BEBTL(ZE—=F 11,3664 05

BIL) °
Key financial ratios FTERBHEER
For the year ended
31 December
BE+t-A=t+—-HLHFE
Notes 2014 2013
i —B-mE —T—=
Current ratio BN & 1 40% 49%
Inventory turnover days GFEREB 2 223 days H 104 days H
Debtor turnover days FEU R FEEE H £ 3 25 days H 24 days H
Creditor turnover days FETBR R H £ 4 670 days H 169 days H
Interest cover BFEF BB 5 -2.5 times 1& -4.1 times &
Interest-bearing gearing ratio FFEERARELE 6 174% 79%
Debt to LBITDA ratio BEMLBITDAL R 7 -7.3timesf%  -27.6 timesf&
Net debt/Capital and net debt ratio FAEBARFEELE 8 67% 47%
Notes: B 5E
1. Current assets/Current liabilities x 100% 1. RENVEE/ MENEE x 100%
) Inventories a65 g ) TE 65 1
. . X
Cost of sales * e SHE AR
Trade and notes receivables FEUER SR R BN R &
3. x 365 days 3. - x 365 H
Turnover =
Trade and notes payables FETER R K FE T R IR
4. x 365 days 4. - x 365 H
Cost of sales SHERAR
5 Loss before interest and tax 5 FRA B R IER &R
) Net interest expense ' F B RS FEE
Interest-bearing loans and other borrowings AEERREMES (BIEFRRES) y
includi rtible bond 6. g . x 100%
6. | (|rjcu ing convertible bonds) < 100% BN E S AJEIEERS
Equity attributable to the owners of the parent
. Interest-bearing loans and other borrowings (including convertible bonds) HFEERREMEE(BIEBEES)
' LBITDA " LBITDA
Net debt* g«
8. b x 100% 8. RIEEE x 100%
Capital and net debt AR B fEFEE
* Net debt included bank and other borrowings, convertible bonds (the liability ~— * BEFEABRTERLEMEE - ATRRES (AES

component), trade and notes payables and other payables and accruals less cash
and cash equivalents and pledged time deposits.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THEMWRES

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2014 mainly
comprised plant and machinery, buildings and construction in
progress. The decrease in balance to HK$1,178.0 million (2013:
HK$1,928.1 million) was mainly due to the depreciation charges for
the year of HK$116.5 million and impairment of property, plant and
equipment of HK$597.4 million.

Intangible asset

The intangible asset solely represents the unamortised amount of the
EOA from Yiwan secured by the Group in May 2007. The decrease in
balance to HK$2,384.5 million (2013: HK$2,387.8 million) during the
year was mainly due to amortisation for the year.

Inventories

The inventory turnover days increased from 104 days in 2013 to 223
days in 2014. As at 31 December 2014, inventories balance
decreased by HK$167.6 million, or 35.3%, to HK$307.0 million (2013:
HK$474.6 million). Decrease in inventory balance was mainly due to
the management’s effort to reduction of inventory level to improve the
Group’s working capital.

Trade and notes receivables

The debtor turnover days slightly increased from 24 days in 2013 to
25 days in 2014. As at 31 December 2014, trade and notes
receivables balance decreased by HK$85.2 million, or 78.6%, to
HK$23.2 million (2013: HK$108.4 million) mainly due to decrease in
sales.

Prepayments and other receivables

As at 31 December 2014, prepayments and other receivables
balance increased by HK$41.1 million, or 19.2%, to HK$254.6 million
(2013: HK$213.5 million).

Cash and cash equivalents and pledged time deposits
The aggregate amount of cash and cash equivalents and pledged
time deposits increased by approximately HK$105.8 million, or
11.6%, to approximately HK$1,018.8 million as at 31 December 2014
when compared to that as at 31 December 2013.
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Trade and notes payables

The creditor turnover days increased from 169 days in 2013 to 670
days in 2014. As at 31 December 2014, trade and notes payables
balance increased by HK$149.6 million, or 19.4%, to HK$921.8
million (2013: HK$772.2 million). The increase in trade and notes
payables balance was mainly due to delay in settlement of payables
by the Group in 2014. The trade payables are unsecured, interest-
free and are normally settled on terms of 60 to 180 days while the
bank bills are generally on terms of 90 to 180 days.

Convertible bonds

Increase in the convertible bonds balance from HK$129.2 million as
at 31 December 2013 to HK$143.9 million as at 31 December 2014
was mainly attributable to bond restructuring in June 2014 and the
acceleration of unwinding interests on the convertible bonds.

Bank and other borrowings

As at 31 December 2014, total bank and other borrowings balance
increased by HK$191.9 million, or 9.2%, to HK$2,273.5 million (2013:
HK$2,081.6 million). Increase in the bank and other borrowings was
mainly because new bank loans drawn from various banks.

Liquidity, going concern and capital resources

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group incurred a loss
of approximately HK$1,454.2 million and had a net operating cash
inflow of approximately HK$150.4 million. As at 31 December 2014,
the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
HK$2,358.3 million. Its total bank and other borrowings amounted to
HK$2,273.5 million will be due within 12 months. The cash and cash
equivalents of the Group amounted to HK$11.5 million as at 31
December 2014.

Following the Export Ban which has substantially affected the Group’s
cash generating ability from operations, the Group’s working capital
may further be affected and may have foreseeable financial difficulties
in the coming 12 months’ period.

However, following the Export Ban, a series of remedial measures to
mitigate the liquidity pressure were taken in 2014 to improve its
financial and liquidity position of the Group, details of which are set
out in the Board’s consideration — Mitigation measures to going
concern issue of this report. Please also refer to the details regarding
uncertainties on the going concern of the Group as stipulated in the
section headed “Going Concern” in note 2.1(a) to the consolidated
financial statements.
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The Group’s working capital has been principally sourced from cash
generated from operations and from long-term and short-term
borrowings. The Group also utilised advances received from our
customers to finance part of our working capital requirements. As at
31 December 2014, the advances from customers amounted to
HK$115.6 million.

As at 31 December 2014, the Group had current liabilities of
HK$3,962.0 million, of which HK$2,273.5 million were bank and other
borrowings repayable within one year and HK$921.8 million were
trade and notes payables in respect of purchase of raw materials.

Foreign currency risk

Since 2004, the Group has begun the purchase of iron ore from
overseas suppliers. The Group’s purchase and sales contracts of ore
trading business are principally denominated in United States dollar
(“USD”) and purchase and sales of iron and steel products are mainly
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”). As at 31 December 2014, the
bonds were denominated in Hong Kong dollar (‘HK$”) while bank and
other borrowings were mainly denominated in RMB, HK$ and USD,
and other assets and liabilities of the Group are mainly denominated
in RMB.

As at 31 December 2014, the Group did not enter into any hedging
transactions to manage the potential fluctuation in foreign currency as
the Directors considered the Group had no significant foreign
currency risk. However, the Group will closely monitor the foreign
currency risk and consider using necessary financial instruments for
hedging purposes if they foresee the foreign currency risk is
significant.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Dong Shutong, aged 63, was appointed as Director of the
Company on 16 March 2004 and is currently an Executive Director,
the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. He is responsible for formulating the
Group’s overall business plans and strategies. Mr. Dong is the
founder of the Group. He has been the Director of Yongtong Special
Steel, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and a
number of subsidiaries of the Company since 1993. He was involved
in the management and day-to-day operations on a full time basis.
He served as the vice manager and senior economics and technology
consultant of Ministry of Metallurgical Industry Metallurgy News
Information Development Company (/& & T %308 & Mt (= 555
73 ®])in 1989. Formerly, the said company was the Ministry’s
department responsible for news and major reports about the
metallurgical industry. Mr. Dong was also appointed as the director of
Synthesis Department of the World Metallurgical Products Exhibition
in 1990. The said organization was primarily involved in the activities
relating to exhibitions of metallurgical products. In 1992, he was
appointed as the general manager of Henan Sanen Industry Sci-Tech
Industrial Company ()7 F = B T2 &HE F % /A F)). The said company
was primarily involved in research and development of industrial
technologies. Between October 1984 and April 2004, the business of
refractory materials factory, a factory principally involved in production
and management of refractory materials, was contracted out to and
managed by Mr. Dong. He was both the plant manager and the sole
legal representative of the refractory materials factory from 1984 to
2004. He has also served as a part-time associate professor in the
field of economics at Wuhan University of Science and Technology
since 2002. He graduated from the Metallurgy Department of Wuhan
Iron and Steel College in 1989. He received his Trade and Economics
Degree from Graduate School of the Chinese Academy of Social
Sciences in 2000 too. During the years from 1985 to 1994, he has
been honoured many times by various PRC government authorities
for his outstanding achievement in advancement of technology. He
has also been awarded the “Award for Achievement in Development
of the World Patented Technologies” for his outstanding contribution
to the area of patented technologies. In addition, he won a gold
medal from Hong Kong Organising Committee of the International
Patent Technology Expo for his project of condenser type
bicomponent nozzle in 2001, and was named “The World’s
Qutstanding Chinese Entrepreneur” by the World Chinese
Entrepreneur Association in 2004. Moreover, he was appointed as a
member of Zhengzhou Overseas Exchange Association, and was
elected as a joint-committee member as well as the member
representative of Zhengzhou Enterprises Association in 2003. In
2004, he was appointed as a representative of the Zhengzhou’s
Twelfth National People’s Congress. Mr. Dong was awarded one of
the Hundred Outstanding People of the Year in Industrial Economics
by the People of the Year in China’s Industrial Economics Award’s
Organising Committee in April 2005. Mr. Dong also published two
books, {FTAE M 212 — FE1 &% )% 17K ) (What's behind the
New Economy — The Emergence of Spiritual Economy) in 2001 and
CRE1 B E A B 48 & A ) (Spiritual Value and the Transformation
of the Chinese Economy) in 2002.
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Mr. Dong is the father of Mr. Dong Chengzhe, an Executive Director
of the Company. He is also the sole shareholder and sole director of
Easyman Assets Management Limited (“Easyman”), and the
substantial and controlling shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Dong Chengzhe, aged 36, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 12 March 2007 and was also appointed
as Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Group. He graduated from
Wuhan University of Science and Technology with a Diploma in
International Trade. He also obtained a Bachelor Degree in
Accountancy from Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology and a
Master Degree of International Finance from Deakin University in
Australia. He joined the Group in 2007 and was responsible the
finance and international trading activities of Yongtong Special Steel,
an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. He was the
general manager of Yongtong Special Steel, and also the director and
general manager of CNR Group Holdings Pte. Ltd., an indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Prior to joining the Group,
he was an owner of an international trading company in Australia. He
is the son of Mr. Dong Shutong, Executive Director, Chairman, Chief
Executive Officer and the substantial and controlling shareholder of
the Company.

Mr. Wang Ping, aged 60, was appointed as an executive director of
the Company on 10 October 2014. Mr. Wang joined the Company as
deputy chief executive officer of the Company on 1 September 2014.
Mr. Wang graduated from the University of Science and Technology
Beijing with a doctor degree in 1991 and possessed certain
technology patents related to metallurgy of iron and steel. Mr. Wang
possesses over 23 years of experience in metallurgy of iron and steel.

Mr. Wang has held positions in various organisations, including being
associate professor and professor of Ministry of Metallurgical Industry
and commissioner of scientific research of University of Science and
Technology Beijing from 1992 to 2000. From 2000 to 2004, Mr Wang
was the general manager of Zhengzhou Yongtong Special Steel
Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. From
2004 to 2006, Mr. Wang was the general manager of Shenyang Toyo
Steel Company Limited and from 2007 to 2014, as the chief engineer
and deputy chief executive officer of the metallurgy division under
Hanking Industrial Group Co., Ltd. From 2013 to 2014, Mr. Wang
acted as the executive director and chief executive officer of PT.
Karyatama Kona Utara, PT. Konutara Prima and PT. Konutara Sejati,
companies incorporated in Indonesia and are the subsidiaries of
China Hanking Holdings Limited (stock code: 03788) whose shares
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, and was
responsible for their overall management and daily operation.

From 2009 to 2013, Mr. Wang was also an non-executive director of
Shandong Molong Petroleum Machinery Company Limited (stock
code: 002490), which shares are listed on Shenzhen Stock
Exchange.

Annual Report 2014

EEAEARRRRARNTESERH EE 2R
% I~ AEasyman Assets Management Limited
([Easyman]) HME — IR R LM —E E AR AR A
B =2 RIERRARER o

BHEAE 65 R-ETTLHF-A+_-_HE
ZEARRRNITES  WEZXALAEER B
H - BEERNHENEXRE FBHEEHK
B 53R o i INEUS R IM Royal Melbourne Institute
of Technology © B &t 2 82+ 8 s s K2R
CRBELTEMN - EAER ST FNALRES -
FEAEARNRBEZEWNBRRICEREN 28
BRERESES KR AKRBISHEZBEE -
I8 B A A F 2 & WE 2 aCNR Group
Holdings Pte. Ltd. 2 5 R ALK IR - INAKREH
Al BEA—RRMNREESRRZEEA &
BARRNITES . BHERZTERIERRK
REEBELEEZT -

IFEE 60 R-T—WF+AT+HEZRE
RARBZHITES - RR_F—HFNALA—H
MARRBREIEE - TEER—NAN—FFEXE
RIERBRAR - BEE L2 - W HEE ZHE
BRI E R ER - RREEIERITERR
23F A EREER

TEEGRZERBRIE 2R —NLILZF
ETTTFHBETILLRBEARBAE T EE(TE
BEHERERARBHERR  RZETTF
E_TTFHRBAEARR R Z TR A BN KRR
HERARIEARERE—B TA4ER 22X
FEZTERFHHASEAEGRFRMER A
Rl MR ZEEEFE2 T —UFIEL
FITEXCEERARETNASEE ZETIRAM
MRlgE TR - =FE T —FEKAEP
BIZE TR AR AR (IRH A5 : 03788) (A
REBBAERZHERAR LM REERADEK
3 2 =X T A Al PT. Karyatama Kona Utara * PT.
Konutara Prima } PT. Konutara Sejati #) 117 % =
RREH ARENEHSBEAFNEREEEREAE
BIE o

FTERETR -_ZZNFE_ZT—=FHHEEERN
RYNEHR B L2 IWREBEAMEWRRD A
PRA R (BERASE - 002490) ZIEHITESE ©

China Nickel Resources Holdings Company Limited 29



Directors, Senior Management and Audit Committee

E2H

Mr. Yin Sheping, aged 54, was appointed as an executive director
of the Company on 10 October 2014. Mr. Yin joined the Company as
deputy chief executive officer of the Company on 1 September 2014.

Mr. Yin graduated from the Central University of Finance and
Economics with a master degree and taught at the Henan Institute of
Financial Management from 1982 to 1993. Mr. Yin was the general
manager of a branch of Commercial Bank of Zhengzhou (now
renamed as Bank of Zhengzhou) from 1993 to 2002, and has held
various positions including the deputy secretary of China Banking
Association, deputy chief executive officer and financial controller of
Shenzhen Century Huixin Group Company Limited and the supervisor
of Minsheng Financial Leasing Company Limited during the years
from 2002 to 2014.

Mr. Song Wenzhou, aged 47, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 2 May 2005 and is responsible for the
Group’s administrative, marketing and staff development matters.
Prior to joining the Group in July 1995, he had been a teacher at the
Zhengzhou Institute of Technology. He graduated from Beijing Open
University in 1987 with a Bachelor Degree in Linguistics and
Phonetics. He also received his Bachelor Degree in Chinese
Language and Literature from Henan Normal University in 1992 and
Bachelor Degree in Legal Studies from Central Broadcast and
Television University in 2003. Since joining the Group in 1995 until
February 2004, Mr. Song was also responsible for the administrative
matters at the refractory materials factory.

Mr. Yang Fei, aged 38, was appointed as an Executive Director of
the Company on 30 August 2010 and was also appointed as
Authorised Representative of the Company on 1 August 2011. He
has joined the Company as the assistant to the Chairman of the
Company since 2006 and was also appointed as the Company
Secretary and Authorised Representative of the wholly owned
subsidiary, Zhengzhou Yongtong Special Steel Co., Ltd. Mr. Yang
was the manager of the Information Technology Department (October
2002 to August 2003) and the general manager of the Market
Development Department (August 2003 to August 2006) of China Life
— CMG Life Assurance Company Limited. Prior to joining China Life
— CMG Life Assurance Company Limited, Mr. Yang was the
assistant manager of the International Business Department of
Guangdong Branch, China Life Insurance Company Limited from
August 1998 to June 2001. Mr. Yang graduated with a Bachelor
Degree in Economics from Beijing University in June 1998 and a
Master of Science Degree in Economics from London School of
Economics and Political Science in June 2002.
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Non-executive Director

Mr. Yang Tianjun, aged 71, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company on 2 May 2005. He joined the Group in
2005. Mr. Yang worked in Ministry of Metallurgy Forty Company (/&
% #F U= A 7)) and then in Angang Steelwork (#% £ j6k 5 &) for a
total of 14 years as a technician and then an engineer. He was the
Principal of University of Beijing Science and Technology for the
period from 1993 to July 2004, and is currently a professor and
mentor of doctorate students of the Metallurgy Department of
University of Beijing Science and Technology. Since 1989, he was
honoured with nine first-grade, second-grade or third-grade State
Scientific and Technological Progress Awards in both national and
provincial levels for his outstanding contributions to the State by
conducting scientific researches in metallurgical projects. He was the
Chairman of Sino-German Co-operative Research Project studying
the multi-purpose uses of niobium. He was invited by the Research
Institute of Industrial Science and Technology of Korea to lead the
research in air-refined coal spray in blast furnace, and participated in
a research with the Metallurgical Research Institute in coal spray in
blast furnace and the mathematical model. He published over 70
academic papers locally or overseas and 6 books specialised in
metallurgy. He was appointed as the vice chairman of Chinese
Society of Metals in 2001 and a member of the Fifth Graduate
Committee of the State Council (BT £ % 8 €) in 20083.

Mr. Yang graduated in 1965 from the Metallurgical Department of
Beijing Iron and Steel College. He completed his postgraduate study
in 1981 and obtained a Master Degree in Metallurgy from the Beijing
Iron and Steel Institute. In 1985, he was granted scholarship from
Humboldt-University zu Berlin and conducted a joint research with
the RWTH-Aachen University in Germany, and was awarded a
Doctorate Degree in 1986.

Mr. Yang is now the independent directors of Xinyu Iron & Steel
Group Co., Ltd. (T & #f #] I 15 B PR A 1), Gansu Jiu Steel Group
Hongxing Iron & Steel Co., Ltd. (@B EE 2 EHIBERMHDERA
7)) and BGRIMM Magnetic Materials and Technology Co., Ltd. (b7
foh M R ERR 9 B R 2 A1), All of these companies are listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Bai Baohua, aged 73, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company on 2 May 2005. He is also a
member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee of the Company. He has almost 46 years’
experience in the metallurgy. He worked as an engineer, a manager
and then the general manager of China Metallurgical Products’ Import
& Export Company (B )& € # {1 0 A &), a company primarily
involved in the trading of metals. He was also appointed as the
general manager of China International Steel Investment Company (#
B BB i $5 3% & A &), a company primarily involved in promotion of
foreign investment in the steel industry in the People’s Republic of
China. In addition, he was the general manager, the vice chairman
and the legal representative of China Iron and Steel Industry and
Trade Group Corporation, a company primarily involved in production
and trade of steel. He graduated from the Metal Pressure Processing
Department at Beijing Iron and Steel College in 1965.

Mr. Huang Changhuai, aged 79, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 2 May 2005. He is the
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. He worked
for a printing and dyeing mill as production supervisor, a political
director and then deputy director. He was appointed the deputy
director of the Municipal Economic System Reform Committee of
Zhengzhou Municipal Government, and as the director of the
Municipal Industrial and Communication Development Committee at
the Third Session of the Eighth People’s Congress of Zhengzhou City
in 1985. He was then appointed at the Twelfth Session of the Eighth
People’s Congress of Zhengzhou City as the director of the city’s
Economic Committee in 1986. He was also appointed the deputy
director of the Standing Committee of the People’s Congress of
Zhengzhou City. He graduated in September 1958 from Zhengzhou
Textile School.

Mr. Wong Chi Keung, FCCA, FCPA, ACMA, ACIS, aged 60, was
appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
on 2 May 2005. He is the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
of the Company. He joined the Company in May 2005. Mr. Wong
holds a Master Degree in Business Administration from University of
Adelaide in Australia. He is a Fellow Member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and CPA Australia. He is also an Associate
Member of both the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators and the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants. Mr. Wong was an executive director, the deputy general
manager, group financial controller and company secretary of
Guangzhou Investment Company Limited (now known as Yuexiu
Property Company Limited) for over ten years. Mr. Wong has over 38
years of experience in finance, accounting and management.
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Mr. Wong is currently an independent non-executive director and a
member of the audit committee of Asia Orient Holdings Limited, Asia
Standard International Group Limited, Century City International
Holdings Limited, Fortunet E-commerce Group Limited (formerly
known as Changfeng Axle (China) Company Limited), China Ting
Group Holdings Limited, ENM Holdings Limited, Golden Eagle Retail
Group Limited, Yuan Heng Gas Holdings Limited (formerly known as
Ngai Lik Industrial Holdings Limited), Paliburg Holdings Limited, Regal
Hotels International Holdings Limited, TPV Technology Limited and
Zhuguang Holdings Group Company Limited, all of which are listed
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He was formerly an
independent non-executive director of Imperial Pacific International
Holdings Limited (formerly known as First Natural Foods Holdings
Limited) (up to 21 November 2013), FU JI Food and Catering Services
Holdings Limited (up to 24 June 2011) and PacMOS Technologies
Holdings Limited (up to 30 June 2014).

Mr. Fahmi Idris, aged 71, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company on 24 August 2010. Mr. Idris
graduated with a Degree in Law from University of Padjadjaran in
2010 and a Degree in Economics from University of Indonesia in
1969. He is currently the Commissioner of Maskapai Asuransi
Parolamas (an insurance company), PT. Parama Bina Tani (an
agrochemical company), PT. Kodel Invesindo Nusa (a trading and
investment company), PT. Krama Yudha (an automotive company)
and the President Commissioner of PT. Permadani Khatulistiwa
Nusantara (a hotel and tourism company), PT. Permadani Propertindo
Development (a property company), PT. Tamarindo Nusa Hotel, PT.
Permadani Khatulistiwa Dewata (a hotel and tourism company) and
PT. Kodel (a trade and investment company). From 1981 to 1987, he
was the President Commissioner of PT. Encontrade Pratama
Indonesia (an engineering and construction of electrical and
mechanical installation company). From 1984 to 1987, he was the
Vice President Commissioner of PT. Wahana Muda Indonesia (a
construction and engineering firm). From 1986 to 1992, he was the
Commissioner of Bank Susila Bhakti. From 1987 to 1990, he was the
President of PT. Permadani Teleconsult Pratama. From 1987 to
2004, he was the President Director of PT. Niigata Santana (a diesel
engine and injection and moulding machine manufacturing company).
From 1991 to 2003, he was the President Commissioner of PT.
Bintara Tani Nusantara (a company engages in the plantation of palm
oil and cocoa). From 1991 to 1994, he was the Commissioner of PT.
Java Indonusa Motors and from 2000 to 2003, he was the President
Commissioner of PT. Kodel Margahayu Telindo.
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Mr. Idris is currently a member of the Board of Fund Supporters of
Andalas University, Padang, West Sumatera. From 1967 to 1968, he
was Member of People’s Consultative Assembly of the Republic of
Indonesia. From 1987 to 2004, he was a member of Parliament of the
Republic of Indonesia. From 1967 to 1968, he was the Treasurer of
the Indonesian Chambers of Commerce and Industry. From 1994 to
1998, he was the Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Council
Indonesian Chamber of Commerce and Industry. Mr. Idris was the
Minister of Manpower of the Republic of Indonesia from 1998 to 1999
and from 2004 to 2005, he was also the Ministry of Industry of the
Republic of Indonesia from 2005 to 2009.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Choi Kwok Keung Sanvic, has been appointed as the financial
controller and the company secretary of the Company with effect
from 3 June 2014. Mr. Choi, aged 48, is a qualified accountant and a
fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
He has extensive experience in financial and auditing field, and has
experience in the position of the financial controller and the company
secretary in Hong Kong listed company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 2 May 2005 in compliance with
Rule 3.21 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The primary duties of the audit
committee are to review the financial reporting process and internal
control procedures of the Group. The audit committee consists of
three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Chi
Keung, Mr. Bai Baohua and Mr. Huang Changhuai. Mr. Wong Chi
Keung was elected chairman of the audit committee.

The audit committee’s specific terms of reference were posted on the
Company’s website.

34 PERERERAR AR

FEREERKAAHKMZEEODRME SN
B2 Board of Fund Supporters X & - — /Nt FEE
—NANF BAHNERAGSEMBEARGES
EHKE e —WNEFEEZE_ZTZTNF - BAHNE
EARAEEMEBREHNKNE — L AEFE
—hWANE HENEEATIEEYBHER -
—NNWAFE—NANNF  BAEAHNEEAEIRHE
GEBZESRIR  FARKEER—NAANEE
—NNANFR_ZEENFE_ZTTHFEETOE
EARGEHMEANBIE  TR_ETRAFEZ
EENFRENEE AR EME TEIIE -

REME

EEBALECR _T-MOFEA=ZREZERN
NEZHBRER ARWE < B4 485 B
BEREHMNRBELEMAGEREE - 8%
ERMBRBFTEABEELR  TEERE
BLMRAZMBEERRRWE -

EREE®
RAFIEREZAES EWRA( EMmBRR DS
3211 MER - ZETRFRA_HRABZES
RERKUBZREET BEREZESIERHESR
FAEECUEERBERAIDEITRRRF - |ix
ZECSH-RBUERTESHAK  HRIAEZ
M E ARELAERESHELE  EhEZR
EEEERAEZZESEF -

B G ARRESETIEN AR RFEER -

—E-mEEERS



Report of the Directors

EFEHREE

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2014.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and
trading of ore. The Group is principally engaged in the trading of ore
and the manufacture and sale of special steel products in the PRC.
Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note
17 to the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s revenue and loss for the year ended 31 December 2014
were primarily derived from the sale of ore and manufacture and sale
of special steel products to customers. Accordingly, no segmental
analysis by business is presented for the year ended 31 December
2014. Geographical information analysis is set out in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2014 are
set out in the consolidated income statement on page 69.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2014 (2013: Nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years is
disclosed on pages 4 to 5 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Company and of the Group during the year are set out in Note 14 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTIONS AND
CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital, share options
and convertible bonds during the year are set out in Notes 30, 32 and
25 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the
year ended 31 December 2014.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements and consolidated statement of changes in equity
set out on pages 76 to 77, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2014, the Company’s reserves, including the
share premium account, available for distribution, calculated in
accordance with the provisions of Companies Law (2007 Revision) of
the Cayman Islands, amounted to HK$1,081,587,000.

Under the laws of the Cayman Islands, the share premium account
and contributed surplus are distributable to the shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a
position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary
course of business. The share premium account may also be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

The reserves of the Group available for distribution depend on the
dividend distributable by the Company’s subsidiaries. For dividend
purpose, the amount which the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC
can legally be distributed by way of a dividend is determined by
reference to their profits as reflected in the PRC statutory financial
statements which are prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the PRC. These profits differ from
those that are reflected in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.

36 PERERERAR AR

REZDBERE
ARRRBE-T—WF+-A=+—BLFE
2ERBFRARZABHBE -

BE BEHEEXRQR 2z LTRSS

AR RAETAMBARRFEAMEREE B
FHERRBMERLETES -

1

ARBRAEERAFEE 2 FHEBEFEDHIH
DIRGEA T BRERMAI RET6ETTEZLEA
EREEHE o

At o kS

RZE—WF+_A=+—8 AQRRERS
BHERAE(ZEEEFBE R IEETE 2 #
DikfEE(BERGRER) £1,081,587,0008 7T °

RIEFEREZEN  BROEERLREHRBHAH
DIERTFARRBBIR - AT EREEE D IRER
EH ARERARESEHEETEEDNRE
18 o R E BRI Al ABUR AR T DK ©

AEEAHDIKFEHAR T ARRAKE AR 2
O IRBEME - BB M S - NA BB
ARAAREABED KR Z &8 HESEERIE
FEARGRAGRER 2 EVAE M B MAFH
g M METE © %5 MBS ERER B RS
WMELUNRBIRAMBWERABEFE AT
G

—E-mEEERS



Report of the Directors
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
and to the largest customer accounted for 63% and 46% of the total
sales for the year respectively. Purchases from the Group’s five
largest suppliers and from the largest supplier accounted for 80%
and 36% of the total purchases for the year respectively.

Apart from the information as disclosed in the paragraphs headed
“CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS” and “DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS” in the Report of the Directors, none of the Directors or
any of their associates or any shareholders of the Company (which, to
the best knowledge of the Directors, owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in any of
the Group’s five largest suppliers or customers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and as at the date of the report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Dong Shutong (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Wang Ping (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 10 October 2014)

Mr. Yin Sheping (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 10 October 2014)

Mr. Chiang Shyh-yi (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned on 1 June 2014)

Mr. Dong Chengzhe (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Song Wenzhou

Mr. Yang Fei

Non-executive Director
Mr. Yang Tianjun

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Bai Baohua

Mr. Huang Changhuai

Mr. Wong Chi Keung

Mr. Fahmi Idris

Pursuant to article 87 of the Company’s article of association,
Mr. Bai Bao Hua, Mr. Huang Changhuai, Mr. Fahmi Idris and Mr.
Yang Tian Jun will retire as Directors by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company. All retiring Directors, being
eligible for re-election, will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. The Company has received
annual confirmation of independence from Mr. Bai Baohua, Mr.
Huang Changhuai, Mr. Wong Chi Keung and Mr. Fahmi Idris and
considers them to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and Senior Management are set
out on pages 28 to 34 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has entered into a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration of the Directors is determined by the Board with
reference to the Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance
and the results of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

On 5 March 2007, SEAM, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the EOA with Yiwan, a limited company
incorporated in Indonesia, which is substantially owned by Mr. Soen
Bin Kuan, who at 31 December 2014 and the date of this report
holds more than 5% of the issued share capital of the Company.
Pursuant to the EOA, Yiwan agreed to exclusively sell and SEAM
agreed to buy the iron ores produced by Yiwan at a fixed price of
US$16 per dry tonne, for a minimum 40 million dry tonnes of iron ores
throughout a period of approximately 14 years expiring on 24 January
2021, which has subsequently been extended by a supplemental
agreement to 24 January 2036. Pursuant to the recommendation
letter issued by the Minister of Mineral and Coal on 25 June 2012 to
the Minister of Commerce which granted the export approval to
Yiwan, the export price of iron ore was changed to US$23.5
commencing from 1 July 2012. By virtue of the convertible bonds
issued by Yiwan to S.E.A. Mining Limited and S.E.A. Mining
Resources Limited which are indirectly substantially owned by Mr.
Dong Shutong, Executive Director and Chairman of the Board, Mr.
Dong has an indirect interest in the EOA. Further details of the
transaction undertaken in connection therewith are included in Note
16 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed above and in the paragraph headed “CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS” as set out on pages 44 to 45 of this annual report,
no Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2014, the interests and short positions of the
Directors in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Future Ordinance (“SFO”)) which (a) were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein; or (c) were required, pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”), to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

(i) Long positions in the shares of the Company as at
31 December 2014:

EERNRG  HEROREEZE 2B
TP

)5 879-!

RZF-—NF+_A=1+—8 BEFERARFLR
HigwsE (ERRESRAEGRN((EB5RNE
Bl 1) EXVER) 2 Befn - HERERR D R EREES -
BB E@QREREZMERIIEXVEETRF8D
BRAME AN R R P2 s MR R (BIERE
EHF LB R 2B BIRXRFRE FLARIERE
BZRBHEFORR)  RO)RIEEF KBS
362 15 #TE B I A RK 160 Pt 2 0 il 2 1 S0k
B (O RIE EMARRIMEA0ME 2 EHETA
EEETEFRFHNFEETH ([RETR])AM
GARRA R s SRR

) R-B-mE+=A=+-BRELT
B2 R

Approximate
percentage to
the issued

Capacity in which interest Number of share capital
Name of Directors are held shares of the Company
LR NG
EERITREAZ
EEpR BHEERZSH kil =4 BABEDH
Dong Shutong Held by controlled corporations (note) 1,505,930,705 56.22%
=& B EEAERA (K
Dong Chengzhe Beneficial owner 1,500,000 0.06%
ESRT EmlEAA
Note:  As at the Latest Practicable Date, 1,481,074,705 Shares and Mt B & & 7] 177 B H - Easyman & Sino Regent

24,856,000 Shares were held by Easyman and Sino Regent Worldwide
Limited (“Sino Regent”), respectively. As the entire issued share capital
of each of Easyman and Sino Regent is held by Mr. Dong, Mr. Dong is
deemed to be beneficially interested in such Shares by virtue of the SFO.
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(i) Long positions in the underlying shares of the i) R=F—HmFEF+-A=+—HRZEQF
Company as at 31 December 2014: EERMDZEFR
Approximate
percentage to
Number of the issued
Capacity in which interest share options share capital
Name of Directors are held (note) of the Company
ER N
EBRITREZ
EHEgE REREZSH BREHE (M) BMAOBDL
Dong Shutong Beneficial owner 5,000,000 0.19%
=&MW EmlEa A
Held by spouse 1,700,000 0.06%
HECERFAE
Dong Chengzhe Beneficial owner 2,775,000 0.10%
ES R EmEEA
Song Wenzhou Beneficial owner 2,520,000 0.09%
RN E=AA
Yang Fei Beneficial owner 2,775,000 0.10%
B BB A
Note:  The share options are unlisted equity-settled options granted pursuant sk : ZEEREARBEARNTN-_ETAFAA=H

Rz B EIR R 2k LTSN 2B
Bt - RIRZ B BITT R IBRER - T RTT
EAREN M RER A ABITRD

to the Company’s share option scheme adopted on 2 May 2005. Upon
exercise of the share options in accordance with such share option
scheme. Shares are issuable to the option holder(s) who exercise(s) the
rights.
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EFEHREE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2014, shareholders (other than the interest
disclosed above in respect of the Director who is also a substantial
shareholder of the Company) who had interests and short positions in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company which have been
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as
follows:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company as at 31 December 2014:

FERRRAQARGREBRD S 2
EaRkAR

R-F-—OF+-A=1t—8 BR(PERELX
BRERBAARBEIERR CESMMP D) NN
NERBD MR BEREBEES RHIERK
BIEXVEBE2 M FEIDHZ REC AR AIHEE -
HR BN AR AIREE 75 R HE 15015 336 167
ERAFEZERMAZEEARINT

R-ZZB-OFE+ZA=+—-BREQARG
REBROZEFR

Approximate
percentage to

Number of Shares/ the issued
Capacity in which underlying share capital
Name of Shareholders interest are held shares of the Company
R N
13, ERTREAZ
REREA BERZZSH HEROGHAR BB
Easyman Beneficial owner 1,481,074,705 55.29%
EmaA A
Soen Bin Kuan Beneficial owner 182,734,104 6.82%
TRE EmEa A
Sun Qiaodian (note 1) Beneficial owner 1,700,000 (note 2) 0.06%
BRI (f5E1) Ema A (MF3E2)
Held by spouse 1,510,930,705 56.41%
BAECEBIEAE
Notes: B
1. Ms. Sun Qiaodian is the spouse of Mr. Dong Shutong, whose interest was 1. BOBLTHEEREECRSE  EXENRERNAT—
disclosed in previous section. B4R R o
2. The share option are unlisted equity-settled options granted pursuant to the 2. ZEEREABRBARINR-_SZRAFRA-BERAZ

Company’s share option scheme adopted on 2 May 2005. Upon exercise of the
share options in accordance with such share option scheme. Shares are issuable
to the option holder(s) who exercise(s) the rights.
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Save as disclosed above, so far as was known to the Directors, there
was no other person who, as at 31 December 2014, had an interest
or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or, who was, directly or indirectly,
beneficially interested in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the
Company; or were, directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or more of
the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote
in all circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Group.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 2 May 2005, the
Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) for the purpose of enabling the Company to recruit and
retain high-calibre employees and attract resources that are valuable
to the Group and to provide the Company with a means of giving
incentive to, rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or providing
benefits to such persons who contribute or may bring benefit to the
Group. The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years from adoption of such scheme and will expire on 2 May
2015.
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The options granted under the Share Option Scheme have an
exercise period of 10 years from the date of acceptance of the
options, which is in compliance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme, subject to a vesting schedule of 5 years whereby only 20%
of the options is exercisable 12 months after the date of acceptance
of the options and an additional 20% of the options shall be
exercisable by the grantee in each subsequent year until the last day
of the 5-year period after the date of acceptance of the options when
100% of the options become exercisable. Details of movements in
the Company’s share options during the year are as follows:

RIFEEER 8 2165 RIEBEESTEIR 2
BRREZITERHZERBERES B AT F
WX AFRBERERMAR - BEI - £20% 2K
R RN EE B 12 ARITRE - MARA
ANSREZ —FITRBEN0%EEE BEEH
PERMERAFH KRR —BIATES
FRREARIE - FARAIBIRE Z ZBFFIFMT

No. of share options

EREZA
Price of
Outstanding Outstanding Company’s
as at Granted Exercised Lapsed asat Exercise shares at
1 January during the during the during the 31 December priceof  exercise date
2014 period period period 2014 share options of options
(note 1) (note 2)
R=Z-mE R=2-m% FARARG
-A-8H +-B=1+-H BREZ RERE
RATHE REREH RERTHE REREX EARITE B TEANKRE
(H&E1) (H&2)
HK$ HK$
Directors S
Mr. Dong Shutong EERLE 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000 1.07 NATER
Ms. Ng See Wai Rowena* RBELL 8,000,000 - - (8,000,000) - 063 NATER
Mr. Dong Chengzhe iRy 1,275,000 - - - 1,275,000 1.91 NAZER
1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 0.63 NARER
Mr. Song Wenzhou RMEE 1,020,000 - - - 1,020,000 1.07 NATER
1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 0.63 NATER
Mr. Yang Fei BRLE 1,275,000 - - - 1,275,000 1.91 NARER
1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 0.63 NARER
Sub-total for number of BYES BRE
share options to Directors el 21,070,000 - - (8,000,000) 13,070,000 - -
Other employees HtbfES 11,900,000 - - - 11,900,000 1.07 NATEA
8,205,000 - - (660000, 7,545,000 245 NATER
32,100,000 - - B8O0000 26,300,000 083 NATER
Sub-total for number of share RTHEMEEZ
options to other employees BIRERE it 52,205,000 - - (6,460,000 45,745,000
Total a3t 73,215,000 - - (14460000 58815000
* Resigned on 1 January 2014 * RZZT—MF—A—HET
Notes: BiE
1. The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of 1. AR 2 TEE ] AR A R BEITHAR AR Z

rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.
2. The price of the shares of the Company as at the date of exercise of the share

options is the Stock Exchange’s closing price on the trading date immediately
prior to the date on which the share options were exercised.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the Share Option Scheme as set out in Note 32
to the consolidated financial statements, at no time during the year
ended 31 December 2014 was the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to the extraordinary general meetings of the Company held
on 28 January 2010 and 22 June 2012, the Company’s independent
shareholders approved the continuing connected transactions in
relation to the exclusive ores purchase from Yiwan. According to the
EOA and supplemental agreements entered into between Yiwan and
SEAM in connection with the purchasing of ore, Yiwan agreed to
supply ore to the Group until 24 January 2036. According to the EOA
and supplemental agreements, the prices for these continuing
connected transactions would be US$16 per dry tonne and
subsequently adjusted to the new export price (“New Export Price”)
pursuant to the recommendation letter issued by the Minister of
Mineral and Coal on 25 June 2012 to the Minister of Commerce of
Indonesia. Pursuant to the terms of the EOA, SEAM and Yiwan may
agree to alter the purchase price if being directed by the relevant
governmental authorities. Since the New Export Price is a price
directed by the relevant governmental authorities of Indonesia, SEAM
and Yiwan have agreed to adopt the New Export Price as the ore
purchase price commencing from 1 July 2012 under the EOA. These
transactions will be entered into in usual and ordinary course of
business of the Group and the annual cap for these transactions for
the years ended 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 will not exceed
HK$998.4 million, HK$1,248 million and HK$1,248 million,
respectively. During the year, the Group purchased US$2.2 million
(approximately HK$16.8 million) (2013: US$76.1 million
(approximately HK$590.1 million)) ore from Yiwan. The Company’s
auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to
Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued
an unqualified letter containing the findings and conclusions in respect
of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group
above in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. The
Company has complied with the requirements set out in Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.
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Save as disclosed above, no contracts of significance to which the
Company, its subsidiaries, holding companies or associated
companies was a party subsisted at any time during the year or at the
end of the year.

The Independent Non-executive Directors have reviewed the
continuing connected transactions in 2014 and confirmed that the
transactions have been entered into:

(1) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(2)  either on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient
comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal
commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the Group
than terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent
third parties;

(8) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Group as a whole; and

(4)  have not exceeded the relevant maximum amount capped in
accordance to the waiver previously granted by the Stock
Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors had any interest in a business
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the businesses of the Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Details of the significant events after the reporting period of the Group
are set out in Note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 2 May 2005 in compliance with
Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the audit
committee are to review the financial reporting process and internal
control procedures of the Group.

The audit committee consists of Mr. Wong Chi Keung, Mr. Bai
Baohua and Mr. Huang Changhuai — Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Company and Mr. Wong Chi Keung is the Chairman
of the audit committee.
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The audit committee has reviewed with management the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed
auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters including the
review of the financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2014.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 10 April 2006 in compliance
with the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 of
the Listing rules (“CG Code”).

The remuneration committee consists of Mr. Wong Chi Keung, Mr.
Bai Baohua, Mr. Huang Changhuai — Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Company and Mr. Dong Shutong — Executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Huang Changhuai is the chairman of
the remuneration committee.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a nomination committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 30 December 2011 in
compliance with the CG Code.

The nomination committee consists of Mr. Wong Chi Keung, Mr. Bai
Baohua, Mr. Huang Changhuai — Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Company and Mr. Dong Shutong — Executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Dong Shutong is the chairman of the
nomination committee.

EMPLOYEES REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2014, the Group had approximately 1,000
employees, of whom 30 were management personnel. The
remuneration policy of the Group to reward its employees and
Executive Directors is based on their performance, qualifications,
competence displayed, market comparable and the performance of
the Group. Remuneration packages typically comprise salary, housing
allowances, discretionary bonus, other fringe benefits and the
Group’s contribution to retirement benefits schemes. The
remuneration of Executive Directors/senior management are
determined by the Remuneration Committee which will review them
regularly. The Company has adopted a share option scheme to
provide incentive to the relevant participants, including the Directors
and eligible employees.
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AUDITOR

Ernst & Young has retired and PricewaterhouseCoopers was
appointed as the independent auditor of the Company with
effect from the conclusion of the 2013 annual general meeting
of the Company held on 19 June 2013.

The financial statements have been audited by

PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Dong Shutong
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

31 August 2015
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The Company recognises the value and importance of achieving high
corporate governance standards to enhance corporate performance,
transparency and accountability, earning the confidence of
shareholders and the public. The Board strives to adhere to the
principles of corporate governance and adopt sound corporate
governance practices to meet the legal and commercial standards by
focusing on areas such as internal control, fair disclosure and
accountability to all shareholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company has applied the principles and complied with the code
provisions of the CG Code throughout the year ended 31 December
2014 except for code provisions A.1.1, A.2.1 and A.4.1, details of
which are disclosed below. Save for deviation from code provisions
A.1.1, A.2.1 and A.4.1, in the opinion of the Board, the Company has
been in compliance with the CG Code in all material respects.

(A) THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The overall management of the Company’s operation is vested
in the Board. The Board takes responsibility to oversee all major
matters of the Company, including the formulation and approval
of all policy matters, overall strategies, internal control and risk
management systems, and monitoring of the performance of
the senior management. The Directors make decisions
objectively in the interests of the Company. Currently, the Board
comprises 11 Directors, including 6 Executive Directors, 1 Non-
executive Director and 4 Independent Non-executive Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Dong Shutong (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Wang Ping (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Yin ShePing (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Chiang Shyh-yi (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)
(Resigned on 1 June 2014)

Mr. Dong Chengzhe (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Song Wenzhou

Mr. Yang Fei

Non-executive Director
Mr. Yang Tianjun

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Bai Baohua

Mr. Huang Changhuai

Mr. Wong Chi Keung

Mr. Fahmi Idris

48 PERERERAR AR

RARRRAERE/KELEE R CBEREZ T -
ﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁhﬂ'ﬂ:%%fﬁ CBEAELREBERRENE
BRERRABNEL EFFRNETLEER
ZIRAWIRMEBIEZ BEER "‘%‘"%ﬁU\ﬁéﬁ@&
EERE EEIMBERERNIEE - AT
BREEERREE -

B ERTA

HE ME+—-—F=+—H I BEAE£E K&
RNAE— EEH&%% ARl Z RAIY BT ES
JASFRIZ SFRIMES - MEFAMEXEATL - A21 K
ALTIEBR AN BT - BRIREET B IE XS
A1 A21RALIIEZIN BEEERE AR
RESEATE—EETOEE AT -

(A) EExE

EEE A HEEARTCLERMERY
o B EREBEERARAFEEIESEE -
BIEIT RIDEFT AR EE - BEKRS -
NPEERERTERS  UREBSRE
BENXE EERARANFIRELEE
MR -BEQHBAS T —LEE <%
BPTES  —RAFNITEE MEABE
S IEHITES -

HITES

EEBAE (TEFREAEH)
FFRA(FlIER)
FHFEL (FAEE)
BrELE (B4R

(R—ZT—WFRA—HEE)

BaR Tk (BAREL)
RIS

BRTEE

FHTES
BRBPFELE

BYFHTES
ARELRLE
EEMERE
|ZBE
EARTEE

—E-mEEERS



Corporate Governance Report
TRERESE

Their biographical details and relationships (some of the
Directors are related to each other) are set out in the section
entitled “Directors, Senior Management and Audit Committee”
in the annual report.

The Board delegates the authority and responsibility for
implementing day-to-day operations, business strategies and
management of the Group’s businesses to the Executive
Directors, senior management and certain specific
responsibilities to the Board committees.

Composition and Appointment

As at 31 December 2014, the Board comprises eleven
Directors, including six Executive Directors, one Non-executive
Director and four Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1) and (2) of the
Listing Rules of having three Independent Non-executive
Directors and one of the Independent Non-executive Directors
possesses the requisite appropriate professional qualifications.
The Board confirmed that the independence and eligibility of the
Independent Non-executive Directors are in compliance with
the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules.

Save that Mr. Dong Shutong and Mr. Dong Chengzhe are
father and son, the Directors confirmed that there was no
connection amongst the Directors that should be disclosed
relating to finance, business, relation or other significant events
or relevant matters.

The Board has effectively overseen and monitored the activities
of the Company and the decisions were made in the best
interests of the Company. During the year, the Board convened
a total of nine meetings, performing its duties in considering,
inter alia, discloseable transactions and financial and other
matters under the provisions of the articles of association of the
Company. If a Director has a conflict of interest in relation to a
transaction or proposal to be considered by the Board, the
individual is required to declare such interest and to abstain
from voting. The matter is considered at a Board meeting
attended by Directors who have no material interest in the
transaction.
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During the year, nine Board meetings, two of which were
regular meetings, were held and the attendance of each

Corporate Governance Report
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Director is set out as follows:

Times of attendance/
No. of meetings held during

FR-EFSARNREE  HPMAKH
g BEFLFEERZBRHEIIMT :

Name of Directors the tenure of directorship Title

HERY EHRESHH
HEgE BRRE B
Dong Shutong 9/9 Chairman, Executive Director, Chief Executive
=&MW Officer

T RTEE B8

Wang Ping* 0/9 Executive Director, Deputy Chief Executive Officer
EFF WITEE - B4R
Yin Sheping* 0/9 Executive Director, Deputy Chief Executive Officer
FitF WITEF - BElRH
Chiang Shyh-yi# 0/9 Executive Director, Deputy Chief Executive Officer
Bt+E* WMITES - BlER
Dong Chengzhe 4/9 Executive Director, Deputy Chief Executive Officer
B WMITES - BlEH
Song Wenzhou 3/9 Executive Director
R WITES
Yang Fei 9/9 Executive Director
BR WITES
Yang Tianjun 3/9 Non-executive Director
HBAR FRNITES
Bai Baohua 3/9 Independent Non-executive Director
A&RE BUFEHITES
Huang Changhuai 3/9 Independent Non-executive Director
mEH BIERITES
Wong Chi Keung 3/9 Independent Non-executive Director
B2 BUIERNITES
Fahmi Idris 0/9 Independent Non-executive Director
EK BN ITES

Appointed on 10 October 2014

# Resigned on 1 June 2014
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Only two regular Board meetings were held as the Company
does not announce its quarterly results and hence not consider
the holding of quarterly meetings as necessary. This constitutes
a deviation from Code Provision A.1.1.

Under Code Provision A.4.1, Non-executive Directors should be
appointed for a specific term. Except for Mr. Fahmi Idris,
Independent Non-executive Director, who were appointed for a
term of three years, Mr. Yang Tianjun, Non-executive Director,
and the remaining Independent Non-executive Directors
including Mr. Bai Baohua, Mr. Huang Changhuai and Mr. Wong
Chi Keung were not appointed for a specific term. This
constitutes a deviation from Code Provision A.4.1. However,
according to the articles of association of the Company, one-
third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by
rotation at each annual general meeting and the Directors to
retire by rotation shall be those who have been longest in office
since their last re-election or appointment. As such, the
Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken
to ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practice in
this respect is in line with that provided in the Code.

Chairman and Chief Executive

The Executive Director, Mr. Dong Shutong, served as the
chairman and chief executive of the Company. The chairman is
responsible for overseeing the Company’s operations in respect
of compliance with both internal rules and statutory
requirements, and promoting the corporate governance of the
Company. The Company did not appoint another individual to
act as the chief executive for the year ended 31 December
2014 and up to the date of this report. This constitutes a
deviation from code provision A.2.1. The Board believes that it
is in the best interests of the Company and the shareholders as
a whole since Mr. Dong Shutong is knowledgeable in the
business of the Group and possesses the essential leadership
skills to guide discussions of the Board.

Important decision-making and the day-to-day management of
the Company are carried out by all of the Executive Directors.
Although the roles of the chairman and the chief executive of
the Company are not segregated, the functions of the chief
executive were carried out by all of the Executive Directors
collectively.

The Board considered that the Group’s prevailing structures
and systems met the code provisions in the CG Code. The
current practices will be reviewed and updated regularly to
follow the latest practices in corporate governance.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Independent Non-executive Directors play a significant role in
the Board by virtue of their independent judgment and their
views carry significant weight in the Board’s decision. In
particular, they bring an impartial view to bear on issues of the
Company’s strategy, performance and control. All Independent
Non-executive Directors possess extensive academic,
professional and industry expertise and management
experience and have provided their professional advices to the
Board. The Board also considers that Independent Non-
executive Directors can provide independent advice on the
Company’s business strategy, results and management so that
all interests of shareholders can be taken into account, and the
interests of the Company and its shareholders can be
protected.

The Company has received annual confirmations of
independence from each of the existing Independent Non-
executive Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers that all the Independent Non-
executive Directors are independent in accordance with the
Listing Rules.

Training and Support for Directors

Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities.
Each newly appointed Director would receive an induction
package covering the Group’s businesses and the statutory
and regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company. The
Group also provides briefings and other training to develop and
refresh the Directors’ knowledge and skills. The Group
continuously updates Directors on the latest developments
regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance their
awareness of good corporate governance practices. Circulars
or guidance notes are issued to Directors and senior
management where appropriate, to ensure awareness of best
corporate governance practices.

During the period from 1 January 2014 to 31 December 2014,
the Directors have attended seminars and/or conferences and/
or forums relating to directors’ duties and/ or read newspapers,
journals and updates relating to the economy, general business
or directors’ duties etc.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of potential legal actions against its Directors and
officers.
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Model Code

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code for
securities transactions by Directors. Having made specific
enquiries, the Company has confirmed that all Directors have
compiled with the requirements set out in the Model Code.

Board Committees

The Board has established audit committee, remuneration
committee and nomination committee (collectively “Board
committees”) with defined terms of reference. The terms of
reference of the Board Committees are posted on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Board
Committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances,
at the Company’s expenses.

Audit Committee

The audit committee comprises three Independent Non-
executive Directors, and Mr. Wong Chi Keung serves as the
chairman of the audit committee. During the year, the audit
committee held two meetings on 7 October 2014 and all
committee members attended the meetings.

During the year, the audit committee had performed the
following work:

(1)  reviewed the financial reports for the year ended 31
December 2013 and for the six months ended 30 June
2014,

(2)  reviewed the effectiveness of internal control system;

(3) reviewed the external auditor’s statutory audit plan and
engagement letter;

(4)  reviewed the management letter from the external auditor
in relation to the audit of the Group for the year ended 31

December 2013;

(5) reviewed and recommended for approval by the Board
the 2014 audit scope and fees; and

(6) discussed the reappointment of external auditor.
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Responsibilities of the audit committee include:

(1) reviewing the financial reporting process, internal control
system and the completeness of financial reports of the
Company;

(2) to be in charge of the appointment of external auditor,
auditing expenses and any matters regarding the
resignation or dismissal of the external auditor;

(8) to review the independence of the external auditor;

(4)  to discuss with the external auditor on the nature and
scope of audit prior to the commencement of the auditing
procedures;

(5) to review the interim and annual financial statements. The
audit committee has reviewed the auditing performance,
the internal controls and the audited financial statements
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2014;
and

(6) to discuss the reappointment of external auditor.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company was established
on 10 April 2006 and comprises one Executive Director and
three Independent Non-executive Directors. The members of
the remuneration committee are: Mr. Dong Shutong, Mr. Bai
Baohua, Mr. Huang Changhuai and Mr. Wong Chi Keung. Mr.
Huang Changhuai serves as the chairman of the remuneration
committee. During the year, the remuneration committee held
one meeting on 7 October 2014 and all committee members
attended the meeting to review the performance and incentives
of Executive Directors and terms of employment of the
management staff within the Group in 2014.

Responsibilities of the remuneration committee include:

(1) to make recommendation to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing policy on such
remuneration;
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(2) to have the delegated responsibility to determine the
specific remuneration packages of all Executive Directors
and senior management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including
any compensation payable for loss or termination of their
office or appointment, and make recommendations to the
Board of the remuneration of Non-executive Directors.
The remuneration committee should consider factors
such as salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the Directors,
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and
desirability of performance-based remuneration;

(8)  to review and approve performance-based remuneration
by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved
by the Board from time to time;

(4) to review and approve the compensation payable to
Executive Directors and senior management in connection
with any loss or termination of their office or appointment;

(6) to review and approve compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for
misconduct; and

(6) to ensure that no Director is involved in deciding his own
remuneration.

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee was established on 30 December
2011 and is chaired by Mr. Dong Shutong, an Executive
Director. Other members of the Committee are Mr. Bai Baohua,
Mr. Huang Changhuai and Mr. Wong Chi Keung, who are
Independent Non-executive Directors.

The nomination committee is responsible for formulating policy
and making recommendations to the Board on nominations,
appointment of Directors and Board succession. The committee
develops selection procedures for candidates, and will consider
different criteria including appropriate professional knowledge
and industry experience, as well as consult external recruitment
professionals when required. The committee also reviews the
size, structure and composition of the Board and assesses the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors.

During the year, the remuneration committee held one meeting
on 7 October 2014 and all committee members attended the
meeting to review the structure and composition of the Board
and independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors.
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Company Secretary

Mr. Choi Kwok Keung Sanvic, the Company Secretary of the
Company, is a full time employee of the Group and has day-to-
day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. During financial year,
the Company Secretary has duly complied with the relevant
professional training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules. Mr. Choi was appointed as Company Secretary on 3
June 2014.

The biographical details of Mr. Choi is set out on in the section
entitles “Directors, Senior Management and Audit Committee”
in the annual report.

FINANCIAL REPORTING AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

Internal Control

The Board is responsible for the Company’s system of internal
controls and its effectiveness. Such a system is designed to
manage the Company’s risks within an acceptable risk profile,
rather than to eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the policies
and business objectives of the Company. Accordingly, it can
only provide reasonable assurance but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement of management and financial
information and records or against financial losses or fraud. The
Board has established an on-going process for identifying,
evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the
Company and this process includes updating the system of
internal controls when there are changes to business
environment. During the year, the Board has conducted a
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control of
the Company and its principal subsidiaries with no material
issues noted. The Board is of the view that the system of
internal controls in place for the year under review and up to the
date of issuance of this annual report and the consolidated
financial statements is sufficient to safeguard the interests of
shareholders, creditors and employees, and the Company’s
assets. The management assists the Board in the
implementation of the Board’s policies and procedures on risk
and control by identifying and assessing the risks faced, and
involving in the design, operation and monitoring of suitable
internal controls to mitigate and control these risks.

The Board and the Audit Committee considered that the key
areas of the Group’s internal control systems are reasonably
implemented and the Group has substantially complied with the
code provisions of the Former Code and the New Code (where
applicable) regarding internal control systems.

PERERERAR AR

(B)

REAWE
EFREER/ARANATNE - BRAKE
NERES  THARANBEEER - NB
BEER REWECZRET ETRAUE
B2 THEAZEXREIIZHE - HEREER
“E-NFERAZREZERRAIWE -

BAELBEABENAFERS [EF
aREEENRERLZES] -

PR E R ARREEE

MR EE IR
EEgREARRNREERA L EKK
AR BT E ERAR R Z BB SR
BEXzRBRBEA - MIPEREIERAR
AR R EH B R 2ER - Bt - REILLE
B E RS E R R A8k 2 BAHE AR BR a5 B
BIRAIHEF L - ZRREEREAIERE
MIFRHIRE - EFGCHUBEERF - U
Wl AR EEANREE 2 ERRR
HEFBERREBRRNER - EAEE
BEG-FRN EFTECHARALETE
B A B A ERES IR Rt 2 B RUETTHR RS - I
BERREMNEAHE BEFFRANEESF
ERBEAFERE MMFAMBHRERTIEA
Hiz MEREE R R R ARAEIRR  BRAR
BT zM&E  UWRARRZEE - BEEEW
BEE SR A FTEERA R - AT
ExgnEAREFBREERF Y2ER
it BERESEE ZNRREEEE - LR
DRI ZERL o

EXekELZEER/AKECAELH
TTHANEZERGc T EHE - B2 RZE
SR ST RN sT B (EE ) BRI &
2 ST RIS

—E-mEEERS



Corporate Governance Report
TRERESE

Directors’ and Auditor’s Responsibilities For the
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements which give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group. In
preparing the consolidated financial statements which give a
true and fair view, it is fundamental that appropriate accounting
policies are selected and applied consistently. The statement of
the external auditor about the reporting responsibilities on the
consolidated financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 64 to 68 of this annual report.

(i) Going Concern and Mitigation Measures

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group
incurred a loss of approximately HK$1,454.2 million and
had a net operating cash outflow of approximately
HK$150.4 million due to the market downturn and
significant change in operating and regulatory
environment of the Group’s subsidiaries. As at 31
December 2014, the Company and the Group had net
current liabilities of HK$1,167.2 million and HK$2,358.3
million, respectively. The Group’s total borrowings
amounted to HK$3,214.9 million, will be due within 12
months as at 31 December 2014. The Group’s
borrowings comprised of bank and other borrowings,
convertible bonds and notes payables of HK$2,273.5
million (2013: HK$2,081.6 million), HK$143.9 million
(2013: HK$129.2 million) and HK$797.5 million (2013:
HK$587.6 million), respectively as at 31 December 2014.
Cash and cash equivalents reduced to HK$11.5 million as
at 31 December 2014 from HK$54.1 million as at 31
December 2013. In addition, the Company and certain of
its subsidiaries are parties to various litigations as detailed
in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

These conditions together with others described in Note
2.1(a) to the consolidated financial statements, have
indicated the existence of material uncertainties which
might cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and therefore it might not be
able to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business.
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The Board had given careful consideration to the future
liquidity and performance of the Group and its available
sources of financing in assessing whether the Group
would have sufficient financial resources to continue as a
going concern. Certain measures had been taken to
mitigate the liquidity pressure and to improve its financial
position which include, but not limited to, the following:

(1)

the Group has been actively negotiating a
syndicated loan with a syndicate of banks in the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) to (i) replace
certain bank borrowings and notes payable of the
Group with revised terms including the extension of
loan period to more than 1 year; and (i) provide
additional loan facilities to the Group as working
capital;

the Company has been actively negotiating with a
bank in Hong Kong for the borrowings that had
become due as at 31 December 2014 as a result of
cross-default and subsequently overdue after the
year end. Such borrowings are fully secured by
bank deposits of the Group;

to finalise the proposed disposal of up to 30%
equity interest in SEAM, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Group. On 21 January 2013, the Group
entered into a non-binding framework agreement
with Beijing Wincapital Management Co., Ltd. in
relation to the disposal of a 30% equity interest in
SEAM. The aggregate disposal consideration is
expected to be approximately RMB900 million
(approximately HK$1.1 billion). The proposed
transaction is yet to complete and no formal sales
and purchase agreement has been entered into up
to the date of this report. Longer than expected
time has been spent on negotiation of the detailed
terms and conditions because of the rapid change
in operating and regulatory environment of SEAM
since the framework agreement was signed.
Management is currently negotiating with the
relevant parties to facilitate the completion of the
proposed disposal despite longer than expected
time that was spent as a result of the rapid changes
in environment that SEAM operates in. The
proposed transaction can significantly strengthen
the liquidity position of the Group as a whole in the
near future;
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apart from the points (1), (2) and (3) above, the
Group had other borrowings became overdue
subsequent to 31 December 2014. The Group has
been actively negotiating with the lenders for the
renewal and extension of these borrowings;

the Group has been actively negotiating with the
holders of the 12% Coupon Senior Bonds and the
8% Coupon Convertible Bonds for further extension
of the repayment of principal and interest;

the Company has appointed Somerley Capital
Limited (“Somerley”) as the financial advisor to
advise the Board in respect of possible financing
arrangements including but not limited to group re-
organisation and debt restructuring. The Company
intends, via Somerley, to enter into discussions with
its bankers, bondholders and creditors as necessary
with a view to agreeing arrangements to facilitate
the Group meeting its obligations;

the Group is negotiating with various potential
investors, financial institutions and identifying various
options for financing the Group’s working capital
and commitments in the foreseeable future,
including identification of potential investors to invest
in various projects undertaken by the Group;

the Group is maximising its sales effort, including
speeding up of sales of its existing inventories and
seeking new orders from overseas markets or new
customers on developed new products, and
implementing more stringent cost control measures
with a view to improving operating cash flows; and

the Group has engaged legal advisors to handle all
major litigation matters and seek for an appropriate
solution to the best interest of the Group.
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(ii)

Delay in Publication of the 2014 Annual Results and

2014 Annual Report

Under Rules 13.46(2)(a) and 13.49(1) of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Company
is required to publish the announcement in relation to its
preliminary annual results for the year ended 31
December 2014 (the “2014 Annual Results”) on a date
not later than three months after the end of the financial
year of the Company, i.e. on or before 31 March 2015;
and despatch its annual report for the year ended 31
December 2014 (the “2014 Annual Report”) on a date not
more than four months after the end of the financial year
of the Company, i.e. on or before 30 April 2015. The
delay in publication of the annual results and report had
constituted a non-compliance with Rules 13.46(2)(a) and
13.49(1) of the Listing Rules.

Reason for Delay

As set out in the announcements of the Company dated
19 March 2015, 31 March 2015, 20 April 2015, 5 May
2015, 18 May 2015, 26 June 2015, 21 July 2015 and 4
August 2015, additional time is required by the Company
to gather further information to enable its auditor to
perform and complete their audit procedures.
Consequently, the publication of the 2014 Annual Results
and 2014 Annual Report was delayed.

Mitigation measures

In order to avoid delay in the compilation and provision of
information in connection with the Group’s financial
information, the Board plans to implement the following
measures:

° enhance the documentation system to strengthen
the information retrieval process;

° involve additional personnel in the preparation of the
Group’s management accounts and financial
projections to avoid delay; and

° hold more regular meetings with its auditor to
facilitate the communication flow and to update the
auditor of the Group’s financial position regularly.
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Auditor’s Remuneration

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the total fees paid/
payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers, auditor of the Company,
in respect of audit and non-audit services are set out below:

BB AT &
BE_Z—NF+_A=+—HIFE
RN B2 BAED 7R S K B R AR SRS TR R
MBERNFERREMEN BN ERE
B

For the year ended
31 December 2014

BE-Z—NOF
+=—HB=+—H
IHEE
HK$’000
BET T
Audit services ERRE
Audit and audit related services EZLEZEERS 5,063
Non-audit services FEEXRE
Tax compliance services RIS E RS 40
SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND BRREFNRERR ZBE

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The management believes that it is essential to maintain effective
communication with the investment community in a timely manner
through various media and channels. The Company holds regular
briefings, attends investor conferences and participates in one-on-
one meetings and conversations with institutional investors and
analysts in Hong Kong, PRC and overseas countries to keep them
abreast of the Company’s business and development.

Communications with Shareholders

As the key principle of corporate governance, the Company has a set
of values and behaviors to ensure transparency and fair dealing and
to protect and facilitate the exercise of shareholder’s rights.
Shareholders are provided with contact details of the Company, such
as telephone hotling, fax number and postal address, which enable
them to engage actively with the Company and make any query with
respect to the Company.
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To promote open, efficient and transparent communications with
shareholders, investors and analysts, the Investor Relations
Department commits to promptly responding to their enquiries and
also providing them with the necessary information in a timely manner
so as to facilitate the investment community to better understand the
Company’s strategy and latest developments. Shareholders,
investors and analysts can also send enquires and concerns to the
Board by addressing them to the Investor Relations Department of
the Company by letter, telephone or fax. In addition, if shareholders
have any enquiries about their shares and dividends, they can contact
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, the Hong Kong
branch share registrar of the Company. The contact details of the
Company are stated in the section entitled “Corporate Information”
on pages 2 to 3 in this annual report.

The Board endeavors to provide timely and accurate information
equally to shareholders and investors. The Company’s website
(http://ir.cnrholdings.com) facilitates effective communications with
shareholders, investors and other stakeholders of the Company by
providing up-to-date information relating to the Company’s latest
development, corporate events, press releases, financial reports and
other information on a timely basis. Annual reports, interim reports
and other relevant information, including announcements in
accordance with the Company’s continuous disclosure obligations
are available and also posted on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company for the public’s review.

Shareholders’ Meetings

The Company regards the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) as an
important event as it provides invaluable opportunity for the Directors
to meet and communicate with the shareholders. The Company
ensures that shareholders’ views are extended to the Board.
Chairman of the AGM proposes separate resolutions for each issue
to be considered. Members of the audit, remuneration and
nomination committees and the external auditor also attend the AGM
to answer questions from shareholders.

AGM proceedings are reviewed from time to time to ensure that the
Company follows best corporate governance practices. The notice of
AGM is distributed to all shareholders at least 20 clear business days
prior to the AGM, and the accompanying circular also sets out details
of each proposed resolution and other relevant information as
required under the Listing Rules. Chairman of the AGM exercises his
power under the articles of association of the Company to put each
proposed resolution to the vote by way of a poll. The procedures for
demanding and conducting a poll are explained at the beginning of
the meeting. Voting results are posted on the respective websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company in a timely manner.
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The 2014 AGM was held on 28 November 2014. Except for Mr. Dong
Chengzhe, Mr. Song Wenzhou, Mr. Yin Sheping, Mr. Bai Baohua, Mr.
Yang Tianjun, Mr. Huang Changhuai and Mr. Fahmi Idris, all other
members of the Board has attended the 2014 AGM.

Under the code provision A.6.7 of CG Code, Independent Non-
executive Directors and other Non-executive Directors should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views
of shareholders. Mr. Yang Tianjun, a Non-executive Director and Mr.
Bai Baohua, Mr. Huang Changhuai and Mr. Fahmi Idris, the
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company were unable to
attend the 2014 AGM due to other business commitment.

Under code provision E.1.2 of CG Code, the Chairman of the Board
should invite the Chairman of the audit committee, the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee to attend and answer
questions at the AGM. Mr. Huang Changhuai, the Chairman of the
remuneration committee was unable to attend the 2014 AGM.

Shareholders’ Rights

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company can make a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary to convene an extraordinary general meeting
pursuant to article 58 of the Company’s articles of association. The
written requisition must state the objects of the meeting, and must be
signed by the relevant shareholder(s) and deposited at the head office
of the Company, which is presently situated at Room 3501, China
Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Center, 168-200 Connaught Road
Central, Hong Kong.

There are no provisions under the Company’s articles of association
or the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands regarding procedures for shareholders
to put forward proposals at general meetings other than a proposal of
a person for election as director. Shareholders may follow the
procedures set out above to convene an extraordinary general
meeting for any business specified in such written requisition.

During the financial year, there were no changes in any of the
Company’s constitutional documents.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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To the Shareholders of
China Nickel Resources Holdings Company Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of
China Nickel Resources Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 69 to
200, which comprise the consolidated and company statements of
financial position as at 31 December 2014, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on conducting the audit in accordance
with International Standards on Auditing. Because of the matters
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion paragraphs, however,
it is not possible to form an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements as we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence and due to the potential interaction of the uncertainties and
their possible cumulative effect on the consolidated financial
statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
Tel: +852 2289 8888  Fax: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Impairment losses of intangible asset

As at 31 December 2014, the carrying amount of the Group’s
intangible asset amounted to HK$2,384,543,000. As detailed in Note
16 to the consolidated financial statements, such intangible asset
represents an exclusive offtake right secured from PT. Yiwan Mining
(“Yiwan”), a limited company incorporated in Indonesia, whereby
Yiwan agreed to exclusively sell the limonitic ores produced by Yiwan
to the Group at pre-determined prices within a specific period of time.

During the year 2012, certain Indonesian governmental authorities
promulgated several new rules and regulations regarding ores export
approval and export tax. During the year 2013, the relevant
Indonesian governmental authorities further promulgated that
unprocessed ore export by mining business licence holders in
Indonesia (“IUP Holders”) will be banned from 12 January 2014
onwards unless the IUP Holders have carried out processing and
refining domestically according to the relevant regulations regarding
implementation of activities of business of minerals and coal mining
and have conducted refining and smelting in accordance with those
relevant laws. Consequently, the export of unprocessed iron ores
from Yiwan to the Group ceased with effect from 12 January 2014.

As further explained in Note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements, in determining the recoverable amount of the intangible
asset as at 31 December 2014, the directors of the Company,
amongst other considerations, made reference to the disposal
consideration as stipulated in a non-binding framework agreement
entered into between the Group and Beijing Wincapital Management
Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Wincapital”), an independent third party, on 21
January 2013, pursuant to which the Group proposed to dispose of a
30% equity interest in S.E.A. Mineral Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group, together with its subsidiaries (collectively,
“SEAM Group”), which are engaged in the trading of ores and holding
of the intangible asset of the Group, to Beijing Wincapital. As the
proposed disposal consideration substantially exceeds the
attributable carrying amount of the aforesaid intangible asset, the
directors are of the opinion that there was no impairment of the
intangible asset as at 31 December 2014.

However, as there are no formal sales and purchase agreement
entered into for the proposed disposal up to the date of this audit
report and the proposed disposal is yet to complete, we were unable
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence we consider necessary
to assess the recoverable amount of the intangible asset. There were
no alternative audit procedures that we could perform to satisfy
ourselves as to the recoverable amount of the intangible asset and
whether any impairment charge should be made. Any adjustment to
the carrying amount of the intangible asset found to be necessary
would affect the Group’s net assets as at 31 December 2014, the
Group’s loss for the year then ended and the related note disclosures
to the consolidated financial statements.
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Impairment losses of property, plant and equipment and
prepaid land lease payments

As detailed in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements, an
impairment assessment was carried out by the directors of the
Company on the Group’s property, plant and equipment and prepaid
land lease payments in respect of the cash generating unit for the
manufacturing and sales of iron and steel products in Zhengzhou (the
“Zhengzhou Plants”).

As a result of the assessment, an impairment loss of
HK$312,921,000 in respect of the property, plant and equipment of
the Zhengzhou Plants has been recognised in the consolidated
income statement for the year ended 31 December 2014. The
impairment loss was arrived based on recoverable amount of the
cash generating unit which has been determined by the directors
based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations included
applying certain assumptions in preparing cash flows projections for
the cash generating unit. In preparing these projections, the directors
assumed that, amongst other factors, business performance of the
Zhengzhou Plants can be gradually improved noticeably during the
projection period as a result of improving operating environment and
by launching new products and seeking new orders from new
customers with improved gross margins.

However, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence we consider necessary as to the basis upon which the
directors have formed in determining the recoverable amounts of
these property, plant and equipment and prepaid land lease
payments and thus to assess the valuation of these assets. There
were no alternative audit procedures that we could perform to satisfy
ourselves as to the recoverable amounts of these assets totalling
HK$552,835,000 as at 31 December 2014 and whether the
recognition of the impairment loss of HK$312,921,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2014 is appropriate or adequate. Any
adjustment to the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment
and prepaid land lease payments of the Zhengzhou Plants found to
be necessary would affect the Group’s net assets as at 31 December
2014, the Group’s loss for the year then ended and the related notes
disclosures to the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment losses of the Company'’s interests in
subsidiaries

In addition, as the intangible asset, property, plant and equipment
and prepaid land lease payments as stated above were held by
various subsidiaries of the Company, any adjustment on the carrying
amounts of these assets found to be necessary would also affect the
carrying amount of the Company’s interests in subsidiaries which
amounted to HK$2,552,888,000 as at 31 December 2014, the
Company’s loss for the year then ended and the related note
disclosures to the consolidated financial statements.
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Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern

As described in Note 2.1(a) to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group incurred a net loss of HK$1,454,213,000 during the year
ended 31 December 2014 and, as of that date, its current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by HK$2,358,297,000. In addition, up to
the date of this report, a substantial amount of the Group’s
borrowings and notes payable totalling HK$1,990,714,000 were in
default or became overdue. The Company and a subsidiary of the
Group are also parties to various legal claims as detailed in Note 33
to the consolidated financial statements. These conditions, along with
other matters as described in Note 2.1(a) to the consolidated financial
statements, indicate the existence of material uncertainties that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

The directors of the Company have been undertaking a number of
measures to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position,
which are set out in Note 2.1(a) to the consolidated financial
statements, and to resolve the outstanding claims and disputes
detailed in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of which depends on the outcome of these
measures and litigation matters, which are subject to multiple
uncertainties, including (i) whether the Group is able to successfully
obtain a long-term syndicated loan from a syndicate of banks in the
People’s Republic of China and other necessary financing from the
banks at appropriate time; (i) whether the Group is able to extend the
repayment of principal and interest of its 12% Coupon Senior Bonds
and the 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds (collectively the “Bonds”) and
to successfully execute a debt restructuring scheme with the holders
of the Bonds, if needed; (iii) whether the Group is able to successfully
negotiate for an extension of the repayment dates of certain loans
until completion of the proposed disposal of the 30% interest in
SEAM Group at the prescribed consideration and be able to collect
the disposal consideration in full immediately upon completion of the
transaction after properly offsetting the relevant borrowings; (iv)
whether the Group is successful in maintaining relationship with
certain banks/lenders such that no action will be taken by these
lenders to demand immediate repayment in respect of the overdue
loans under negotiation; (v) availability of financing from lenders
through successful renewal or extension of the repayment dates of
the existing current and other borrowings and availability of additional
new financing and other sources of funding as and when required; (vi)
whether the Group is able to implement its operation plans to control
costs and to generate adequate cash flows from operations; and (vii)
whether the Group is able to resolve the outstanding claims and
disputes without significant cash outflows in the next twelve months.
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Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned plans and
measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as a going
concern, and adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to
provide for any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and
current liabilities. The effects of these adjustments have not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Because we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence and due to the potential interaction of the uncertainties and
their possible cumulative effect on the consolidated financial
statements as described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
paragraphs, we do not express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. In all other respects, in our opinion, the
consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

OTHER MATTERS

This report has been prepared for and only for you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards, or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 31 August 2015
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Consolidated Income Statement

Fela®R

For the year ended 31 December 2014 =2 —Z—WNE+—-A=+—H I FE

2014 2013
—E2—mE —F—=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BaE FH&xT T

Revenue s 6 336,403 1,635,170
Cost of sales SHEM AR 7 (501,897) (1,664,620)
Gross loss Fi8 (165,494) (29,450)
Other gains, net Hiv&H| - JF5E 6 18,855 49,477
Selling and distribution expenses $HE My EFAT 7 (10,036) (5,196)
Administrative expenses THAX 7 (176,980) (284,672)
Finance income BhE W A 8 145,079 17,735
Finance costs BLE A 8 (559,261) (280,927)
Other expenses Hth B2 7 (36,740) (67,737)
Impairment losses on property, ME - RE MRERERE

plant and equipment 7 (597,392) (726,185)
Provision for impairment of loan to BERT— SN[ 2 B E R

an associate 18 (56,975) -
Share of loss of an associate FE(E — B & A Al ES 1R 18 (26,474) (13,508)
Loss before income tax BRETIS TR E 7 (1,465,418) (1,340,463
Income tax credit/(expense) Frisgile, (FAx) 10 11,205 (25,043)
Loss for the year FAEE (1,454,213) (1,365,506)
Attributable to: B :

Equity holders of the Company RAEERFEEA 11 (1,453,133) (1,366,411)

Non-controlling interests FEERR (1,080) 905

(1,454,213) (1,365,506)

Loss per share attributable to equity RARIERFEA

holders of the Company (R ERREER
— Basic (HK dollar) — EARGET) 13 (0.57) (0.54)
— Diluted (HK dollar) —#E(ET) 13 (0.57) (0.54)

The notes on pages 80 to 200 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

FeEZEBRR

For the year ended 31 December 2014 =2 —Z—WNE+—-A=+—H I FE

2014 2013
—F-0F —T—=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE&T T
lossfortheyear o EEBE (1.454,213) | (1,365,506)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hith2m (&|), W
Items that may be subsequently AJRERAZEFT D IEE
reclassified to profit or loss B s HE
Exchange differences on translation of BIMEERRITEEN =58
foreign operations (9,022) 69,457
Other comprehensive (loss)/income FERBAHMEE
_fortheyear,netoftax (Bg) W& 9022 69,457 _
Total comprehensive loss for the year EEXHEEES (1,463,235) (1,296,049)
Attributable to: B
Equity holders of the Company KRR A (1,462,250) (1,296,964)
Non-controlling interests FEIEAR M 2 (985) 915
(1,463,235) (1,296,049)

The notes on pages 80 to 200 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MBIRAR

As at 31 December 2014 —ZE—PE+—-A=+—H

As at 31 December

R+=-—A=+—H
2014 2013
—E—{F —E—=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
Mo 5E FET TFETT
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets I RBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - HWE KK 14 1,178,003 1,928,122
Prepaid land lease payments B LR E R IE 15 196,418 202,093
Intangible asset M EE 16 2,384,543 2,387,786
Interest in an associate R—EBE AR 2 Es 18 - 83,449
Deferred tax assets FRIEFRIAE B 19 1,115 1,932
Other non-current assets HEM3Emei&E 3,846 3,987
Pledged time deposits BRI E B 23 - 495,021
3,763,925 5,102,390
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 20 307,035 474,600
Trade and notes receivables TEUBR X K FEUNZE 1 21 23,248 108,388
Prepayments, deposits and other AR - Re REME
receivables W sRIA 22 254,565 213,546
Pledged time deposits BRI E BER 23 1,007,304 363,929
Cash and cash equivalents BEMBSEEY 23 11,520 54,085
1,603,672 1,214,528
Total assets BEE 5,367,597 6,316,918
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e MBIRAR

As at 31 December 2014 —ZE—PE+—-A=+—H

As at 31 December

R+=-—A=+—H
2014 2013
—2-mF e
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
Mo 5E TExT TFETT
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves attributable to 4~ ) EHE AFEL
equity holders of the Company EXK#E
Share capital R& AN 30 267,854 255,304
Reserves ] 31 1,118,058 2,553,223
1,385,912 2,808,527
Non-controlling interests JEERAER 8,465 9,450
Totalequty #=#&® 1,304,377 2,817,977
LIABILITIES =R
Non-current liabilities kRBEME
Bank and other borrowings RITERMEMEE 24 - 880,221
Convertible bonds AR (E A 25 - 129,182
Derivative financial instruments ST A 26 - 21,652
Other long term payables Hitn REAFEF 3RIE 27 9,886 8,751
Deferred tax liabilities BELEFIBAE 19 1,365 1,369
11,251 1,041,175
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e MBIRAR

As at 31 December 2014 —ZE—PE+—-A=+—H

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—H
2014 2013
—EF-IF ==

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

B 5T FHxT FHIT
Current liabilities RBERE
Trade payables FETARR 28 124,286 184,566
Notes payables BT 28 797,528 587,614
Other payables and accruals HihENRIE R ETAE 29 500,477 445,081
Bank and other borrowings RITERREMEE 24 2,273,465 1,201,404
Convertible bonds Al E A 25 143,925 =
Derivative financial instruments TEEmIA 26 84,373 =
Tax payable FERTFRIE 37,915 39,101
R 3,961,969 ¢ 2,497,766
Total liabilites ~  #8&®% 3973220 ¢ 3,498,941
Total equity and liabilities EEREERE 5,367,597 6,316,918
Net current liabilities REEEFE (2,358,297) (1,243,2398)
Total assets less current liabilites @EERAHAES 1,405,628 3,859,152

Director Director
EFE BF

The notes on pages 80 to 200 are an integral part of these H80ZE 2008 7 MiiF AdiGa MIEHERN—2D -

consolidated financial statements.
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As at 31 December 2014 —ZE—PE+—-A=+—H

As at 31 December

R+=-—A=+—H
2014 2013
—E-MEF —F=
Notes HK$’°000 HK$’000
Mo 5E THExT TFETT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets I RBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - HWE KK 14 265 23,494
Interests in subsidiaries NG YNGIwR - E: 17 2,552,888 3,899,048
2,553,153 3,922,542
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits and AR - ke REM
other receivables JEUR FRIE 22 30,778 9,985
Pledged time deposits B E BFER 23 13 13,285
Cash and cash equivalents RENBEEEY 23 436 559
31,227 23,829
Total assets HWEE 2,584,380 3,946,371
Equity B
Share capital R& 2R 30 267,854 255,304
Reserves ER 31 1,118,058 2,553,223
Total equity e 1,385,912 2,808,527
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As at 31 December 2014 —ZE—PE+—-A=+—H

As at 31 December

R+=-—A=+—H
2014 2013
—F-mF e

Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000

Mo 5E FET TFETT
LIABILITIES =N
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Bank and other borrowings RITEFREMEER 24 - 542,872
Convertible bonds AR ES 25 - 129,182
Derivative financial instruments TESmIA 26 - 21,652
L ., - . B98r0s
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables FEfTBR TR 28 3,850 3,850
Other payables and accruals HEMENFIERETAE 29 40,685 17,530
Bank and other borrowings RITERHEMER 24 925,635 422 758
Convertible bonds AR ES 25 143,925 =
Derivative financial instruments PTEEMIA 26 84,373 =
. 1,198468 444,138
Total liabilites ~ #8®& 1,198468 - 1,137,844
Total equity and liabilities EEREEEE 2,584,380 3,946,371
Net current liabilities RBAEFE (1,167,241) (420,309)
Total assets less current liabilities HEERARBERE 1,385,912 3,502,233

Director Director
EE EE

The notes on pages 80 to 200 are an integral part of these financial

statements.
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Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

FeHREnR

For the year ended 31 December 2014 HZE —Z—WNFE+—_A=+—HILFE

RATREEEARE
Share Non-
Share Share Contributed Capital ~ Statutory option  Exchange controlling
capital  premium surplus reserve  reserves reserve reserve interests
BRE FER
Rx  ROEE EABR AARGE  EERE R EARE i
HKS000  HK$000  HK§000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000
T T T ThT TR TR T Thx
(ote30)  (note31)  (noted!)  (note31)  (note31)
(Wzks0)  (WaEs1)  (WaEst)  (Waks1)  (Wgst)
BE-Z-ZE4CR
=t-ALEE
W-E-Z£-f-H 230606 3,036,939 47,514 115,807 89,774 33,567 383,330 18,905
EEER = = = = = = S 905
Other comprehensive income for the year: £ E 2 FE -
Exchange differences on tranglation of ~ E5MIEBERE
ELER - - - - - - 60447 - 10
Total comprehensive income/(loss) ~ £E2EYHE/(58)
ag - - = = = = 69,447 915
Equity-settled share-based IREEE 2 RBERS
kY - - - - - 30 - -
Conversion of convertble bonds ERTBRES % 24608 88006 - - - - - -
Accuisttion of additional nterest in WE-FHBLAZ
BVER - - - - - - - (10,370)
Total transactions with owners RREAZRGEE 24,698 88,006 - - - 3,084 - (10370)
RZZ-Z+12R
=t-A 206,304 3,124,945 47514 115,807 89,774 36,651 482,717 9,450
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

FeHREnR

For the year ended 31 December 2014 =2 —Z—WNE+—-A=+—H I FE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

RAAREEEARE
Share Non-
Share Share Contributed Capital ~ Statutory option  Exchange Accumulated controlling
capital  premium  surplus  reserve  reserves  reserve  reserve losses  Sub-total interests Total
BRE 2R
Bx  RGEE EHER AARE  iERE RE  EXGEE RiER it & a5t
Notes HKS000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$O000  HKS'000  HKS'000
iz ThT ThT FhT FhT TFhT T TR AL Thr ThT Fitn
(note30)  (note31)  (note31)  (note31)  (note 31)
(MEs0)  (WEs1)  (WaEs1)  (MEs1)  (S1)
For the year ended BE-E-METCR
31 December 2014 +-ALEE
At1 January 2014 R=2-BE-5-B 255,304 3,124,945 47,514 115,807 89,774 36,651 452,771 (1,314,245 2,808,527 9450 2,817,977
Loss for the year FEER - - - - - - - (1453133 (1453133 (1,080) (1,454,21)
Other comprehensive (oss)income ~ EEEM2E (B18) /s :
for the year:
Exchange differences on translation of  SRAMEERETE
foreign operations EREE - - - - - - (9,117) - 9,117 9% (9,022)
Total comprehensive loss EEXEFRSE
for the year - - - - - - (9,117) (1,453,133)  (1,462,250) (985)  (1,463,235)
Equity-settled share-based NRESE ZRIBERT
compensation expense 32 - - - - - (180) - - (180) - (180)
Conversion of convertble bonds ERTARES 25 12550 27,65 - - - - - - 39815 - 39815
Total transactions with owners ~ REHAZRZLE 12550 27,265 - - - (180) - - J06% - J06%
At 31 December 2014 RZE-BE+=A=1-R 267,854 3,152,210 47514 115,807 89,774 36,471 443,660 (2,767,378) 1,385,912 8465 1,304,377
The notes on pages 80 to 200 are an integral part of these $80F200E v T ARG S ERERN—E 5 -

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HFeBaiER

For the year ended 31 December 2014 HE —ZE—ME+ - A=+—H L FE

2014 2013
—E-mF —_=—=
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BaE FET T
Cash flows from operating activities KEFEZHELRE
Loss before income tax K FT1S 35 Bl s 18 (1,465,418) (1,340,463)
Adjustments for: KR ZIaFE
Finance costs A AR 8 559,261 280,927
Finance income EE YA 8 (145,079) (17,735)
Loss on disposal of property, LEME  BER
plant and equipment, net RiE 7 BB FEE 6 702 5,723
Changes in fair value of derivative MESMIEQAAEEES
financial instruments 6 (19,832) (46,688)
Depreciation e 7,14 116,454 133,836
Amortisation of prepaid land lease FE S+ 1o E KA 5
payments , 5,078 5,374
Amortisation of intangible asset S R , 3,243 111,114
Provision for impairment of trade FEW R FOR B B B 5458
receivables, net 7,21 16,405 16,298
Provision for impairment of prepayments — TE/< 5 18 % £ 4t & Uk 518
and other receivables, net RER T 7 7,306 11,502
Provision for impairment of property, W -~ BE MR ERE R
plant and equipment 7,14 597,392 726,185
Provision for impairment of prepaid TEfT - #0F0 & FOER E R
land lease payments 7,15 - 20,713
Provision for impairment losses of FEREESERE
inventories 7,20 19,481 88,765
Provision for impairment of loan to EE Gl ) NCId
an associate B 7,18 56,975 -
Share of loss of an associate FEfE — B & A Rl ES 18 18 26,474 13,508
Equity-settled share-based ARG IEAE & 2 IR 1D
compensation expense HERX 9 (180) 3,084
(221,738) 12,233
Operating profit before working capital ~ B & & & B AT 2 KL%
changes:
Decrease in inventories FERD 146,737 137,058
Decrease/(increase) in trade and JE Uk BR R K JlE W 2R 4
notes receivables A (3G m) 68,582 (13,944)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, TERFE -~ ke R EAMm
deposits and other receivables FE U R IE ($240) 6k (619) 28,887
Increase/(decrease) in trade and JEAS BR FR M FE A~ 20
notes payables 20 OFi ) 170,585 (48,856)
Decrease in other payables and H b S FR0A M B AT
accruals aERL (25,182) (162,833)
Increase in other long term payables H b K HR RS FOEE AN 1,165 636
Cash generated from/(used in) operations £&&E&ES,(FiA) 2R 4 139,530 (46,819)
Income tax refunded/(paid) BRE (B FTEH 10,830 (63,214)
Net cash flows generated from/ RETHEE (A2
(used in) operating activities HEREFHE 150,360 (100,033)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FESRERE

For the year ended 31 December 2014 =2 —Z—WNE+—-A=+—H I FE

2014 2013
—E—MF —T—=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B aE FET T
Net cash flows generated from/ BESTEEESE(FTH) 2
(used in) operating activities Rene®s®E 0 150,360 (100,033)
Cash flows from investing activities REZEZHERE
Interest received =Rl & PS) 5,008 3,263
Purchase of property, plant and BEWME - BENEE
equipment (26,773) (157,932)
Increase in pledged time deposits B AR E HA 77 SR AN (149,199) (394,553)
Payment for non-current assets XIIEMENEE - (2,754)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - BB LERE
plant and equipment FriSsk1E - 1,508
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary & —XKMEB A A5 A - 775,970
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from && 58 (FTH),/ EE2
investing activities REMEFRE (170,964) 225,502
Cash flows from financing activities FETEHHERE
Addition of bank and other borrowings ~ ¥T1&R1T R HMEE 1,067,774 1,598,601
Repayment of bank and other borrowings 1E&E1T R EMEE (859,080) (1,552,562)
Interest paid BHE (230,508) (254,446)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests W& FEIE AR AR - (6,358)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BEEBFMAzReREFE 21,814 (214,765)
Net decrease in cash and REeERREEEN 2RI FE
cash equivalents (42,418) (89,296)
Cash and cash equivalents at FY2RERREEEY
beginning of year 54,065 141,610
Effect of foreign exchange rate ER BB EFE
changes, net (127) 1,751
Cash and cash equivalents at end FRZBERBEESZEEY
of year 11,520 54,065
Analysis of balances of cash and ReRECEEYEHRIN
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances WL RIRITES 23 11,520 54,065

The notes on pages 80 to 200 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 11 March 2004 under
the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The registered
office of the Company is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands. The principal place of business of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) is located at
No. 7, Block F, Runhua Business Garden, No. 24, Jinshui
Road, Jinshui District, Zhengzhou City, Henan Province, the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), 450012. The principal
place of business of the Company is located at Room 3501,
China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught
Road Central, Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Company are investment holdings
and the trading of ore. The Group is principally engaged in the
manufacture and sale of iron and steel products in the PRC and
the trading of ore. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”),
Easyman Assets Management Limited (“Easyman”), a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) and wholly
owned by Mr. Dong Shutong (“Mr. Dong”), is the ultimate
holding company of the Group. Mr. Dong is regarded as the
ultimate controlling party.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$”), unless otherwise stated, and have been
approved for issue by the board of Directors on 31 August
2015.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company
have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention except that certain financial
assets and liabilities (including derivative financial
instruments) are measured at fair value, as appropriate.

PERERERAR AR

—RER

KRR —_EZENF=A+—BRIEFASH
ERANER 2B (—NAR—FF=5EM -
KaRe REF]) EH S S M B
RBIRAT o AR A FEM S E R AL Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands °
KA REMBAR (GBI AEE ) X2
MBI AR EE AR FEAE ([ E]) AR
BEN T 2 KE S KEE 24 50 BERBIEREF
JBE 7 5% (E 4R 450012) RN F F B & HE i
MR EBTFEIER 168-200 = EH LAE
BARE3501 % °

ARBZEBXRBR/REEBRLEAES -
AEETEXNTEREWHERMEENHE
RiEAEZER - ARBNBOHREEHE
RHAARAR ([BRMH]) R ET -

BEARREF([EF)2ER  REABE
ZHE((RBEXHS]) Ml ITHES
BAEE(NELRE]) 2B ¥ H ZEasyman
Assets Management Limited ([ Easyman ) £
REBEZRERERAGE - EEEWEBER
R -

HeEMBmRAET (BT 5w (FRIES
BFHA) IEKAEZTGE_T-—HFN
HA=+t—B4#tERz -

TEETBRME

BT S M MRARANE Z ST HRS
RTX - BRRBEERI  ZERRERFAE
ERFEEREKR -

21 EEEE
AR BERA P BRE TR 15 BB 5
AR ([ BIBR A s s 5 2B Rl DR EL -
BRETEREEREB(BETLELR
TE)RAABESE(WMER)N - B
BEa BRI FRAES KA E
FRAETE -
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in
accordance with the applicable requirements of the
predecessor Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32) for this
financial year and the comparative period.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

(@) Going concern

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the
Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$1,454,213,000 due to the continuing market
downturn and significant change in operating
and regulatory environment of the Group’s
subsidiaries. As at 31 December 2014, the current
liabilities of the Company and the Group exceeded
their current assets by HK$1,167,241,000 and
HK$2,358,297,000, respectively. The Group’s total
borrowings increased to HK$3,214,918,000 as at
31 December 2014 from HK$2,798,421,000 as at
31 December 2013. The Group’s borrowings
comprised bank and other borrowings, convertible
bonds and notes payables of HK$2,273,465,000
(2013: HK$2,081,625,000), HK$143,925,000
(2013: HK$129,182,000) and HK$797,528,000
(2013: HK$587,614,000, respectively as at 31
December 2014. Cash and cash equivalents
reduced to HK$11,520,000 as at 31 December
2014 from HK$54,065,000 as at 31 December
2013.
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TESTHEERBE (&)
2.1 wEEE(H)

R BFE N LB 2 fR A B R
RIVERAT G REHEDI (£ 32F) 2@
FRERR o

1R BIFR 15 RE R R B 15 3R
xR HEERAETEANGHEE -
R EAEEERSARERNBIE
hREEEERA S HE - S RE
AAREREMNHE 28 - PR
BREMEFZBEEFEHBHRRA
BERTE RWEIBE -

(a) FHERHE
HE-Z—NF+=-A=+—H
IEFE - ERTMHEFEERAR
REE M B A R ML E T B IR
RHIRERED  AEESKSES
BIFEEH91,454,213,00058 7T ° 1Y
—E—mF+=—A=+—H =&
RERAEERNRBEED FE
HE O B & E1,167,241,00078
JC M 2,358,297,000 87T - NEE
JHEEER-_T—=F+_A4
=+—H#2,798,421,0008 T *
BhNE—_T-—NE+_A=+—
H#93,214,918,000/8 7T ° AN
RZZE—NUF+=-_A=+—HZ
BERERITREMEER - ATk
KEHFLESEE 92545
2,273,465,000/8 C( = E—=4F :
2,081,625,000%8 7t ) °
143,925,000 L (=T — =4 :
129,182,000/ 7t ) % 797,528,000
BT (=—Z — =4 : 587,614,000
B c RERBEEEYWR =
T-—=Ff+_A=+—HBH
54,065,000 LB E ZF —
F+—- A=+—H# 11,520,000
PETT ©
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Going concern (continued)

As at 31 December 2014, all the Group’s
borrowings were due within twelve months despite
the original contractual repayments dates of some
of these borrowings are beyond twelve months after
31 December 2014. This is mainly because:

(a)

(ai)

(aii)

on 19 December 2014, the Group failed to
make interest payment totalling
HK$16,108,000 under the relevant terms and
conditions of its Modified 10% Coupon
Bonds, 12% Coupon Senior Bonds and 8%
Coupon Convertible Bonds (together the
“Bonds”), details of which are disclosed in
Note 24(g). This constituted an event of
default under the respective terms of the
Bonds. As a result, the outstanding principal
amounts of the Bonds totalling
HK$563,315,000 became immediately due
and payable, out of which the 12% Coupon
Senior Bonds and 8% Coupon Convertible
Bonds of HK$390,990,000 and
HK$143,925,000, respectively have been
reclassified as current liabilities as at 31
December 2014. As at 31 December 2014,
the Modified 10% Coupon Bonds of
HK$28,400,000 was scheduled to be repaid
within one year based on the original
agreement and therefore the overdue has not
resulted in its reclassification;

as at 31 December 2014, certain other loans
and other borrowings of HK$315,883,000
and HK$10,140,000, respectively which have
original contractual repayment dates of within
one year from 31 December 2014, were
overdue; and

PERERERAR AR

2

TEETBERME (&)

21 RBUEE(E)

(@) FEEZ(E
R-T-—ME+—_A=+—8"
AEBRAEEANT —EAR
A BEEREETREZR
BHNEERPAR_-_T—NF
T-A=+—BzgBBE+ &
HeXTB2ARN

@ RZZFT—HF+=ZA+h
B ANEERERELE
A M10%ZEm B E & -
12% ZE EEBEESHK8%
EmEURKRES (KB
[ZF51ES ) < AR
R EZNHNE &K
16,108,000/8 7T © A B &F
B FE24(0) H FE - BIE
ZEEHFZBBIGER &
BRENOSEMH - Bt - Z
EEHEAREEZARACES
# 563,315,000 7 7T B AF AR
BEBEMN EFoHRA
390,990,000 7T &
143,925,000 70,2 12% =
HEBEESHF K% EMHE
AMBRESFR T —HF
+—A=+—HEBE#HD
BATDAEB N
—mE+=-—/A=+—8"
28,400,000 7T Z £ 1E 5]
10% 2 m L EH B IRIE
RBZEHERERBER—F
WEE Bt #iE R
mEYHENHE

@) RZFT—MNMWF+ = H
=+—H BTEMER
X E M EE DB
315,883,000 7t &
10,140,000 7T (X [R& 4
NZBEHAER T —NOF
+—A=+—HBH—=F
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

TESTHEERBE (&)
2.1 wEEE(H)

Annual Report 2014

(a) Going concern (continued) (a) FHEL=(HE)

(aii) the above events constituted events of cross- (@ii) EFAMEHBKIATRXE
default for (i) certain secured bank loans o= H:()B A
totalling HK$307,538,000, which became 307,538,000 L2 ETHE
immediately due and payable. However, as EHRRITE R - BIREAL &

these borrowings were all due for repayment
within one year, the event of cross-default has
not resulted in their reclassification; and (ii)
certain secured short-term bank loans and
certain unsecured bank loans of
HK$63,379,000 and HK$88,731,000
respectively, details of which are disclosed in
Note 24(a). It has resulted in the
reclassification of a non-current unsecured
bank loan of HK$63,379,000 as current
liabilities as at 31 December 2014, whereas
the remaining HK$88,731,000 were all
scheduled for repayment within one year and
therefore has not resulted in their
reclassification.

The above events have resulted in the
reclassification of long-term borrowings totalling
HK$598,294,000 under current liabilities as at 31
December 2014.

Furthermore, subsequent to 31 December 2014
and up to the date of approval of the consolidated
financial statements, the Group failed to:

(i)

(i)

make further interest payment on the Bonds
totalling HK$29,048,000;

make principal payment on the Modified 10%
Coupon Bonds of HK$28,400,000;

repay the principal amount of other loans and
other unsecured borrowings of
HK$571,428,000 and HK$65,024,000
respectively, when the amounts became due;

settle notes payables to the extent of
HK$240,971,000 upon maturity; and

EIRBFEAS - AT - A EZ
EEEE2BEANR—FANE
HiEE  MRINENSH
WEEREH DA )
ETHEBEHETER
METEBFETERD
Bl £63,379,0005% T &
88,731,000 7T (FFIBH E
M EE24(a))  EEBIETR
B oK R T E R
63,379,000 7T X — &
—mFE+—-_A=+—HB&
FoEARBAaRK  mMHE
#£88,731,00078 7T & &6 #
BEBER—FREE
Et WS HERHE o

3t = 14 3 B4R {8 598,294,000
BLTZRHPARER_Z—NF
T+ A=1+—HEFLEERDY
BfE-

o R-_ZFB-—MmMEFE+_H
=+ BZRREEGEMBER
REAERH - REBEREE

I NZEEEFNF
B4 129,048,000/ 7T :
i)y EREEITHN10%EZEmEE
& % 2 7N 4 28,400,000 7
JG

iy REHEBINHARFERER
tE R R HEMEEKRER
KEEH Bl &571,428,000
75 7T & 65,024,000 7T ¢

(v) FAEIHARS 4% & 240,971,000
BITZENERE &
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2

84

(a)

Going concern (continued)

(v)  make interest payment on certain secured
bank loans with principal amount of
HK$198,707,000 as at 31 December 2014,
which constituted an event of default, and
those bank loans totalling HK$307,538,000
that became immediately due and payable as
at 31 December 2014 as a result of the event
of cross-default as mentioned in (aiii) above.
These banks issued demand letters to the
Group requesting immediate repayment of
these secured bank loans with principal
amounts totalling HK$506,245,000, together
with their related interest up to date.

Up to the date of approval of the consolidated
financial statements, a substantial amount of the
Group’s borrowings and notes payables totalling
HK$1,990,714,000 were in default or became
overdue.

In addition, the Company and a subsidiary are
parties to various legal claims as detailed in Note 33
to the consolidated financial statements.

The aforementioned conditions indicate the
existence of material uncertainties which may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern such that it may not be able to
realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business.

In view of such circumstances, the Directors of the
Company have given careful consideration to the
future liquidity and performance of the Group and
its available sources of financing in assessing
whether the Group will have sufficient financial
resources to continue as a going concern. Certain
measures have been taken to mitigate the liquidity
pressure and to improve its financial position which
include, but not limited to, the following:

PERERERAR AR
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V) ZAHETHEERETER
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Going concern (continued)

2

(a)

Annual Report 2014

(1)

The Group has been actively negotiating with
a syndicate of banks for a syndicated loan in
the PRC (i) to replace certain outstanding
bank borrowings and notes payables of the
Group as at 31 December 2014 to the extent
of HK$215,490,000 and HK$204,211,000,
respectively (out of which HK$152,111,000
and HK$204,211,000 had been overdue prior
to and after 31 December 2014 respectively)
with a 3-year loan of the same amount; and (ii)
to provide additional loan facilities to the
Group as working capital for an amount of not
exceeding RMB150 million for a 3-year term.

The Group has been actively negotiating with
the holders of the 12% Coupon Senior Bonds
and the 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds with
carrying amounts of HK$390,990,000 and
HK$143,925,000 respectively, at 31
December 2014 for further extension of the
repayment of principal and interest, and the
execution of a debt restructuring scheme, if
needed, details of which are disclosed in Note

24(g).

In relation to the secured bank loans that
became due as at 31 December 2014 as a
result of cross-default and those subsequently
became overdue after 31 December 2014
amounting to HK$307,538,000 and
HK$198,707,000, respectively (in total
HK$506,245,000 as referring to in (v) above)
as detailed in Notes 24(a)(2) and (4), a total of
HK$404,615,000 had been settled after 31
December 2014 by utilising the Group’s
pledged time deposits to the extent of
HK$428,698,000. No action had been taken
by the remaining bank on the overdue bank
borrowings with principal amount of
HK$101,630,000 as at 31 December 2014. In
addition, such unsettled overdue borrowings
of HK$101,630,000 are fully secured by the
pledged time deposits of the Group to the
extent of HK$106,351,000.

2

TEETBERME (&)
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(a) FELE(E|E)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Going concern (continued)

2

86

(a)

(4)

On 21 January 2013, the Group entered into
a non-binding framework agreement with
Beijing Wincapital Management Co., Ltd.
(“Beijing Wincapital”) in relation to the disposal
of a 30% equity interest in S.E.A. Mineral
Limited (“SEAM”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Group. The aggregate disposal
consideration is expected to be approximately
RMB900 million (approximately HK$1.1
billion). The proposed transaction is yet to
complete and no formal sales and purchase
agreement has been entered into up to the
date of approval of the consolidated financial
statements. Longer than expected time was
spent on negotiation of the detailed terms and
conditions because of the rapid change in
operating and regulatory environment of
SEAM since the framework agreement was
signed. In connection with the proposed
disposal, Beijing Wincapital arranged certain
loan finance to the Group in the aggregate
amount of RMB700 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$887 million) as at 31
December 2014, details of which are
disclosed in Note 24(c). Such borrowings can
be settled by offsetting against the disposal
consideration should the proposed disposal
be completed. As at 31 December 2014,
certain of these loans amounting to
RMB249,200,000 (equivalent to
HK$315,883,000) were overdue for
repayment and as at the date of approval of
these consolidated financial statements, all
these loans totalling HK$887,311,000 were
overdue. Up to the date of approval of the
consolidated financial statements, the Group
has not received any letter from these lenders
demanding for repayment of these loans.
Management is currently negotiating with the
relevant parties to formally extend the
repayment of these loans to facilitate the
completion of the proposed disposal despite
longer than expected time was spent as a
result of the rapid changes in environment
that SEAM operates in. Management believes
that with bona fide intention for both parties,
the proposed disposal will be completed and
the Group will be able to offset all these
borrowings against the disposal
consideration.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Going concern (continued)

(a)

Annual Report 2014

©)

Apart from the borrowings mentioned in (1) to
(4) above, the Group had other borrowings of
HK$175,312,000 as at 31 December 2014,
out of which approximately HK$10,140,000
were overdue as at 31 December 2014, while
the remaining HK$71,362,000 became
overdue subsequent to 31 December 2014.
The Group has been actively negotiating with
the lenders for the renewal and extension of
the repayment dates of these borrowings.

The Group is negotiating with various financial
institutions and identifying various options for
financing the Group’s working capital and
commitments in the foreseeable future,
including identification of potential investors to
invest in various projects undertaken by the
Group.

The Group is also maximizing its sales effort,
including speeding up of sales of its existing
inventories and seeking new orders from
overseas markets or new customers on
developed new products, and implementing
more stringent cost control measures with a
view to improving operating cash flows.

The Group has engaged legal advisors to
handle all outstanding claims and disputes as
detailed in Note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements. In preparing these
consolidated financial statements, the
Directors have also obtained advice from legal
advisors on these matters and, based upon
which, are of the view that the Group will be
able to resolve these matters with no
significant cash outflows in the next twelve
months.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(a)

Going concern (continued)

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
projections prepared by management. The cash
flow projections cover a period of not less than
twelve months from the end of the reporting period.
They are of the opinion that, taking into account the
above-mentioned plans and measures, the Group
will have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and to meet its financial obligations as
and when they fall due within the next twelve
months from the end of the reporting period.
Accordingly, the Directors are satisfied that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, significant multiple
uncertainties exist as to whether management of
the Company will be able to achieve its plans and
measures as described above. Whether the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern would
depend upon the Group’s ability to generate
adequate financing and operating cash flows
through:

(1) successful negotiation with the syndicate of
banks in the PRC for a long-term syndicated
loan and obtaining necessary financing from
the banks at appropriate time;

(2)  successful negotiation with the holders of its
12% Coupon Senior Bonds and the 8%
Coupon Convertible Bonds for extension of
the repayment dates of principal and interest,
and the successful execution of a debt
restructuring scheme, if needed;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(a)

Annual Report 2014

Going concern (continued)

(8)  successful negotiation with the financiers to
extend the repayment dates of their loans to
the Group until completion of the proposed
disposal of the 30% interest in SEAM, at a
disposal consideration of RMB900 million,
and be able to collect the remaining disposal
consideration of approximately RMB200
million in full immediately upon completion of
the transaction after properly offsetting the
remaining consideration of RMB700 million in
aggregate against the above-mentioned
borrowings;

(4)  successfully maintaining relationship with the
relevant banks/lenders such that no action will
be taken by these lenders to demand
immediate repayment of the overdue loans
under negotiation;

(5)  successful negotiation with the lenders for the
renewal or extension of all the existing current
and other borrowings or obtaining additional
new financing and other sources of funding as
and when required;

(6) successful implementation of its operation
plans described above to control costs and
generate adequate operating cash flows; and

(7)  successful resolution of the outstanding
claims and disputes without significant cash
outflows in the next twelve months.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above
mentioned plans and measures, it might not be able
to continue to operate as a going concern, and
adjustments would have to be made to write down
the carrying values of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-
current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities, respectively. The
effects of these adjustments have not been reflected
in these consolidated financial statements.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures
Effect of adopting amendments and interpretation
to existing standards
The following amended standards and interpretation
to existing standards are mandatory to the Group
for the financial year beginning on or after 1 January
2014 but they did not result in any significant impact
on the results and financial position of the Group.

IAS 32 (amendment)  Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial liabilities
IAS 36 (amendment)  Recoverable Amount Disclosures
for Non-Financial Assets
IAS 39 (amendment)  Novation of Derivatives and
Continuation of Hedge Accounting
IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and ~ Consolidation for Investment Entities
IAS 27 (2011)
(amendment)

IFRIC-Int 21 Levies
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ReMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(c)

New standards and amendments to existing
standards have been issued but are not
effective for the financial year beginning on 1
January 2014 and have not been early adopted
The following new standards and amendments to
standards have been issued but are not effective for
the financial year beginning 1 January 2014 and
have not been early adopted by the Group:

Disclosure Initiative 2
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IAS 1 (amendment)

IAS 16 and 38
(amendment)

IAS 16 and 41
(amendment)

IAS 19 (2011)
(amendment)

IAS 27 (2011)
(amendment)

IAS 28 and IFRS 10
(amendment)

IAS 28, IFRS 10 and

IFRS 12 (amendment)

IFRS 9
IFRS 11 (amendment)

IFRS 14
IFRS 15

IFRSs (amendment)

IFRSs (amendment)

Clarification of Acceptable Methods
of Depreciation and Amortisation 2

Agriculture: Bearer Plants ?

Defined Benefit Plants: Employee
Contributions

Equity Method in Separate Financial
Statements 2

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture 2

Investment Entities: Applying the
Consolidation Exception 2

Financial Instruments ®

Acquisitions of Interests in Joint
Operations ?

Regulatory Deferral Accounts?

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers®

Annual Improvements 2010-2012
cycle and 2011-2013 cycle !

Annual Improvements 2012-2014 2
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Annual Report 2014

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2015

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2016

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018

The Directors are in the process of assessing the
impact of the adoption of the above new standards
and amendments to standards on the results and
financial position of the Group.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2

92

(d)

New Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.
622)

In addition, the requirements of Part 9 “Accounts
and Audit” of the new Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622) come into operation as from
the Company’s first financial year commencing on
or after 3 March 2014 in accordance with section
358 of that Ordinance. The Group is in the process
of making an assessment of expected impact of the
changes in the Companies Ordinance on the
consolidated financial statements in the period of
initial application of Part 9 of the new Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). So far it has
concluded that the impact is unlikely to be
significant and only the presentation and the
disclosure of information in the consolidated
financial statements will be affected.

2.2 Subsidiaries
2.2.1 Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from is involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

(@)  Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to
account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of
a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group. The
consideration transferred includes the fair
value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair
value at the acquisition date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ReMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)
2.2.1 Consolidation (continued)

Annual Report 2014

(@)

Business combinations (continued)

The Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis. Non-controlling interests in
the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets
in the event of liquidation are measured at
either fair value or the present ownership
interests’ proportionate share in the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at
their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by IFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquire is re-measured to fair value at the
acquisition date; any gains or losses arising
from such re-measurement are recognised in
the income statement.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the Group is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the
fair value of the contingent consideration that
is deemed to be an asset or liability is
recognised in accordance with IAS 39 either
in the income statement or as a change to
other comprehensive income. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)

2.2.1 Consolidation (continued)

(@)

(b)

Business combinations (continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the
acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If
the total of consideration transferred, non-
controlling interest recognised and previously
held interest measured is less than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase,
the difference is recognised directly in the
income statement.

Intra-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated. When necessary,
amounts reported by subsidiaries have been
adjusted to conform with the Group’s
accounting policies.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions — that
is, as transactions with the owners of the
subsidiary in their capacity as owners. The
difference between fair value of any
consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying amount of net assets
of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains
or losses on disposals to non-controlling
interests are also recorded in equity.
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ReMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)
2.2.1 Consolidation (continued)

TEETBERME (&)

22 KMEBAT(H)
221 HE AR ()

(c)  Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured
to its fair value at the date when control is lost,
with the change in carrying amount
recognised in the income statement. The fair
value is the initial carrying amount for the
purposes of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint venture
or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. This may mean
that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to the
income statement.

2.2.2 Separate financial statements

Annual Report 2014

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at
cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s
net assets including goodwill.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.3 Associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50%
of the voting rights. Investment in an associate is
accounted for using the equity method of accounting.
Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased
or decreased to recognise the investor’s share of the
profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition.
The Group’s investment in an associate includes goodwill
identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the
ownership interest in an associate, any difference
between the cost of the associate and the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets
and liabilities is accounted for as goodwiill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share
of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to the income
statement where appropriate.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is
recognised in the income statement, and its share of
post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive
income is recognised in other comprehensive income with
a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an
associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the investment in the
associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate and its
carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent to
‘share of loss of an associate’ in the income statement.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEESTBERBIE (&)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 Associate (continued) 2.3 EEQT(E)
Profits and losses resulting from upstream and AEBREBME NG ZEZEBEET
downstream transactions between the Group and its BRXGMEE ST REE  RAER
associate are recognised in the Group’s financial IR ER  HEUI FEEREE
statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s REEERRIZER AR - RIEXFHIE
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are HEBRERCEREEEGNRE " &
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an FIREEE T AEE ERN B ERD
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies BEtES N T2 @ HE 0 UERER
of the associate have been changed where necessary to EEMRMAHBRREZER -
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.
Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in an associate REE SN 7] 7 IR P E 4 2 IES
are recognised in the income statement. LB BRI ERIER o

2.4 Segment reporting 24 HEWHE
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent FESWZERHFAEREBHELER
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operations REE2HALHEZHFA—H-BF
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who SHEBERRIEESE 7RI ZE
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing DA RREC BT AEL RS E
performance of the operating segments, has been RIEZ KRB HITESE ©

identified as the executive directors of the Company who
make strategic decisions.

2.5 Foreign currency translation 25 JEEBE
(a) Functional and presentation currency (a) MEREREN
ltems included in the financial statements of each of AREEETEEETE 2 HBHRR
the Group’s entities are measured using the FieiEzIEE MUZEREZE
currency of the primary economic environment in TROBRORIBIE Y B ([ThEe
which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). M) ETE o iR B B ERERTIAS
The consolidated financial statements are presented TLE®R  BLARARIZINEE
in HK$, which is the Company’s functional and the BEAEE2REE -

Group’s presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances b) RBR4EER

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the INERZ G R 5ERNIAEE
functional currency using the exchange rates FtEZEEREZEXRKE A
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or e EE - W ERXFEE D iR
valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign FHRAZERBEAINESTEZ
exchange gains and losses resulting from the EEEE R B EmESE ZINEW
settlement of such transactions and from the mREE - RIS R AR
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary RS NIELES ERIEEF
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign A ERERIN o

currencies are recognised in the income statement,
except when deferred in equity as qualifying net
investment hedges.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.5 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(b)

(c)

Transactions and balances (continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are
presented in the income statement within ‘finance
income’ or “finance cost’. All other foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in the income
statement within ‘other gains/(losses), net’.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-
inflationary economy) that have a functional currency
different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the end of the reporting
period;

(i)  income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates(unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

@iy all resulting currency translation differences
are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate. Currency translation differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.5 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(d) Disposal of foreign operation and partial

disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
or a disposal involving loss of significant influence
over an associate that includes a foreign operation),
all of the currency translation differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the equity holders of the Company
are reclassified to the income statement.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate
share of accumulated currency translation
differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in the income
statement. For all other partial disposals (that is,
reductions in the Group’s ownership interest in an
associate that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence) the proportionate share of the
accumulated exchange difference is reclassified to
the income statement.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold land classified as finance lease and all other
property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. Al
other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income
statement during the financial period in which they are
incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.6 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Leasehold land classified as finance lease commences
amortisation from the time when the land interest
becomes available for its intended use. Amortisation on
leasehold land classified as finance lease and depreciation
on other assets is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate their cost to their residual values over
their estimate useful lives, as follows:

— Freehold land Not depreciated

— Buildings 15-25 years
— Plant and machinery 8-15 years
— Office equipment 3-5 years
— Motor vehicles and other 5-25 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognised within ‘Other gains/(losses), net’ in the
income statement.

Construction-in-progress represents buildings, plant and
machinery under construction and pending installation
and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Cost includes the costs of construction of buildings, the
costs of plant and machinery and, for qualifying assets,
borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policies. No provision for depreciation
is made on construction-in-progress until such time as
the relevant assets are completed and ready for intended
use. When the assets concerned are brought to use, the
costs are transferred to property, plant and equipment
and depreciated in accordance with the policy as stated
above.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.7

2.8

Prepaid land lease payments

Prepaid land lease payments are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses. Cost represents consideration paid for the rights
to use the land on which various plants and buildings are
situated for a period of 20 to 50 years. Amortisation of
prepaid land lease payments is calculated on a straight-
line basis over the period of leases.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at
least at each financial reporting date.

(@) Exclusive offtake right

The exclusive offtake right represents the exclusive
right to purchase iron ore by the Group from an iron
ore supplier for a period of 29 years ending 24
January 2036. The exclusive offtake right is stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
impairment losses. The exclusive offtake right is
amortised based on the unit of purchase method.

(b) Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the income
statement as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when the
Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset
will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project and
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure
which does not meet these criteria is expensed
when incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or
intangible assets not ready to use are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the

impairment at each reporting date.

2.10 Financial assets
2.10.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following categories: at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and receivables, and available-for-sale.
The classification depends on the purpose for which
the financial assets were acquired. Management
determines the classification of its financial assets at

initial recognition.

(@  Financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are financial assets held for trading. A
financial asset is classified in this category if
acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the short term. Derivatives are also
categorised as held for trading unless they are
designated as hedges. Assets in this category
are classified as current assets if expected to
be settled within 12 months; otherwise, they

are classified as non-current.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.10 Financial assets (continued)
2.10.1 Classification (continued)
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(®)

(©

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets,
except for the amounts that are settled or
expected to be settled more than 12 months
after the end of the reporting period. These
are classified as non-current assets. The
Group’s loans and receivables comprise trade
and notes receivables, deposits and other
receivables, pledged time deposits and cash
and cash equivalents.

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivatives that are either designated in this
category or not classified in any of the other
categories. They are included in non-current
assets unless the investment matures or
management intends to dispose of it within 12
months of the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2013 and 2014, the Group did
not have any financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss and available-for-sale financial assets.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.10 Financial assets (continued)

2.10.2 Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade-date — the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair
value plus transaction costs for all financial assets
not carried at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or
loss are initially recognised at fair value, and
transaction costs are expensed in the income
statement. Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the
investments have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all risks
and rewards of ownership. Available-for-sale
financial assets and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair
value. Loans and receivables are subsequently
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of the financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss category are presented in the income
statement within ‘Other gains, net’ in the period in
which they arise. Dividend income from financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss is
recognised in the income statement as part of other
income when the Group’s right to receive payments
is established.
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POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.10 Financial assets (continued) 210&WEE (E)
2.10.2 Recognition and measurement (continued) 2102 AR E (#)
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Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-
monetary securities classified as available-for-sale
are recognised in other comprehensive income.

When securities classified as available for sale are
sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value
adjustments recognised in equity are included in the
income statement as gains and losses from
investment securities.

Interest on available-for-sale securities calculated
using the effective interest method is recognised in
the income statement as part of other income.
Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments
are recognised in the income statement as part of
other income when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.

2.10.3 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable
right must not be contingent on future events and
must be enforceable in the normal course of business
and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy
of the company or the counterparty.

2.10.4 Impairment of financial assets

(@)  Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each
reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired and
impairment losses are incurred only if there is
objective evidence of impairment as a result of
one or more events that occurred after the
initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’)
and that loss event (or events) has an impact
on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or group of financial assets that
can be reliably estimated.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.10 Financial assets (continued)

2.10.4 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(@)

Assets carried at amortised cost (continued)
Evidence of impairment may include
indications that the debtors or a group of
debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments, the probability that they
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation, and where observable data
indicate that there is a measurable decrease
in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions
that correlate with defaults.

For loans and receivables category, the
amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of
the asset is reduced and the amount of the
loss is recognised in the income statement. If
a loan or held-to-maturity investment has a
variable interest rate, the discount rate for
measuring any impairment loss is the current
effective interest rate determined under the
contract. As a practical expedient, the Group
may measure impairment on the basis of an
instrument’s fair value using an observable
market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised
(such as an improvement in the debtor’s
credit rating), the reversal of the previously
recognised impairment loss is recognised in
the consolidated income statement.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.10 Financial assets (continued)

2.10.4 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

2

(®)

Assets classified as available-for-sale

The Group assesses at the end of each
reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. For debt
securities, the Group uses the criteria referred
to in (a) above. In the case of equity
investments classified as available-for-sale, a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of the security below its cost is also
evidence that the assets are impaired. If any
such evidence exists for available-for-sale
financial assets, the cumulative loss —
measured as the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less
any impairment loss on that financial asset
previously recognised in the income statement
— is removed from equity and recognised in
the income statement. Impairment losses
recognised in the income statement on equity
instruments are not reversed through the
income statement. If, in a subsequent period,
the fair value of a debt instrument classified as
available-for-sale increases and the increase
can be objectively related to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised in the income statement, the
impairment loss is reversed through the
income statement.

2.11 Financial liabilities
2.11.1 Recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are
classified as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss, financial liabilities carried at amortised
cost, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.
The Group determines the classification of its
financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of financial liabilities carried at
amortised cost, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.11 Financial liabilities (continued)

2.11.1 Recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade, notes
and other payables, derivative financial instruments,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, and
convertible bonds.

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

@

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss include financial liabilities held for trading
and financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of
selling in the near term. This category includes
derivative financial instruments entered into by
the Group that are not designated as hedging
instruments in hedge relationships as defined
by IAS 39. Separated embedded derivatives
are also classified as held for trading unless
they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held
for trading are recognised in the income
statement. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the income statement does not
include any interest charged on these financial
liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition at fair value through profit or loss
are designated at the date of initial recognition
and only if the criteria in IAS 39 are satisfied.
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e MBRRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.11 Financial liabilities (continued)

2.11.1 Recognition and measurement (continued)

2

(®)

(©

Annual Report 2014

Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost
After initial recognition, interest-bearing
financial liabilities are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in the income statement when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan
facilities are recognised as transaction costs
of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down.
In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-
down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of
the facility will be drawn down, the fee is
capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the
Group are those contracts that require a
payment to be made to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because the specified
debtor fails to make a payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract is
recognised initially as a liability at its fair value,
adjusted for transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contract at
the higher of: (i) the amount of the best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle
the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period; and (ii) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.11 Financial liabilities (continued)

2.11.2 Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the income statement.

2.11.3 Convertible bonds

If the conversion option of convertible bonds is an
equity instrument, the host of convertible bonds is
recognised as a financial liability in the statement of
financial position, net of transaction costs. On
issuance of convertible bonds, the fair value of the
host liability component is determined using a
market rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond;
and this amount is carried as a financial liability on
the amortised cost basis until extinguished on
conversion or redemption. The remainder of the
proceeds is allocated to the conversion option that
is recognised and included in shareholders’ equity,
net of transaction costs. The carrying amount of the
conversion option is not remeasured in subsequent
years. Transaction costs are apportioned between
the liability and equity components of the convertible
bonds based on the allocation of proceeds to the
liability and equity components when the
instruments are initially recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.11 Financial liabilities (continued)
2.11.3 Convertible bonds (continued)

TEETBERME (&)
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If the conversion option of convertible bonds is not
an equity component, it is bifurcated from the host
liability component and separately accounted for as
a derivative. Redemption rights are also embedded
derivatives and accounted for together with
conversion option as a single derivative. On initial
recognition, the derivative component of the
convertible bonds is measured at fair value and
presented as part of derivative financial instruments.
Any excess of proceeds over the amount initially
recognised as the derivative component is
recognised as the host liability component.
Transaction costs are apportioned between the
host liability and derivative components of the
convertible bonds based on the allocation of
proceeds to the host liability and derivative
components when the instruments are initially
recognised. The portion of the transaction costs
relating to the host liability component is recognised
initially as part of the liability. The portion relating to
the derivative component is recognised immediately
in the income statement.

When the convertible bonds with an equity
component are extinguished before maturity through
an early redemption or repurchase by the issuer in
which the original conversion privileges are
unchanged, the consideration and transaction costs
paid for the redemption or repurchase is allocated to
the liability and equity components of the instrument
at the date of the transaction. The method used in
allocating the consideration paid and transaction
costs to the separate components is consistent with
that used in the original allocation to the separate
components of the proceeds received when the
convertible instrument was issued. The difference
between the carrying amount of the liability
component and the liability component from the
allocation of consideration and transaction costs paid
for the redemption or repurchase is recognised in the
income statement, whereas the difference between
the carrying amount of the equity component and the
equity component from the allocation of
consideration and transaction costs paid for the
redemption or repurchase is recognised in equity.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESTBRMEGE)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.12 Derivative financial instruments 212 TS T A
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date PTETAERFIZTET AR Y HEK
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently AABEVLER  HEEEAAE

112

re-measured at their fair value.

(@)

(b)

Initial recognition and subsequent
measurement

The derivative financial instruments of the Group
represent the conversion option and redemption
option bifurcated from the host contract of
convertible bonds. These derivative financial
instruments are initially recognised at fair value on
the date on which a derivative contract is entered
into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value.
Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value
is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is
negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair
value of derivatives are taken directly to the income
statement.

Classification

Derivative financial instruments that are not
designated as effective hedging instruments are
classified as current or non-current or separated
into current and non-current portions based on an
assessment of the facts and circumstances (i.e., the
underlying contracted cash flows).

Embedded derivatives that are not closely related to
the host contract are classified consistently with the
cash flows of the host contract.

2.13 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average method. The cost of finished goods and work in
progress comprises direct materials, direct labour, other
direct costs and related production overheads (based on
normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable
selling expenses.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.14 Trade and other receivables

TEETBERME (&)

2.14 FEWERT & H fth FE U ZR 18

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are
classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as
non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less allowance for
impairment.

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand,
demand deposits and short-term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and
have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, and are not restricted as to use.

2.16 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

2.17 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of
business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified
as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if
longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Annual Report 2014
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax
The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the lax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
places where the Company’s subsidiaries and
associate operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill, the deferred income tax is not accounted
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.
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e MBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.18 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b)

(c)

Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on
taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries and an associate except
for deferred income tax liability where the timing of
the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled
by the Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Generally the Group is unable to control the reversal
of the temporary difference for associates. Only
where there is an agreement in place that gives the
Group the ability to control the reversal of the
temporary difference not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries and an associate only to
the extent that it is probable the temporary
difference will reverse in the future and there is
sufficient taxable profit available against which the
temporary difference can be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income taxes assets and
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention
to settle the balances on a net basis.

2.19 Employee benefits
2.19.1 Retirement benefit schemes

Annual Report 2014

Obligatory retirement benefits in the form of
contributions under defined contribution retirement
schemes administered by local government
agencies are charged to the income statement as
incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.19 Employee benefits (continued)

2.19.1 Retirement benefit schemes (continued)

The PRC subsidiaries of the Company participate in
defined contribution retirement plans. All employees
of these companies are entitled to an annual
pension equal to a fixed proportion of the average
basic salary amount within the geographical area.
The subsidiaries are required to make contributions
to the local social security bureau at rates ranging
from 20% to 21% of the previous year’s average
basic salaries within the geographical area where
the employees are under employment. The Group
has no obligations for the payment of pension
benefits beyond the annual contributions as set out
above. The contributions are charged to the income
statement as they become payable.

The Group also operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all
employees of the companies in Hong Kong who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of
the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to
the income statement as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed to the MPF Scheme.

As stipulated by the Indonesia State regulations, the
Indonesian subsidiaries of the Company participate
in a defined contribution retirement plan namely the
Day Old Assurance Program (the “DOA Program”)
for all employees in Indonesia who are eligible to
participate in the DOA Program. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the income
statement as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the DOA Program.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBEBE(E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.19 Employee benefits (continued) 219 EEER (&)

2.19.1 Retirement benefit schemes (continued) 2191 ERARBRIEHE (4F)

As stipulated by the Singapore State regulations,
the Singaporean subsidiaries of the Company
participate in a defined contribution retirement plan
namely the Central Provident Fund (the “CPF
Scheme”) for all employees in Singapore who are
eligible to participate in the CPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of
the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to
the income statement as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the CPF Scheme.

2.19.2 Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment
is terminated by the Group before the normal
retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts
voluntary redundancy in exchange for these
benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits
at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises costs
for a restructuring that is within the scope of IAS 37
and involves the payment of termination benefits. In
the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy, the termination benefits are measured
based on the number of employees expected to
accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the end of the reporting period are
discounted to their present value.

2.19.3 Employee leave entitlements

Annual Report 2014

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.19 Employee benefits (continued)

2.19.4 Share-based payments

(@)

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions

The Company operates an equity-settled,
share-based compensation plan, under which
the entity receives services from employees
as consideration for equity instruments
(options) of the Company. The fair value of the
employee services received in exchange for
the grant of the options is recognised as an
expense. The total amount to be expensed is
determined by reference to the fair value of
the options granted:

o including any market performance
conditions (for example, an entity’s
share price);

o excluding the impact of any service and
non-market performance vesting
conditions (for example, profitability,
sales growth targets and remaining an
employee of the entity over a specified
time period); and

° including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement
for employees to save).

Non-market performance and service
conditions are included in assumptions about
the number of options that are expected to
vest. The total expense is recognised over the
vesting period, which is the period over which
all of the specified vesting conditions are to be
satisfied.

In addition, in some circumstances employees
may provide services in advance of the grant
date and therefore the grant date fair value is
estimated for the purposes of recognising the
expense during the period between service
commencement period and grant date.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.19 Employee benefits (continued)

2.19.4 Share-based payments (continued)

(@)

(b)

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions (continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options
that are expected to vest based on the non-
marketing performance and service
conditions. It recognises the impact of the
revision to original estimates, if any, in the
income statement, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net
of any directly attributable transaction costs
are credited to share capital (nominal value)
and share premium.

Share-based payment transactions among
group entities

The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to the employees of
subsidiary undertakings in the Group is
treated as a capital contribution. The fair value
of employee services received, measured by
reference to the grant date fair value, is
recognised over the vesting period as an
increase to investments in subsidiaries
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to
equity in the Company’s financial statements.

2.20 Borrowing costs
General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the income
statement in the period in which they are incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.21 Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor), are charged to the income statement on a
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

2.22 Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied
with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is
recognised as income on a systematic basis over the
periods that the costs, which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to “Other long-term payables” and is released to
the income statement over the expected useful life of the
relevant asset by equal annual instalments or deducted
from the carrying amount of the asset and released to the
income statement by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.

2.23 Provisions

Provision for environmental restoration, restructuring
costs and legal claims are recognised when: the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount
has been reliably estimated. Restructuring provisions
comprise lease termination penalties and employee
termination payments. Provisions are not recognised for
future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBEBE(E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.24 Contingent liabilities 224 FREE

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations that arise
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence of one or more future events
not wholly within the control of the Group. Where it is not
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability.

2.25 Revenue and income recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable
for goods supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and
value added taxes. The Group recognises revenue when
the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when it
is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the
entity; and when specific criteria have been met for each
of the Group’s activities, as described below. The Group

SARBEREACHEE ZEFMARES]
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WP SERTE  RAREER 2 Hﬁ—fﬁé/ﬁf

AER: RAKEEBEEHHATEE
BGRER(MIXHL)  AEERS
R AEEGRBEE AE
BEFEL XZBHIRBRARH

bases its estimates of return on historical results, taking BB EL B R{EET -

into consideration the type of customer, the type of

transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

(a) Sales of goods (a) SHEEm
Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the EEYNERNOFREERER
risk and reward of the goods has been transferred F(REAEBRERBRRFLRN
to the customer, which is usually at the date when a EmEH) BFEEMESR U

group entity has delivered products to the M EZEZFEMNERNART
customer, the customer has accepted the products, B E R - BRI E S
and there is no unfulfilled obligations that could o

affect the customer’s acceptance of the products.

(b) Interestincome (b) FEWA
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion B U AME A B B F AL B
basis, using the effective interest method. LEBIEAETER

2.26 Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s
financial statements in the period in which the dividends
are approved by the Company’s shareholders or board of
directors, as appropriate.

2.26 RE 7Kk
AARRRRR DR B EERSER
AABERIEZTS (RAEERME)
HER S Z IR ARANEE R AR E
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.27 Exceptional items
Exceptional items are disclosed and described separately
in the financial statements where it is necessary to do so
to provide further understanding of the financial
performance of the Group. They are material items of
income or expense that have been shown separately due
to the significance of their nature or amount.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks including foreign exchange risk, price risk, cash flow
and fair value interest-rate risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk. The Group’s overall risk management policy focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance. The Directors review and agree policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised
below.

(@) Foreign exchange risk
The Group mainly engaged in the international trade
of ores, sale of iron and special steel products with its
operating entities mainly located in Hong Kong, PRC
and Singapore with most of the transactions settled
in HK$, Renminbi (‘RMB”), and US dollars (‘US$”).

Foreign exchange risk arises when future
commercial transactions or recognised financial
assets or liabilities are denominated in a currency
that is not the entity’s functional currency. The
Group is exposed foreign exchange risk from
various currencies, primarily with respect to RMB.

At 31 December 2014 and 2013, if Hong Kong
dollar/US$ had weakened/strengthened by 2%
against RMB, with all other variables held constant,
there would be no significant impact on the results
of the Group.

Given the exchange rate peg between HK$ and
USS$, it is not foreseen that the Group will be
exposed to significant exchange rate risk for the
transactions conducted in US$.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Annual Report 2014

Price risk

The Group is exposed to commodity price risk in
relation to its products which is largely dependent
on market price of the relevant commodity. The
Group closely monitors the price of its products in
order to determine its pricing strategies.

The Group is also exposed to price risk in fair value
of conversion rights of its 8% Coupon Convertible
Bonds. A movement of the stock price of the
Company will be accompanied by a change in the
fair value of the conversion rights which will affect
the liabilities of the Group.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market
interest rates. The Group’s interest rate risk arises
from borrowings. Borrowings obtained at floating
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk while borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

At 31 December 2014, if interest rates had been
100 basis points higher/lower with all other variables
held constant, post-tax loss for the year would have
been approximately HK$1,659,000 (2013:
HK$2,810,000) higher/lower, mainly as a result of
higher/lower interest expense on floating rate
borrowings. The Group has not used any interest
rate swaps for speculative purpose.

Credit risk

The carrying amounts of trade and other
receivables, deposits, pledged time deposits, and
bank balances represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial
assets.

For trade and other receivables, the Group has put
in place policies to ensure that sales of products are
made to customers with an appropriate credit
history. The Group performs periodic credit
evaluations of its customers and takes appropriate
follow-up actions to recover overdue debts.

3
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(d)

(e)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group’s historical experience in collection of
trade and other receivables falls within the recorded
allowances and the Directors are of the opinion that
adequate provision for uncollectible trade and other
receivables has been made in the consolidated
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2014 and 2013, substantially all
bank deposits and balances are placed with major
financial institutions located in Hong Kong, PRC and
Singapore which management believes are of high
credit quality. Management does not expect any
losses arising from non-performance by these
counterparties.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s primary cash requirements have been
for the payments for purchases and operating
expenses. The Group finances its working capital
requirements mainly through funds generated from
operations, and external bank and other
borrowings. As at 31 December 2014, the
Company and the Group had net current liabilities
of HK$1,167,241,000 and HK$2,358,297,000,
respectively. The directors of the Company have
taken certain measures to mitigate the liquidity
pressure as detailed in Note 2.1(a). Management
will also closely monitor the situation to ensure that
appropriate alternative actions are taken.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 $RiEMREE (&)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 eREREZE (E)
(e) Liquidity risk (continued) (e) REBELER (HF)

All of the Group’s financial liabilities are contractually
due for settlement within 12 months except for its
borrowings which is analysed below into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining period
at the end of the financial reporting period to the
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed
below are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

B EREHREANEHA
B RIERF 20 R ERE 2 B4R Bl &Y
BN  ARBEAA SR AEN

BHR12ERARNEE - RIR
BRRENENSERENT -

Group
by
Between  Between
On Less than 1and 2 2and5

demand 1 year years years Total
EZREER DM E 122F 285 @t
HK$'000  HK$000 HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
TR TR TR TR TR

As at 31 December 2014 R-E-m&E+=-A=+-AH
Convertible bonds AR ES 143,925 - - - 143925
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 1,518,087 896,930 - - 2415017
Trade payables JEfT BRI 124,286 - - - 124,286
Notes payables ERER - 797,528 - - 797,528

Financial liabilities included in STARMENTIER

other payables and accruals EREENEHAR 149,995 103,646 - - 253641
1,936,203 1,798,104 - - 3,734,397

As at 31 December 2013 R=E-=F+=-B=1-H
Convertible bonds AR ES - 10895 184,299 - 195,194
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE - 1,261,284 882,090 64,514 2,207,888
Trade payables JETER 184,566 = = - 184,566
Notes payables [EREE = 587,614 = = 587,614

Financial liabilties included in STARMEMNFER
other payables and accruals ERaENSRAE 153493 139,330 = - 292823
338,059 1,999,123 1,066,389 64,514 3,468,085
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 2 REMEE (&)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 eREREZE (E)
(e) Liquidity risk (continued) (e) HREBELEAR(E)
Company
PN
Between  Between
On Less than 1and2 2and 5
demand 1 year years years Total
EEkEE JIME 1228 2Z5F #it
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$°000
TEx T T T THT
As at 31 December 2014 R-E-NE+=A=1+-H
Convertible bonds BRES 143,925 - - - 143,925
Bank and other borrowings RIREMEE 956,132 - - - 956,132
Trade payables FETBR R 3,850 - - - 3,850
Financial liabilties included in STARMERFRER
other payables and accruals ENEENERAE 13,487 - - - 13,487
1,117,394 - - - 1,117,3%
As at 31 December 2013 R-B-=%+=-fA=1-A
Convertible bonds AR ES - 10895 184,299 - 195194
Bank and other borrowings RIIREMEE - 440314 602,302 - 1,042,616
Trade payables JETER 3,850 - - - 3,850
Financial liabilities included in STARMERHER
other payables and accruals ERaENERas 17,522 - = = 17,522
21,372 451,209 786,601 - 1,259,182
3.2 Capital management 3.2 EXERE
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to AEEEBEAZ FEBIZARER
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going SEHERESE  NEERRRRM
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and B - WAHMERETE AL R -
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal ERNERREERNEBAREESK
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. PN
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the REFIABRERER  A5ENE
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to FARSTATFRENBRELE MKRE
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new BREER - BITHEMD  KLEEE
shares or sell assets to reduce debt. LU AMERS ©
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3
3.2 Capital management (continued)

3.2 EXEER)

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is
calculated as total borrowings (including current and non-
current “bank and other borrowings”, “notes payables”
and “convertible bonds” as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position) less cash and cash
equivalents and pledged time deposits. Total capital is

calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the consolidated

MEMAR K AREAERNER
RIEREREANEE - EXRER
R BEIRFEMR ABE RN ERE o
ERFRZAER (BREAMBAN
KB 2 mE M IFRE [IR1T R EMtE
Bl [ERANZERE] R [AHRBRES )R
EZRSLREFEYREEATERF
Rt 8 - EXRBELGE AW BIRR K
el [HEa ] I EEIRFERETHE

statement of financial position plus net debt.

2014 2013

—E-NEF —E—=F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

THET FHATT

Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 2,273,465 2,081,625

Notes payables ENESE 797,528 587,614

Convertible bonds, the liability component AR EEFNEEISD 143,925 129,182
Less: Cash and cash equivalents and B BHe RReEED

pledged time deposits AR B AR EERTE R (1,018,824) (913,015)

Net debt BIRF5 2,196,094 1,885,406

Total equity TR 1,394,377 2,817,977

Total capital BER 3,590,471 4,703,383

Gearing ratio BARBEHE 61% 40%

REBE-_F-OFE+-_A=+—H1L
FE HRAFEERSBTRDEH
BEARAELERET -

The increase in gearing ratio for the year ended 31
December 2014 is mainly a result of the decrease in total
equity for the year.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
instruments carried at fair value as at 31 December 2014
by level of the inputs to valuation techniques used to
measure fair value. Such inputs are categorised into three
levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

° Inputs other than quoted prices included within level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is,
derived from prices) (level 2).

° Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).

As at 31 December 2014 and 2013, the Group and the
Company did not have any financial instruments that are
carried at fair value except for the derivative financial
instruments.

At 31 December 2014 and 2013, the conversion rights of
the Company’s and the Group’s 8% Coupon Convertible
Bonds (2013: 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds), together
with redemption rights (considered as a single derivative),
classified as derivative financial instruments of
HK$84,373,000 (2013: HK$21,652,000) was measured
under level 3 of fair value hierarchy. The fair value was
valued by estimating the value of the whole bond with and
without the embedded derivatives. Changes in level 3
financial instruments for the years ended 31 December
2014 and 2013 are detailed in Notes 25 and 26.

The most significant inputs in determination of the fair
value of conversion rights of the 8% Coupon Convertible
Bonds (2013: 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds) are market
price of the Company’s ordinary shares, discount rate,
and volatility rate of market price of the Company’s
ordinary share.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS
Estimates and judgments used in preparing the financial
statements are continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.

(a) Going concern consideration

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, apart from those involving estimations,
management has prepared the consolidated financial
statements on the assumption that the Group will be able
to operate as a going concern in the coming year, which
is a critical judgement that has the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
The assessment of the going concern assumption
involves making a judgement by the Directors, at a
particular point of time, about the future outcome of
events or conditions which are inherently uncertain. The
Directors consider that the Group has the capability to
continue as a going concern and the major events or
conditions, which may give rise to business risks, that
individually or collectively may cast significant doubt upon
the going concern assumption are set out in Note 2.1(a)
to the consolidated financial statements.

(b) Impairment of an exclusive offtake right

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for its exclusive offtake right at the end of
each reporting period. When an impairment test is
undertaken, management judgement and estimates are
required in determining suitable valuation factors in the
impairment test. The recoverable amount could change
significantly as a result of changes in the key assumptions
adopted in assessing the recoverable amount including
discount rate, estimation of market prices of nickel and
iron, expected export volume from the supplier and
domestic sales volume, and other risk factors related to
the exclusive offtake right.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

Impairment of an exclusive offtake right
(continued)

In determining the recoverable amount of the exclusive
offtake right, the Directors also made reference to
proposed transaction price of the relevant asset. Outcome
of any proposed transaction and the final consideration
may differ from the amount originally estimated.
Completion or non-completion of proposed transaction
may also result in significant change in recoverable
amount of the exclusive offtake right and therefore
impairment charge for the period when such judgment
and estimate have been changed.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill and an exclusive offtake right)

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. The recoverable
amounts have been determined based on value-in-use
calculations or fair value less costs to sell. These
calculations require the use of judgements and estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area of asset
impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event
has occurred that may indicate that the related asset
values may not be recoverable; (i) whether the carrying
value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable
amount, being the higher of fair value less costs to sell
and net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset in
the business; and (i) the appropriate key assumptions to
be applied in preparing cash flow projections including
whether these cash flow projections are discounted using
an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected
by management in assessing impairment, including the
discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the net present
value used in the impairment test and as a result affect
the Group’s financial condition and results of operations.
If there is a significant adverse change in the projected
performance and resulting future cash flow projections, it
may be necessary to take further impairment charge to
the income statement.
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4

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (CONTINUED)
(d) Contingent liabilities

(e)

A contingent liability will be disclosed when a possible
obligation has arisen, but its existence has to be
confirmed by future events outside the Group’s control, or
when it is not possible to calculate the amount.
Realisation of any contingent liabilities not currently
recognised or disclosed could have a material impact on
the Group’s financial position.

The Group reviews significant outstanding litigations in
order to assess the need for provisions. Among the
factors considered are the nature of the litigation, legal
processes and potential level of damages, the opinions
and views of the legal counsels and advisors, and the
management’s intentions to respond to the litigations. To
the extent the estimates and judgements do not reflect
the actual outcome, this could materially affect the results
for the period and the financial position.

Amortisation of an exclusive offtake right
Amortisation of the exclusive offtake right is made based
on the actual limonitic ore purchased during the period
over the total planned purchase volume during the
contractual period. The estimation of the total planned
purchase volume requires management judgement and
estimates. It could change significantly as a result of
market demand for nickel-based products, technical
innovations, reserve of the mine, the ability of the miner in
meeting the demand and other relevant factors.
Management reviews the total planned purchase volume
at least annually, and adjusts the amortisation calculation
accordingly.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (CONTINUED)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on
the historical experience of the actual useful lives of
property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. It could change significantly as a result of
technical innovations and competitor actions in response
to severe industry cycles. Management will increase the
depreciation charge where useful lives are less than
previously estimated lives, or it will write off or write down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have
been abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ
from estimated useful lives and actual residual values may
differ from estimated residual values. Periodic review
could result in a change in depreciable lives and residual
values and therefore depreciation expense in the future
periods.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal. These
estimates are based on the current market condition and
the historical experience of selling products of similar
nature. It could change significantly as a result of changes
in customer taste or competitor actions in response to
severe industry cycles. Management reassesses these
estimates at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of prepayments, deposits and
receivables

Impairment of prepayments, deposits and receivables is
made based on assessment of the recoverability. The
identification of bad and doubtful debts requires
management judgement and estimates. Provision is made
when there is objective evidence that the Group will not
be able to collect the debts. Where the actual outcome or
expectation in future is different from the original estimate,
the differences will impact the carrying values of these
assets and impairment is recognised in the period in
which such estimate has been changed.
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ReMBRRME

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (CONTINUED)

4

(i)

@)

Fair value of derivative financial instruments

As described in Note 25, the convertible bonds contain a
number of derivative financial instruments that are
measured at fair value through profit or loss. The
Company engaged an independent appraiser to assist it
in determining the fair values of these derivative financial
instruments. The determination was based on generally
accepted valuation procedures and practices that rely
extensively on the input of numerous assumptions taking
into consideration of many uncertainties, including risk
free interest rate, discount rate, dividend yield and volatility
of the Company’s share price, some of which cannot be
easily quantified or ascertained. Changes in subjective
input assumptions can materially affect the fair value
estimate.

Current and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in various
jurisdictions. Judgment is required in determining the
provision for income taxes in each of these jurisdictions.
There are transactions and calculations during the
ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income
tax and deferred income tax provisions in the period in
which such determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which the temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised. When the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred income
tax assets and taxation charges in the period in which
such estimate is changed.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4 FHESTHHERHE (&)

JUDGMENTS (CONTINUED)

(k) Share-based payment transactions (k) ARG FZRS
The Group measures the cost of equity-settled AREBHESHTIUBRESNZZS
transactions with employees by reference to the fair value AN ThRBERET BREH A AR
of the equity instruments at the date at which they are ZAREBETE B AABER
granted. Estimating fair value requires determining the BAENEHZ G R EHEETE LR
most appropriate valuation model for a grant of equity BITAEEBREMmEER  NEET
instruments, which is dependent on the terms and ZEEERFEGAZEREER -
conditions of the grant. This also requires determining the BEZWEE KB RREER - WE
most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including TEH BRI RR -

the forfeiture rate, the volatility and dividend yield and
making assumptions about them.

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 pITER
For management purposes, the Group has one reportable MEEER  AEBERE @A 2REL D
operating segment: the trading of ore and the manufacturing 2 A E DA R EEMEEE KR
and sale of iron and special steel products. Management e BREHNEREE REWETZRER
monitors the operating results of its business units as a whole B BESEKE T2 KEKEEE—E
for the purpose of making decisions about resources allocation FEREGEITE IR o

and performance assessment.

Geographical information ih 5 & B
(@ Revenue from external customers (a) REFE=AFEFzWZH
2014 2013
—2-mF —E—=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THExT FETT
Mainland China RIEipN 175 288,203 1,437,490
Singapore s 32,413 94,735
Hong Kong &k - 102,556
Taiwan ae 15,787 =
Others Hith - 389
336,403 1,635,170
The revenue information above is based on the locations A EZWABRTERE RS Z B
of the customers. =)
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5

Geographical information (continued)
(b) Non-current assets

DEBER (4E)
b i3 & B (48)
(b) FRBEE

2014 2013
—F—mF —T=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

Tz FHIT

Mainland China elEip N7 1,375,396 2,583,979
Indonesia ENFE 2,385,048 2,472,079
Others Hh 2,366 44,400
3,762,810 5,100,458

NEZERBEEBR NERZETEE
ZHIBUE - W BIEEERIREE -

The non-current asset information above is based on the
locations of the assets and excludes deferred tax assets.

FEEFER

I 3% #9189,666,0008 L ( = & — = F :
1,033,787,000787T) & 154,305,000 70 (=
T — =4 : 863,270,000 7T) T3 RIIJR B A
EE-ABRFERAEBRATEZHEE -

Information about major customers

Revenue of approximately HK$189,666,000 (2013:
HK$1,033,787,000) and HK$154,305,000 (2013:
HK$863,270,000) was derived from sales to the Group’s three
largest customers and the Group’s largest customer,

respectively.
6 REVENUE AND OTHER GAINS, NET 6 WHEkHEMBFFE
2014 2013
—ZE—F T =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE&T T
Revenue =
Sale of goods: HE :
Limonitic ores BT 52,111 1,493,930
Stainless steel products 855 8 EE 171,913 19,446
Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot (238 A S 5T 50,335 79,517
Ferro-nickel alloys and others REE S REAM 62,044 42,277
336,403 1,635,170
Other gains, net Hth BRI FE
Changes in fair value of derivative MTEERIEAAEE
financial instruments boa) 19,832 46,688
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE MEARK
equipment, net ZEEFE (702) (6,723
Foreign exchange (losses)/gains, net ER (B518), /B %8 (2,357) 3,725
Others HAib 2,082 4,787
18,855 49,477
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ReMBRRME

7 LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 7 BRFEIEHAIESE

The Group’s loss before income tax is stated at after charging/

AEEBRAEHABRENR, (GTA) T

(crediting) the following: 217 :
2014 2013
—E-mF —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 7 FiExT F&7T
Costs of inventories sold BEEFEKRA 480,485 1,509,493
Employee benefits expense EERMAX 9 69,603 88,140
Research expenses R 2,801 28,262
Auditor’s remuneration Z B B &
— Current year — KEE 3,950 3,800
— Under-provision in prior year — BEFERBETR 1,113 =
Depreciation e 14 116,454 133,836
Amortisation of prepaid land lease TEf T 0 FE & IR 5
payments 15 5,078 5,374
Amortisation of intangible asset BV EERH 16 3,243 111,114
Minimum lease payments under BEEFREE2LE
operating leases in respect of ME s HEHEENK
buildings and equipment 7,969 7,818
Provision for impairment losses of FERERBEEE
inventories 20 19,481 88,765
Provision for impairment of properly, Yz - B KB RE
plant and equipment e 14 597,392 726,185
Provision for impairment of prepaid FE L ERIE R E
land lease payments* B 15 - 20,713
Provision for impairment of trade FEU R FUR B Bt
receivables*® 21 16,405 16,298
Provision for impairment of TE AR FRIE AN E M FE U
prepayments and other receivables* RIBRBERE 7,306 11,592
Provision for legal claims* ERRERE 13,029 -
Provision for impairment of loan to ERFT—HBELRZ
an associate B 18 56,975 -
Included in other expenses HAEARES

PERERERAR AR

“E-MEFERE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ReMBRRME

8

FINANCE COSTS, NET 8 mMERAFH
2014 2013
—F-mF —F =%
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B &E FEx FHETT
Finance income RERA
Interest income on time deposits TE B RF B A 21,193 5,242
Gain on restructure of convertible bonds and ~ AI#REH RELES
senior bonds BHAZWE 123,886 -
Unwinding of discount on receivables arising & —KKI B A FIEE
from disposal of a subsidiary FEWUTRIE 2 IR (B HE 2] - 12,493
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 145079 17785
Finance costs R A
Interest on bank and other borrowings, AR AFRBEEE 2T
wholly repayable within five years ERREMEEF S (311,962) (238,594)
Interest on convertible bonds —Hﬁﬁxﬁ%}ﬂ,u 25 (36,628) (42,333)
Acceleration of unwinding interest on FE QB4R AR R ES
convertible bonds and senior bonds RERES 2 FIBEE
due to events of default 24(g) (210,671) -
_________________________________________________________________________________________ (559,261) (280.927)
Finance costs, net B AR AFEE (414,182) (263,192)
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (INCLUDING 9 REEFEFBEX(BEESHM)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)
2014 2013
—E2-mE —F =
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Salaries %’%E 62,620 76,400
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RKEFET SRR
and other costs R E AR AR 7,163 8,656
Equity-settled share-based compensation ARG E 2 k(D
expense (Note 32) HERZ ([:E32) (180) 3,084
69,603 88,140
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9 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (INCLUDING 9 EEFFEX(BEEESEHM) (E&)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ remuneration (@) EE=ME
The remuneration of each of the directors of the Company BHE—_Z—NWE+_-_A=+—HIE
for the year ended 31 December 2014 is set out below: B NARIZRE=EENHF NI -
Salaries, Retirement
allowances Equity-settled benefit
and benefits  share option scheme Total
Fees in kind expense contributions remuneration

¥ oRE  AREXfZ BIEN
e  REWER  BREREX EIE 8 ans
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FiEx FiEx FiER FERn

Executive Directors: WIESE:
Mr. Dong Shutong (Chief executive) ~ EZ@5% 4 (HEHTE) - 3,513 - 17 3,530
Mr. Chiang Shyh-yi (Note (i) BEEEE () - 1,167 - - 1,167
Mr. Dong Chengzhe Eiya - 1,126 - 9 1,135
Mr. Song Wenzhou RN - 408 - - 408
Mr. Yang Fei BREE - 852 - 17 869
Mr. Wang Ping (Note (i) T84 (Rt (i) - 500 - - 500
Mr. Yin Sheping (Note (i) FAE S (B i) - 350 - - 350
Non-executive Director: FRTES:
Mr. Yang Tianjun Nyt 200 - - - 200
Independent Non-executive Directors: B I/ TES -
M. Bai Baohua ARELE 200 - - - 200
Mr. Huang Changhuai BEMELA 200 - - - 200
Mr. Wong Chi Keung BrufE 200 - - - 200
Mr. Fahmi ldris FREE 200 - - - 200
1,000 7,916 - 43 8,959
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9 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (INCLUDING 9 EERAIRX(BREEEHH) (E)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (CONTINUED)

(@) Directors’ remuneration (continued) (a) E=ESEE (E)
The remuneration of each of the directors of the Company BE_ZT—=F+=-A=+—HL*F
for the year ended 31 December 2013 is set out below: B KABZESENHFMENET -
Salaries, Retirement
alowances  Equity-settled benefit
and benefits ~ share option scheme Total
Fees in kind expense  contributions  remuneration
oo 2l DRESfZ RINGER
we  REDRT  BRERX SRR ame

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT TAT THT THT

Executive Directors: HIES:
Mr. Dong Shutong (Chief executive) ~ EZ@EA4 (BRHITE) - 3,493 - 15 3,508
Ms. Ng See Wai Rowena (Note (v)) ~ REBER L (HizE (v) = 1625 637 13 2,275
Mr. Chiang Shyh-yi (Note () BEELA () = 2925 - - 2,925
Mr. Dong Chengzhe EHELE = 1,215 119 = 1,334
Mr. Song Wenzhou M5 - 404 119 - 523
Mr. Yang Fei BREE - 846 119 15 980
Non-executive Director: FRTEE
M. Yang Tianjun BABEE 200 - - - 200
Independent Non-executive Directors; BV IFH{TES
Mr. Bai Baochua ARERE 200 - - - 200
Mr. Huang Changhuai BEHLE 200 - - _ 200
Mr. Wong Chi Keung VA G 200 - - _ 200
Mr. Fahmi lolris EREE 200 - - - 200
1,000 10,508 994 43 12,545
Notes: B3
i) Mr. Chiang Shyh-yi resigned from 1 June 2014 (i) BrEAEE =T —WFNA— BT -
(ii) Mr. Wang Ping was appointed on 10 October 2014 (ii) FEEEE-T—NFE+A+BRERE -
(i) Mr. Yin Sheping was appointed on 10 October 2014 (i) FHFEEEE T —NF+A+ABESR
£ -
(v)  Ms. Ng See Wai, Rowena resigned from 1 January 2014 vy REBEZTEZT—WF—A—HEHE-
During the year ended 31 December 2014, no Director or HE_Z—NE+-_A=+—HILHF
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any emolument; B HMEEENERENTE WEXR
and no emoluments were paid by the Group to the BERETAME  TEESBEMA
Directors or chief executive as an inducement to join or SR AN 2R &= B 3k 1 4 B B 4 B T ER
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of AEBSYNAESHIEERNTE 2 M
office (2013: Nil). S (—TE—=F:E)o
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9 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (INCLUDING

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (CONTINUED)

(b) Five highest paid employees
The five highest paid employees during the year included
two directors (2013: three directors), details of whose
remuneration are set out in note (a) above. Details of the
remuneration paid and payable to the remaining three
(2013: two) highest paid employees who are neither a
director nor chief executive of the Company are as

9

BEEANFAX (BREESHFH) &)

(b)

TEBREHESR
AEERLERSFEEREMEBES
TE=F =ZREF) %FEES
ZHENZ BRI EXH ()
ENEEMNSRT=2(ZF—=F 'MW
BB ARREENIFEARBERFH
TENREHEEHMOFENT

follows:
2014 2013
—ZT—MmF —F—=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
T FAETT
Salaries, allowances and e EEREYER
benefits in kind 4,003 2,795
Equity-settled share option expense VARG #E S2 1+ 2 B AR A A 2 - 398
Retirement benefit scheme RN ET B3R
contributions 34 15
4,037 3,208
The emoluments of the aforementioned individuals fell Fi A THENE T3 & E
within the following bands:
2014 2013
—E-mF —T—=fF
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7L £ 1,500,000/8 7T 3 1

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

1,500,001 7 7T & 2,000,000 78 7T

No emoluments have been paid to the five highest paid
individuals (including Directors and other employees) as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office (2013: Nil).
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10

INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which the Group’s
entities are domiciled and operate.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), the Group is not subject to
any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

The applicable Hong Kong profits tax rate of the Company, and
its subsidiaries, which operate in Hong Kong, is 16.5 % (2013:
16.5%).

The applicable income tax rate of the Group’s Singaporean
subsidiary, CNR Group Holdings Pte. Ltd. (‘CNR Singapore”), is
17% (2013: 17%). Effective 1 July 2013, CNR Singapore has
been granted to a tax concessionary rate of 10% as it was
awarded Global Trader Programme (“GTP”) status by
International Enterprise Singapore for a period of five and a half
years from 1 July 2013 to 31 December 2018. Subsequent to
the year end in February 2015, CNR Singapore withdrew its
GTP status to minimise its compliance costs.

The subsidiaries of the Company incorporated in Indonesia are
subject to a single income tax rate of 25% (2013: 25%).

According to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, the
applicable income tax rate of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries is

10 FrE®t

AEEAREREERELIFNAREE
R R Mo A8 & P 7 RARE IR B0t A U PR 1S
i e

REFEHERRBREZEEER LA -
AEERRERENEBRLES ([REBRE
LEE ) BABMERMEH -

ARRRHERBBEEZWNBRRIEREE
FEMBER16.5%(ZT—=F : 16.5%) °

7N £ B FT b Bt B8 A B CNR Group Holdings
Pte. Ltd. ([CNR¥T I3 ) BB A B HBE
B1IT% (ZE—=F :17%) c BT —=F
+ A—B#E - CNR AR M FEpR %
BREETHIRIKE S ([GTP)) B a]
REBREA0%MAN - HRE =T —=Ft
A—BRZE-ZZE-N\F+_A=+—Hit#
FFEZTAEAR -FXRE RZT—HF=
A CNRITINEHIEECGTPERUKES
KA EE R o

RN R ENE FE P ar s Ak Sz 2 B 8B A 778
25% (ZE—=4F : 26%) 2 E—FriSHiHn
RENFTSHL ©

REFBELEMETE - NEE &+ BEH B
RAAFREZBERAEHRER25% (=F

25% for the year (2013: 25%). —=4F : 25%) °
2014 2013
—E—mF —E—=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 7E FExT FHIT
Current income tax: BVEAFTIS AL
— Singapore — F - 27,875
— Others — Hip - 44
(Over)/under-provision in prior years BAFE (BREEE),
BETR
— Mainland China — HR B Rk (13,872) (149)
— Singapore — ¥ 1,856 -
Deferred income tax EEFTS R 19 811 (2,731)
Income tax (credit)/expense FTiesi (&) Fx (11,205) 25,043
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INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 10 Fri5% (&)

The tax charge on the Group’s loss before income tax differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted
average tax rate applicable to results of the group companies
as follows:

R ER B R P 1S T AT B R RO B AS 5 S B B IR
ERANKERRFENIEFOREAERF
HAER SRR - BT

2014 2013

—Z—NF —E =%

HK$’000 HK$'000

FH&T F&7T

Loss before income tax BRETIS TR EE (1,465,418) (1,340,463)
Tax calculated at the applicable statutory BEARBERAEAERETE

tax rates of respective companies 2RI (334,411) (328,867)

Tax effect of: THSIBRIETE

Effect attributable to an associate FER —EBE AR e 4,368 2,229

Income not subject to tax BERBUA (25,242) (12,505)

Expenses not deductible for tax DB 238,586 233,349

Over-provision in prior years WA FEHBREREE (12,016) (145)

Tax losses not recognised KRR TAE S 117,510 130,982

Income tax (credit)/expense TSR (3 R) Fx (11,205) 25,043

The applicable income tax rate of the Group was 22.8% for the
year ended 31 December 2014 (2013: 24.5%). The change is
caused by a change in the relative results of the Group’s
subsidiaries in the respective countries.
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12

13

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS
OF THE COMPANY

The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2014 is dealt with in the financial
statements of the Company to the extent of HK$1,462,250,000
(2013: profit of HK$77,922,000) (Note 31).

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2014 (2013: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

Basic

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the loss
for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
2,568,086,775 (2013: 2,527,602,083) in issue during the year.

Diluted

The calculation of the diluted loss per share for the year ended
31 December 2014 is based on the loss for the year attributable
to equity holders of the Company, adjusted to reflect the
interest on and change in fair value of the derivative component
of the convertible bonds and share options. The weighted
average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the
weighted average number of the ordinary shares in issue during
the year, as used in the basic loss per share calculation, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to
have been issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise
or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into
ordinary shares.

Diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per share for
the years ended 31 December 2014 and 2013 because the
impact of dilution of the convertible bonds and share options is
anti-dilutive.
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HE - Z-—MWFE+-A=t—HIFE K
NAETFBEABRBMEEBEIER ZEIE
1,462,250,0008 7L( = & — = & : &
77,922,000 7T ) B R AN A &) B 75 R N R
12 (MI5E31) °

iz 5
EEZETEAETRBAE_ZT-—WF+_-A
=t HEFEZREERE(ZF—=
&)

BREE

B=9:N
BREXEBIRIEARNA RERSEA AENL
FEBEARFREEHTL @R 2 NEFHK
# B02,568,086,775K( = T — = F:
2,527,602,083 f%) 5+ & o

e
BE_Z—NFE+_A=+—RILFEZSE
BEEERRBEARREERE ARESE
FEEAE - W EH AR AR AT HRAE S
TETARMY RBREAAEEZS 2T
B rEMAZ ERRMNEFARBRFA
ERTEBR MO (RAESR
EXBEMERE)  ARBRRABEE
BEERREATERER ST RRIRE
B A BT BB FIRRE -

HE-_ZT—NWFEER=-ZTE—=F+=-A=1+—
HILFE  ARABRRESFZBESTERE
RiEFEBRES WBREEEESNS
R EAEE -
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ReMBRRME

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 Y% BERRE

Group rEE
Freehold land Plant and Office  Motor vehicles  Construction in
and buildings machinery equipment and others progress Total
KAER
THhREF R R WAZRE RER AL ERIR b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL THT TAT TATL ThL TAL
Cost: A :
At 1 January 2013 RZE—=%-F—-H 447,867 1,507,433 27,358 83,620 1,472,706 3,538,984
Additions NE 1,034 1,645 1,191 978 150,335 155,178
Transfers b3 27,946 98,476 126 - (126,548) -
Disposals RE (11,531) (7,766) (53) (1,556) - (21,106)
Exchange realignment ERER 28,967 25,7192 1,012 2,077 40,218 98,066
At 1 January 2014 R=E-ME—HF—H 494,283 1,625,580 29,434 85,114 1,536,711 3,771,122
Additions NE 3,118 2,178 176 - 21,301 26,773
Transfers ] - 9,842 - - (9,842) -
Disposals RE (24,691) - (8,002) (25,930) (13,299) (71,922)
Exchange realignment Efzd (1,574) (5,450) (59) (187) (5,205) (12,475)
At 31 December 2014 RZE-ME+=A=1—H 471,136 1,632,150 21,549 58,997 1,529,666 3,713,498
Accumulated depreciation: BiHRE:
At 1 January 2013 R=Z-=%-f-H 99,134 657,991 12,880 42,833 - 812,838
Depreciation bl 19,134 105,837 4,104 4,761 - 133,836
Disposals RE 8,791) (4,829) (253) @ - (13,875)
Exchange realignment EHER 11,715 11,321 886 980 - 24,902
At 1 January 2014 R=E-mF—Hf—H 121,192 770,320 17,617 48,572 - 957,701
Depreciation E 16,739 91,372 3,014 5,329 - 116,454
Disposals RE (2,390) - (2,667) (14,997) - (20,054)
Exchange realignment Bz (309) (112) (39) (99 - (559)
At 31 December 2014 RZZ2-ME+=A=1+-A 135,232 861,580 17,925 38,805 - 1,053,542
Accumulated impairment losses: 23t EEFE :
At 1 January 2013 W-Z—=%—f—H - - - - 151,874 151,874
Charge for the year AEELH 103,278 15,418 202 338 606,949 726,185
Exchange realignment EXESR 1727 228 3 5 5277 7,240
At 1 January 2014 RZZ-mE—A—-A 105,005 15,646 205 343 764,100 885,299
Charge for the year AEEYH 171,365 57,928 6 54 368,039 597,392
Exchange realignment ERER (92) (66) ) @ (577) (738)
At 31 December 2014 RZZ2-ME+=A=1+—-A 276,278 73,508 210 395 1,131,562 1,481,953
Net carrying amount: REFE:
At 31 December 2014 RZZ-ME+=A=1—H 59,626 697,062 3414 19,797 398,104 1,178,003
At 31 December 2013 W=E-=#+-A=1-A 268,086 839,614 11,612 36,199 772,611 1,928,122
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ReMBRRME

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14 Y5 - WERRE (&)

(CONTINUED)

Group (continued)

At 31 December 2014 and 2013, certain of the Group’s
buildings and plant and machinery were pledged to secure a
bank loan granted to the Group (Note 24(a)).

As at 31 December 2014, the carrying amounts of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment and prepaid land lease payments
by major cash generating units, are analysed as follows:

AEE (&)

R-B-—NER_F-—=F+-A=1+—
A AKEETEFRMERE LS C HRRE
AL EERIRITE R (M 24() HOE Y -

R-ZB-—NE+_A=+—8" x&EY
% BELRBALAN DB ERERE
ERGELEMED ZREEINMAT

Zhengzhou Lianyungang
Plants Plant Others Total
BB JN R = EZERE Hit At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET TR THET THET
Property, plant and W - B RFE
equipment 549,502 602,455 26,046 1,178,003
Prepaid land lease TEfS L EFRIE
payments 3,333 197,535 - 200,868
Total BET 552,835 799,990 26,046 1,378,871

Impairment assessment — Zhengzhou Plants

As a result of the continuous unfavourable operating
environment experienced in the steel industry, the Group’s
manufacturing and sales of iron and steel products operations
in Zhengzhou (the “Zhengzhou Plants”) were temporarily
suspended since March 2013 and had only been operating
intermittently throughout the year 2014. The directors of the
Company considered it as an impairment indicator and carried
out an impairment review on property, plant and equipment and
the related prepaid land lease payments of Zhengzhou Plants
(Note 15).

Based on the results of the assessment, the recoverable
amounts of property, plant and equipment and the related
prepaid land lease payments of Zhengzhou Plants were
determined to be HK$549,502,000 and HK$3,333,000
respectively, and therefore an impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment of Zhengzhou Plants of HK$312,921,000
has been recognised in the consolidated income statement for
the year ended 31 December 2014.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)
Group (continued)
Impairment assessment
(continued)

The recoverable amounts of the property, plant and equipment
and the related prepaid land lease payments have been
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations included applying certain assumptions in preparing
cash flows projections for the cash generating unit. In preparing
these projections, the Directors assumed that, amongst other
factors, business performance of the Zhengzhou Plants can be
gradually improved during the projection period as a result of
improving operating environment and by launching new
products and seeking new orders from new customers with
improved gross margins. The discount rate used in measuring
value-in-use was 21.1% (2013: 17.2%), which is pre-tax and
reflects the specific risks relating to the business.

— Zhengzhou Plants

As at 31 December 2014, if the gross margin has been 1 %
higher/lower, or the discount rate used had been 1% lower/
higher, impairment charge would have been approximately
HK$56 million lower/higher and HK$32 million lower/HK$30
million higher respectively.

Impairment assessment — Lianyungang Plant

During the year ended 31 December 2014, due to the
continuous decrease in nickel price and the unfavourable
market condition of nickel related products, which is the main
business engaged by the Group’s manufacturing plant in
Lianyungang (the “Lianyungang Plant”), management upheld its
decision to postpone the commencement of Lianyungang
Plant’s operation until year 2017. The directors of the Company
considered it as an impairment indicator and carried out an
impairment review on the property, plant and equipment and
the related prepaid land lease payments of Lianyungang Plant
(Note 15).

Based on the results of the assessment, the recoverable
amounts of property, plant and equipment and the related
prepaid land lease payments of Lianyungang Plant were
determined to be HK$602,455,000 and HK$197,535,000
respectively, and therefore an impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment of Lianyungang Plant of HK$249,671,000
has been recognised in the consolidated income statement for
the year ended 31 December 2014.
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ASEH ()
HERNG — BMNEE ()

E Y ﬁlfx(&ﬁfﬁfﬁﬁiflﬂﬁiﬁ
Bz Al b ERERAEERERNE - %5
STEARERRIBEEEABM 2B RIEA
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ReMBRRME

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14 Y5 - WERRE (&)

(CONTINUED)

Group (continued)

Impairment assessment — Lianyungang Plant (continued)
The recoverable amounts have been determined based on the
value-in-use calculations. The discount rate used in measuring
value-in-use was 19.7% (2013: 17.5%), which is pre-tax and
reflects the specific risks relating to the business.

As at 31 December 2014, if the projected sales volume applied
to the cash flow projection had been 5% higher/lower, the
discount rate used had been 1% lower/higher, or the
commencement of Lianyungang Plant’s operation had been
further postponed to year 2018, impairment charge for the year
would have been approximately HK$50 million lower/higher,
HK$68 million lower/HK$62 million higher and HK$79 million
higher, respectively.

Others

The Group also recognised impairment loss of HK$34,800,000
(2013: Nil) in respect of certain equipment which has been idle
for the year pending repair and modification before they can be
put into for further use.

As at 31 December 2014, the recoverable amount of the
relevant equipment amounting to HK$22,323,000, which was
determined by the Directors based on their fair value less costs
to sell with reference to the available market price as adjusted
for its existing condition.
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ReMBRRME

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 Y% -  BEKRRE(E)
(CONTINUED)
Company b /N

Freehold land

and buildings
outside Office
Hong Kong equipment Total
BRUIMEE
ZKAERE
T REF MOERE et
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET FHBT
Cost: BAE :
At 1 January 2013 W_Z—=%—H—H 24,691 2,362 27,053
Additions NE = 151 151
At 1 January 2014 R-—ZE—MFE—HF—H 24,691 2,513 27,204
Additions N - 6 6
Disposals BE (24,6091) - (24,691)
At Dzganizar 2014 R=Z-RET-—A=t—H T 2519 2,519
Accumulated depreciation: B2iHIE
At 1 January 2013 RWZE—=%—H—H 1,514 1,192 2,706
Depreciation e 457 547 1,004
At 1 January 2014 WZZE—W&E—HF—H 1,971 1,739 3,710
Depreciation e 419 515 934
Disposals BE (2,390) - (2,390)
ALST Dzcemios” 2014 o REETREYCASTOA T 2254 2,254
Net carrying amount: BREHE
At 31 December 2014 R-E—NE+-_A=+—H - 265 265
At 31 December 2013 R=—F—=%+-F=+—AH 22,720 774 23,494
As at 31 December 2013, the Group’s and the Company’s RZB—=F+-_A=+—H  AEEKEAKX
freehold land and buildings included freehold land located NAEIZ KAKET W REFRIEFERIME
outside Hong Kong of HK$13,252,000. As at 31 December B13,252,000 870 Z K A ERETH o R
2014, there was no freehold land held by the Group or the —WFE+=—A=+—H  AEEHARF]L
Company. BB ERDKAERELM
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ReMBRRME

15 PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

15 FANLTHEERKIE

Group
KE
2014 2013
—F-M0F —T—=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B aE F&T F&7T
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZERmE 206,558 226,293
Amortisation for the year F N 7 (5,078) (5,374)
Impairment losses recognised for the year F R E M2 REEIE 7 - (20,713)
Exchange realignment P& 5 =58 (612) 6,352
Carrying amount at 31 December Rt+-—A=+—H2
BRTEE 200,868 206,558
Less: Current portion included in B FTATERFRIA
prepayments, deposits and R R E A I
other receivables FRIE 7 BNERER 22 (4,450) (4,465)
Non-current portion FEBNEAEE > 196,418 202,093
Analysed as: DT
Held on lease of between BFERH B AERE -
10 and 50 years in Mainland China NFE10FZE504F 200,868 206,558
Held on lease of between BERENEHE -
10 and 50 years in Indonesia (Note) NF10FEEE0F(MsE) - =
200,868 206,558

At 31 December 2014, the Group’s leasehold land situated in
Mainland China with a net carrying amount of HK$200,868,000
(2013: HK$206,558,000) were pledged for bank loans granted
to the Group (Note 24(a)).

Note:

The Group holds a leasehold land in Indonesia with carrying amount of
HK$5,090,000 as at 31 December 2013. During the year ended 31 December
2013, the Group reconsidered the location and the surrounding infrastructure of a
future plant which was planned to situate on the leasehold land and decided to
relocate such future plant to another area in Indonesia. As the existing leasehold
land is unlikely to be used by the Group in the foreseeable future and the
saleability of the land is uncertain, an impairment loss of HK$5,090,000 has been
made as at 31 December 2013.
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PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 15 FANL#BEERIE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Impairment assessment ARG
As at 31 December 2013, management carried out a review of R-E—=F+—"A=+—H BEEEZEH
the recoverable amount of its property, plant and equipment, Hy BMELEEULRBENA T IEETIE
and prepaid land lease payments. The review has resulted in ZAE 45 - BIERENGER  KEEF
the recognition of an impairment loss on a piece of leasehold 50N R /) — 18 AR fiiﬂgﬁ@ S5 {8 g5 18
land in the Zhengzhou Plants of HK$15,623,000. Details of the 15,623,000/ 7t R - — W%+ — A
impairment assessment on the Group’s prepaid land lease =+—H AKEEMNLTHHEERIE 2 RE
payments as at 31 December 2014 are disclosed in Note 14. FHEFF B 143K 5 o
INTANGIBLE ASSET 16 EFEEE
Group
rEH
2014 2013
—F-mEF —F=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&T FHIT
Exclusive offtake right BREEE
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZEREEE 2,387,786 2,498,900
Amortisation B4y (3,243) (111,114)
Carrying amount at 31 December R+—A=+—BZEEEEA 2,384,543 2,387,786
Amortisation of intangible asset has been included in cost of B EEHIHE R AHEEMAE -
sales.
In May 2007, the Group secured an exclusive offtake right from RZZBZELFRA  AEEES—RERHE

PT. Yiwan Mining (“Yiwan”), a limited company incorporated in
Indonesia, whereby Yiwan agreed to exclusively sell the limonitic
ores produced by Yiwan to the Group at a fixed price of US$16
per dry tonne for a period of approximately 14 years. In
September 2008, the term of the exclusive offtake right was
extended to 29 years expiring on 24 January 2036.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, a number of
Indonesian governmental authorities promulgated several new
rules and regulations regarding ores export approval and export
tax. Yiwan obtained the ore exporter status (“the Status
Approval”) and the ore export approval (the “Export Approval”)
on 13 June 2012 and 27 June 2012, respectively. The Status
Approval is valid for two years while the Export Approval is valid
for a period of three months from the date of their respective
issuance, and Yiwan can re-apply for the Status Approval and
the Export Approval before their respective expiry dates.
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INTANGIBLE ASSET (CONTINUED)

Pursuant to the new export tax regulation promulgated by the
Ministry of Finance of Indonesia (the “MOF”) on 16 May 2012, a
20% export tax (the “Export Tax”) would be imposed on the
limonitic ores exported from Yiwan to the Group. The Export
Tax is calculated based on the base price published by the
MOF periodically. The Export Tax will be borne by the Group.

According to the recommendation letter issued by the Minister
of Mineral and Coal on 25 June 2012 to the Minister of
Commerce which granted the Export Approval to Yiwan, the
export price of limonitic ores to be sold by Yiwan to the Group
shall be US$23.5 per dry tonne (excluding the Export Tax) (the
“New Export Price”) instead of US$16 per dry tonne.

On 10 January 2013, Yiwan issued a letter of undertaking to the
Group. Without any prejudice to the terms of the exclusive
offtake right, Yiwan irrevocably and unconditionally undertakes
that, if at any time during the term of the exclusive offtake
agreement, the Group requests the iron ores to be delivered to
the Group’s subsidiaries located in South Kalimantan, Indonesia
for production, Yiwan will adjust the purchase price of such iron
ores under the exclusive offtake right to US$10 per dry tonne.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the relevant
Indonesian governmental authorities further promulgated that
unprocessed ore export by mining business licence holders in
Indonesia (“IUP Holders”) would be banned from 12 January
2014 onwards unless the IUP Holders have carried out
processing and refining domestically according to the relevant
regulations regarding implementation of activities of business of
minerals and coal mining and have conducted refining and
smelting in accordance with those relevant laws. Consequently,
the export of unprocessed iron ores from Yiwan to the Group
ceased with effect from 12 January 2014.

All of the rights, interest, title and benefits of the exclusive
offtake agreement is pledged in favour of DB Trustees (Hong
Kong) Limited as security trustee for and on behalf of the
bondholders of the Senior Bonds and the Convertible Bonds
(Notes 24 and 25).
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INTANGIBLE ASSET (CONTINUED) 16 \EILEE (&)
In determining the recoverable amount of the intangible asset EETR T NF+_-_A=+—HHERE
as at 31 December 2014, the Directors, amongst other BEMKEE%3EE B TZ2EEMEZEI
considerations, made reference to the disposal consideration EE2RAEFEBYE -t REER T
as stipulated in a non-binding framework agreement entered T——F— A -+ HIIZNTELYRNIE
into between the Group and Beijing Wincapital, an independent BRI HERE  RIBZIEZRRZE
third party, on 21 January 2013, pursuant to which the Group AEBHELREREEENEFEEDN
proposed to dispose of 30% equity interest in SEAM to Beijing 30% AR - REBAHAREWOEET -
Wincapital at a consideration of approximately RMB900 million FERMFE21@  EFBREERENER
as detailed in Note 2.1(a). SEAM, together with its subsidiaries, ATEREEAEIEENBAERER it
are mainly engaged in the trading of ores and held the HWEFEE MEEREBTEIIYIRE
aforementioned intangible asset of the Group. Although no EE ANEERBARBBAETLEEN
formal sales and purchases agreement has been entered into FEEEREE EFRA R-ZE—NFE+—
up to date, as the disposal consideration in discussion B=+—H K BFEEVERE -
substantially exceeds the attributable carrying amount of the
intangible asset, the Directors are of the opinion that there is no
impairment of the intangible asset as at 31 December 2014.
INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 17 RE AR ZEzm
Company
PN
2014 2013
—E-mF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ExT T4
Unlisted investments, at cost FEEHEE - A ARETE 303,966 303,966
Advances to subsidiaries B AR Z B 4,048,426 4,186,371
Less: provision for impairment B ORERE (1,799,504) (591,289)
2,552,888 3,899,048

Advances to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and are
regarded as capital contributions, which include contributions in
respect of equity-settled share-based compensation of
HK$18,357,000 (2013: HK$16,154,000).

PERERERAR AR

HB AR R REEEKE EERKR AT
ZE BEBRUBRELEE 2RO FERE
18,357,000/ ;T ( — & — = 4 : 16,154,000
BIT) °
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ReMBRRME

17 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
All subsidiaries of the Company were incorporated/established
as limited liability companies. Particulars of the Company’s
principal subsidiaries are as follows:

17 RHE AR zE= ()
ARAFFRAMEAREMRL RIBER
RF] e ARAEEMBARZFHBMOT -

Nominal value of Percentage of equity
Place of incorporation issued shares/ interest attributable to
Name of companies and place of operations paid-up capital the Company Principal activities
BRTRH/ ERAEERARER
NG SRR E £ BRREZEE AL TEEH
Direct Indirect
E# G}
Infonics International Limited (“Infonics”) British Virgin Islands/ US$10,001 100 - Investment holding
(TInfonics ) Hong Kong 10,001 %7 REER
RBATEE/BE
China Special Steel Holdings Cayman Islands/ US$1 - 100 Dormant
Company Limited Hong Kong E Eid
HEERERER AT AR/ Bk
SEAM British Virgin Islands/ US$100 = 100 Trading of ore
HERE Hong Kong 1007 BRES
RERUHE/BA
Fully Lead Global Investments Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$1 - 100 Investment holding
ERBEREEERAT Hong Kong 1% REER
RBRIES/BE
CNR Group Holdings Pte. Ltd. Singapore US$400,000 - 100 Trading of mineral ores
A 400,000% 7T and steel products and
investment holding
Bh HEREHR
REZR
Bilchart Maritime Pte. Ltd. Singapore US$2,000,000 - 51 Provision of shipping
HR 2,000,000% T services
REMERT
PT. Mandan Steel Indonesia IDR131,264,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
Hfe ENE & 131,264,000,000 RAER
PT. Batulicin Steel Indonesia US$50,000,000/Nil - 61 Investment holding
Hfe 50,000,000%7,/% REAER
Zhengzhou Yongtong Special Steel Co., PRC RMB674,680,000 = 100 Manufacture and sale of
Ltd. (*Yongtong Special Steel’) H AR 674,680,000 T special steel products
B EERERAR (@) HERRERHER
Zhengzhou Yongtong Alloy Metals Co., PRC RMB3,000,000 = 95 Trading of scrap steel
Ltd. (“Yongtong Alloy Metals’) H AR 3,000,000 7T BERE S

BB EMHARAT
(x@ace))
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17 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 17 RARE ARz (&)

Nominal value of Percentage of equity
Place of incorporation issued shares/ interest attributable to
Name of companies and place of operations paid-up capital the Company Principal activities
BRTRG/  AAREERARS
DEER ALK E R BRREZEE AL TEXH
Direct Indirect
E# B}

Zhengzhou Xiangtong Electricity Co., Ltd. PRC RMB10,000,000 = 100 Generation and sale of
(“Xiangtong Electricity”) HE AK¥10,000,000 7T electricity

BN RETERAA(HREE)) AERHERD

Zhengzhou Yongtong Fully Lead Trading PRC RMB66,600,000 = 100 Trading of mineral, steel
Co., Ltd. (“Yongtong Fully Lead”) HE AR 66,600,000 7 and electronic products

BN BERE HBRATF & HEETERES
(Ik@exl)

Henan Yongtong Stainless Steel Products PRC RMB266,000,000 = 100 Manufacturing and trading of
Co., Ltd. (formerly known as: HE AR 266,000,000 70 special steel products
Henan Yongtong Nickel Co., Ltd) HEREERHER
(“Yongtong Stainless Steel”)

AEABTEREREBRAR (A
AEKkREFAERAR)(KBTHH])

Lianyungang East Harvest Minerals PRC US$127,000,000 = 100 Trading of mineral ores
Company Limited (‘East Harvest HE 127,000,000% T and steel products and
Minerals”) investment holding

EEBRXBERERAT BARAERE S
(IREBER]) RBEER

Lianyungang City East Harvest Mining PRC RMB390,000,000 = 100 Trading of iron and steel
Company Limited (“East Harvest Mining”) HE AR 390,000,000 products

EEATRXBEARAA HEERE S
(TREB%])

Lianyungang Hongnie International PRC US$12,860,000/ = 100 Trading of iron and steel
Trading Company Limited H US$4,019,422.5 products
(*Hongnie Trading’) 12,860,000% 70,/ HEERE S

EEELRERE SRR 4,019,422.5% T
(TREBER])

Henan Jiakun New Materials Technology PRC RMB100,000 = 100 Sale of metallic new
Co., Ltd. (‘Henan Jiakun’) a AR#100,0007C materials
(THenan Jiakun ) HESBIME

MEFH R RERAR ((FERE])
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INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

18

18 R—EBEQTz2ER

Group
rEE
2014 2013
—E-IF —E-=fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F&T FAT
Share of net assets FEhEEFRE - 26,474
Loan to an associate =& il 1) /NC] 56,975 56,975
Less: provision for impairment of loan to B BT — R E AR
an associate (Note 7) 2R ERAE (EET) (56,975) -
— 83,449

Loan to an associate is unsecured, interest free and is not

expected to be settled within one year.

Particulars of the associate are as follows:

EXT—RHEER
TerE—FREE

Percentage of

AIREER - RERFEH

ownership
Particulars interest
of issued Place of attributable to
Name shares held incorporation the Group Principal activity
rEBERL
£ FREERTROFE  dEMALEE FEEZE L TEXER
Full Harvest 15,500 Ordinary shares Republic of Seychelles 47.42%  Investment holding
Development Limited of US$1 each EHRLA REER
ERERARAA 15,500 ik G AR E 1A
1ETZEBR

Annual Report 2014

China Nickel Resources Holdings Company Limited 155



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ReMBRRME

18

156

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (CONTINUED) 18
Set out below is the summarised financial information of the
Group’s associate which is accounted for using the equity
method.

R—EEE AR 2 E=® ()
AT HE R E AR A EEB L AR
ZEBERBE

Group
AREE
2014 2013
—ZE—F —T—=%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Non-current assets ERBEE - =
Current assets MENEE - 120,398
Non-current liabilities EREBEE - -
Current liabilities mEAE 120,104 92,480
Revenue e - =
Loss and total comprehensive loss FAFELEZEEE
for the year (note) #EE (M EE) (156,534) (8,340)
Note: BiaE -

During the year, impairment loss on certain receivables of HK$157,105,000 was
made by the associate as the amounts have been overdue and the recoverability
of these receivables are uncertain. In view of the result of the associate, the
directors of the Company consider that the loan to the associate is not likely to be
recoverable and therefore a provision for impairment of HK$56,975,000 was
made as at 31 December 2014.

The information above reflects the amounts presented in the
financial statements of the associate (and not the Group’s share
of those amount) adjusted for differences in accounting policies
between the Group and the associate, if any.

PERERERAR AR

FA - BT REKGRIE 2R EEE 157,105,000 4 7T 2 B
BARMEL - AEECEY - M ERERBFBEES K

MBS R REH 2 ERTAR L E - Bk =T —
F+=A=+—REHRRERER56,97500087T

BRERRRREEARMBEHRREINZE
B(MEARERIGEZEHE)  YERAEE
KBS RR 2 FNEERRER (WB) Ei

B -
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19 DEFERRED TAX 19 ELEHIEA
The movements in the deferred tax assets and liabilities during FRNECHBEBEENRBEESHNOT :

the year are as follows:

Deferred tax assets EEBBEEE
Group
rEE
2014 2013
—E—mF —E—=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHIT
Unrealised profit on inventories BEZREHHEF
At 1 January n—HA—H 1,932 889
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to the RERERA SR (308R),
consolidated income statement T AZIBEEFLIE (FizE10)
during the year (Note 10) (811) 1,016
Exchange realignment MEHERE (6) 27
At 31 December Rt+—-—A=+—H 1,115 1,932
Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carry forward AR EIEMERNRECHIBEERE
to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit PRI B B < BT 5578 7] 885 i 2R PR E AR A
through future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December BEHMERONH RZTE—NWF+=A
2014, the Group had unrecognised tax losses to be carried =+—H FANEEBRERYLEEAKER
forward against future taxable income amounted to 2 FE FR T8 M A B 75 75 15 18 491,349,616,000
approximately HK$1,349,616,000 (2013: HK$865,982,000). I (=T — =4 : 865,982,000/ 7T) - B
These tax losses have no expiry date except that approximately T 7% BT 48 491,269,018,0008 T (—ZE— =
HK$1,269,018,000 (2013: HK825,954,000) will expire in the F : 825,954,000 L) @8N AK—ZERFA
next one to five years. E|HRSN - SR ER B E BN AEEIEE -
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19 DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

19 EERIE ()

158

Deferred tax liabilities EEBEAEE
Group Company
RE KA F]
2014 2013 2014 2013
—®-mE —T-=F —B-mF —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FBxT TFET FET FETT
Accelerated depreciation  HNiEITE
At 1 January n—HA—H 3,043 - 1,715
Deferred tax credited to the FRF AW R ZIRIE
income statement during I (BI5E10)
the year (Note 10) - (1,715) - (1,719)
Exchange realignment b =5 4) 41 - -
At 31 December R+-_A=+—H 1,369 - -

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in
the PRC. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is
therefore liable to withholding taxes on dividends distributed by
those subsidiaries established in the PRC in respect of earnings
generated after 31 December 2007 .

As at 31 December 2014 and 2013, no deferred tax liabilities
have been provided for in these consolidated financial
statements as there was no temporary difference associated
with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China.

PERERERAR AR

BRBEMCEMEHE - R EBEARKIZAIN
BRECEMINEREET KR EAR10%
BB - LR ER —_FTENF—A—H
RAER - @RAR_FTTLF+_A=1+—H
BREVAT o i HEINRIREE R BERER
RIABRGWE - AR EAEENRINHRE -
AEBERNHRER10% - Bt - AEEH
BEERRFEKNINZENBARAR _-ZEZ
TtF+ - A=+—HEEENEFFADIKE
B BB FER o

RZE—NFR_ZT—=F+_A=+—
B - AR B AN B IS I =
B W ERNRE SRR P ELRER A
BERE -
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20 INVENTORIES 20 ®E
Group
KEH
2014 2013
—E—WF —T—=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F&T FH&TT
Raw materials B 115,518 190,498
Work in progress Pt 3,301 3,643
Finished goods B TR 273,174 345,753
Spare parts and consumables B &S FEm 24,283 24,756
416,276 564,650
Less: provision for impairment losses B REE R (109,241) (90,050)
307,035 474,600
The movement of provision for impairment losses is as follows: REEERENES T
Group
rEE
2014 2013
—E—{F —E—=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FE T T
At 1 January m—A—H 90,050 19,336
Utilisation HFE (65) (19,652)
Impairment losses recognised FRERERBERESE (FHFET7)
for the year (Note 7) 19,481 88,765
Exchange realignment PEH =58 (225) 1,601
At 31 December R+-_HA=+—H 109,241 90,050
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21 TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES

21 BREZRREKRERS

Group

&
2014 2013
—2-mE —E=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt = FTHET FAT
Trade receivables FEU AR X @) 59,697 107,440
Notes receivables EWRE (b) 3,245 24,262
62,942 131,702
Less: provision for impairment losses B OREE B EE (39,694) (23,314)
23,248 108,388

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers and customers of limonitic
ores, where payment in advance is normally required. The credit
period is generally one to two months. During the year, the
Group generated its revenue from sales of ore and special steel
products to other steel producers, thereby exposing the Group
to concentration of credit risk in the steel industry. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over
these balances. Trade and notes receivables are non-interest-
bearing. The carrying amounts of trade and notes receivables
approximate their fair values.

AEBRETPZRGTEMEENAEE
HE—RERHEP RBEER S BN RIEA -
EEH-—RR—E=MEA - XFR - £EZ
Yo 2 8 1) HL At 5 0 B 2 8 S R S s 8
Em Bt AEEEERETEZEES
R o AN B A AR S R A AR
R EMEERE - BRERRMEKRER
PEREAE - YR S B U R 15 A B e B 5
HARBERS -

Notes: Bt E
(@)  Trade receivables (@) FEWERRX
An ageing analysis of trade receivables at the end of the reporting period, RIREHR  REEEHFE 2 BRRRZRR
based on the invoice date, is as follows: DT -
Group
&
2014 2013
—E—OF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FAT
Within 90 days 90 HMA 6,038 29,807
91 to 180 days 91 & 180H 1,649 9,785
181 to 365 days 181E365H 12,208 37,117
Over 1 year Bl —F 39,802 30,731
59,697 107,440

PERERERAR AR
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21 TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES 21 BUIRARREWRREE (&)
(CONTINUED) o
Notes: (continued) Btz - (48)
(a)  Trade receivables (continued) (a) BE'&REZ‘»'KH(Q!) N
The movements in the provision for impairment losses of trade receivables FEBERFUR BB EZ BT -

are as follows:

Group
rEE
2014 2013
—EB-OF —T—=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FTHERT FAT
At 1 January R—A—H 23,314 6,570
Impairment losses recognised for the year (Note 7) FREERRBERE (KE7) 16,405 16,298
Exchange realignment [ 5 =58 (25) 446
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8 39,694 23,314
As at 31 December 2014, trade receivables of HK$39,694,000 (2013: RZZE—MWME+-_A=+—8 ERER
HK$23,314,000) were impaired in full. The amount of the individually 39,694,000/ 7T ( =Z — =4 : 23,314,000/&JT)
impaired trade receivables mainly relate to customers that were in financial BERE - ERRERKERESEBEE S K HIE
difficulties. A majority of these receivables has been past due for over 1 BMBER#EZEE - KEHHZEKRFIBED BB
year. B4 o
The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are either not yet past due or I %38 B S N AR AR AE AU B 2 U AR R 2 BR R 9
not considered to be impaired is as follows: M :
Group
AEE
2014 2013
—E—OF —E—=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHT
Not yet past due 4 7 280 Hf 7,433 80,300
Past due but not impaired BB ERE
Within 90 days 90HA 1,649 263
91 to 180 days 91%180H 10,812 3,454
Over 180 days HBiA180 H 109 109
20,003 84,126
Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a number of 1] A% 380 5 7 L (B 2 FE ML SR RS R sl A S HB R A2
diversified customers for whom there was no recent history of default. B2 ZBDHEP -
Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to those ERHAEREZERFBEBSIRBLER @ 2%
independent customers that have good track record with the Group. BEPRAEBEBACGRT ERNBELR &
Based on past experience, the Directors are of the opinion that no EREAREEEEYEEANE  GREHD
provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as there BARERWE - REA A BARELRER
has not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are stil &

considered fully recoverable.
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21 TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES 21 EWERRRERERE (&)
(CONTINUED) o
Notes: (continued) Btz - (48)
(b) Notes receivables (b) }?E'&;ﬁ .
As at the end of the reporting period, the maturity period of the Group’s RE|BERR - NEBRKRRZ ERANT
notes receivables is as follows:
Group
EEW
2014 2013
—F-mE —F=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TR
Within 90 days 90 HA 2,841 22,994
91 to 180 days 91%=180H 404 1,204
181 to 365 days 1812365 H - 64
3,245 24,262
22 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 22 FAMNFIE - RERHMERFIE
RECEIVABLES
Group Company
REHE ¥ NN
2014 2013 2014 2013
—E-NFE —FT—= —E-NFE —FT-—=F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET THIT F#&xT T
Prepayments to Yiwan F8 1t Yiwan 2 FUE
(Note 36) (PfI5E36) 108,349 85,828 1,349 1,349
Prepayments to other TE H AR 2 FUIR
suppliers 5,394 25,237 - -
Other prepayments Hu a7 IE 2,240 4,813 315 1,171
Deposits and other BZa Rk EH A EUEIE
receivables 44,532 36,287 7,494 7,465
Receivable from disposal of ~ H{ & Kk A 34+ #1 &
freehold land and buildings B R FIE 21,620 = 21,620 =
Value-added tax recoverable — a] Y [B]3& (& Fi 67,980 56,916 - -
Current portion of prepaid AT HEERE 2
land lease payments BNEREB 5 (MI5E15)
(Note 15) 4,450 4,465 - -
254,565 213,546 30,778 9,985
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The carrying amounts of receivables and deposits approximate

their fair values.
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23 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 23 RERBAEESEYNCERESF
PLEDGED TIME DEPOSITS =
Group Company
AL RATE]
2014 2013 2014 2013
—E-mE -—T-=F —B-NF -—T—=£
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T F#&xT T
Cash and bank balances RN NIRTTARS 11,520 54,065 436 559
Time deposits TEHFR 1,007,304 858,950 13 18,285
1,018,824 913,015 449 13,844
Less: Pledged time deposits & : ARITEEZ
for bank loans BT TR
(Note 24(a)) (MI5E24(a)) (535,297)  (495,021) - —
Pledged time deposits BEEIRITERLEE
for issuing bank 2 B E Bl R
acceptance notes (M £ 28(b))
(Note 28(b)) (471,994)  (350,644) - -
Pledged time deposits BEEESK
for senior bonds and AR EZS 2
convertible bonds B E BT
(Notes 24 and 25) (BizE24 K 25) (13) (13,285) (13) (18,285)
Cash and cash equivalents ~ R& MBS ZEY 11,520 54,065 436 559

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short-term time deposits are made for
varying periods of between one day and three months
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group,
and earn interest at the respective short-term time deposit

rates.
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED TIME DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2014, the weighted average effective
interest rate of the Group’s time deposits was 1.18% (2013:
2.3%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2014, cash and bank balances and time
deposits of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
HK$3,744,000 (2013: HK$16,595,000) and HK$1,007,291,000
(2013: HK$845,665,000) respectively.

The bank balances and pledged time deposits are deposited
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. The
carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalents and the
pledged time deposits approximate their fair values.

RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Subsequent to 31 December 2014 and up to the date of
approval of the consolidated financial statements, pledged time
deposits totaling HK$428,698,000 and HK$470,492,000 have
been utilised to settle certain bank loans and notes payables
respectively, as disclosed in Notes 24(a) and 28.

PERERERAR AR

23

ReRASEEYPYNCEATHE
(&)

R-ZE—NWE+-_A=+—0 KAEEFH
TRMEFEHERFEFNEEB1.18%(=F
—=%:23%)°

RZZE—WF+_A=+—H8 ' KEEUA
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ReMBRRME

24 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 24 RITRHMEE
Group
A48
2014 2013
“E-MF —F-Z%
Contractual Contractual
interest Original interest Original

Notes rate (%) maturity ~ HK$'000 rate (%) maturity HK$'000
i RENEE)  REMA ThHx SRAFEw  REHHA THL

Current il
Current bank loans — unsecured ~~ MEIR{TE R — &8 () 6.6 2015 25352  56-100 2014 274,930
Other bank loan — unsecured HRTER - B8R (@ 8.68 2016 63,379 = = =
Current bank loans — secured HHEFTER - A () 2.25-7.99 2015 663,142  6.9-10.0 2014 165,346
Non-current bank loans with BIRERER 2 JHH
repayable on demand terms RITER — HEM
— secured (@) 2.46 2016 39,579 - - -
Other borrowings — unsecured HipEE — ®ER (b) 8.0-108.0 2014-2015 175,312 8.0-43.2 2014 338,370
Other loans HER @} 10.0-11.4  2014-2015 887,311 - - -
The 10% Coupon Senior Bonds 0% 2 S B%ES d - - - 100 2014 422,758
The 12% Coupon Senior Bonds ~ 12% 2 &B4% &% G} 120 2018 390,990 = = =
The Modified 10% CouponBonds ~ &(E:T10%2EEES () 10.0 2015 28,400 - - -
2,273,465 1,201,404
Non-current FENH
Bank loans — unsecured RITER - BER - - - 7.2 2016 63,59
Bank loans — secured BIER — FER (a) - - - 2.3-33 2015 466,665
Other borrowings — unsecured Hife s — &R (b) - - - 8.0 2015 19,375
Other loans L © - - - 100 2015 254,378
The 10% Coupon SeniorBonds ~~ 10% ZA S E%ES o) - - - 100 2015 55,011
The Modified 10% CouponBonds &£ T10%ZEEES () - - - 100 2015 21196
- 880,221
2,273,465 2,081,625
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ReMBRRME

24 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 24 R|ITRHMEE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Company
N
2014 2013
—F-mF =
Contractual Contractual
interest Original interest QOriginal

Notes rate (%) maturity HK$'000 rate (%) maturity HK$'000
W BEAZEC)  REHA T aRFE%w  RIHAE TAL

Current D
Current bank loans — secured MERTER - FER () 23-33 2015 466,666 = = =
Non-current bank loans with BIRERER 2 JHH
repayable on demand terms RITER - HEM
— secured (@) 2.46 2016 39,579 - - -
The 10% Coupon Senior Bonds ~~ 10% ZA S ELES @ - - - 100 2014 422,758
The 12% Coupon Senior Bonds ~ 12% ZEEBLES e 120 2018 390,990 = = =
The Modified 10% Coupon Bonds &3 10% ZEEES () 10.0 2015 28,400 - = =
925,635 422,758
Non-current FEEDER
Bank loans — secured FIEN - BER @ - - - 2.3-33 2015 466,665
The 10% Coupon Senior Bonds ~~ 10% 2 & B4 &% (d - - - 10.0 2015 56,011
The Modified 10% Coupon Bonds &£ T10% EEEESR () - - - 10.0 2015 21,196
- 542,872
925,635 965,630
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ReMBRRME

24 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 24 SRITRHEMEER (E)
(CONTINUED)
Analysed into: DNTHR ¢
Group Company
RE ¥ NN
2014 2013 2014 2013
—E-NE —FT—=F —E-@0mF —T—=
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET THIT TET TF&TT
Bank loans repayable: IRITEFCERE
On demand or within one RERS—FA
year (note (a)) (FF5E (@) 791,452 440,276 506,245 =
In the second year FE—F - 466,665 - 466,665
In the third year F=F - 63,596 - -
791,452 970,537 506,245 466,665
Other borrowings and other ~ HhfE & R H b &
loans repayable: B
On demand or within one BERY—F A
year (notes (b) and (c)) 5 (b) X (0) 1,062,623 338,370 - =
In the second year E_F - 273,753 - -
1,062,623 612,123 - =
The 12% Coupon Senior 12% ZmEBRES :
Bonds:
On demand (note (e)) LESRK(MFEE) 390,990 = 390,990 =
The 10% Coupon Senior 10% ZEEEBEES
Bonds:
Within one year —FR - 422,758 - 422,758
In the second year EF—F - 55,011 - 55,011
- 477,769 - 477,769
The Modified 10% Coupon FEFT10% ZE BEZ ¢
Bonds:
On demand (note (f)) BESRK (M) 28,400 = 28,400 -
In the second year FEF - 21,196 - 21,196
,,,,,, 28,400 21,196 28,400 21,196
2,273,465 2,081,625 925,635 965,630
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ReMBRRME

24 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a) Bank loans

(1) At 31 December 2014, the secured bank loans comprised: (i) a
bank loan of HK$63,379,000 (2013: HK$63,595,000) secured by
a number of leasehold land in Mainland China with net carrying
amounts of HK$156,561,000 (2013: HK$161,062,000); (i) a bank
loan of HK$63,379,000 (2013: HK$63,595,000) secured by a
parcel of leasehold land in Mainland China and buildings and plant
and machinery with aggregate net carrying amounts of nil (2013:
Nil) (Note 14), and guaranteed by Mr. Dong; and (i) loans from
three banks in a total of HK$506,245,000 (2013: HK$466,665,000)
secured by bank deposits of HK$535,297,000 (2013:
HK$495,021,000) (Note 23); and (iv) bank loans of HK$69,718,000
(2013: HK$38,156,000) secured by a number of leasehold land in
Mainland China with net carrying amounts of HK$44,307,000

(2013: HK$41,948,000).

) During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group failed to
meet certain obligations under the terms of the Modified 10%
Coupon Bonds, 12% Coupon Senior Bonds and the 8% Coupon
Convertible Bonds (see Notes 24(e), 24(f) and 25 for details), which
constituted an event of cross-default of certain secured bank loans
of HK$307,538,000 as at 31 December 2014, details of which
have been disclosed in note (g) below. As these borrowings are all
due for repayment within one year, the event of cross-default has

not resulted in their reclassification.

3) In addition, as at 31 December 2014, other loans of
RMB249,200,000 (equivalent to HK$315,883,000) from Gongyi
Jiahui Technology Promotion Service Centre LLP (“Gongyi Jiahui”)
was overdue, which constituted an event of cross-default of certain
secured short-term bank loans and certain unsecured bank loans
of HK$63,379,000 and HK$88,731,000 respectively, details of
which have been disclosed in note (g) below. It has resulted in the
reclassification of a non-current unsecured bank loan of

HK$63,379,000 as current liabilities as at 31 December 2014.

(4) Subsequent to the year end, the Group failed to make interest
payment on certain secured bank loans with principal amount of
HK$198,707,000 as at 31 December 2014. Together with the
events of cross-default as mentioned in (2) above, certain banks
requested the Group for settlement of secured bank loans with
principal amounts totalling HK$506,245,000. Up to the date of this
report, borrowings to the extent of HK$404,615,000 (together with
their relevant interest) had been settled by utilising the Group’s
pledged time deposits of HK$428,698,000. No action had been
taken by the remaining bank on the overdue bank borrowings with
principal amount of HK$101,630,000 as at 31 December 2014.
However, such borrowings are fully secured by pledged time

deposits of the Group to the extent of HK$106,351,000.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ReMBRRME

24 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

(c)

Other borrowings — unsecured

As at 31 December 2014, unsecured other borrowings comprised: (i)
loans from Mr. Dong’s relatives of RMB25,700,000 (equivalent to
HK$32,577,000) (2013: HK$15,517,000), which bear interest at rates of
36% to 43% per annum; (i) loans from the ultimate holding company of
the Company consisting of amounts of SG$1,953,000, US$1,715,000
and HK$36,268,000 (in aggregate equivalent to HK$61,232,000) (2013:
HK$51,940,000), which bear interest at a rate of 8% per annum except for
an amount of US$1,715,000, which is interest free; (i) a loan from an
independent third party of RMB2,000,000 (equivalent to HK$2,535,000)
(2013: Nil), which bear interest at 12% per annum; and (iv) a loan from an
independent third party of US$2,500,000 (equivalent to HK$19,391,000)
(2013: HK$19,375,000), which bear interest at 8% per annum.

As at 31 December 2014, unsecured other borrowings also comprised
loans from independent third parties of RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$25,352,000), RMB21,000,000 (equivalent to HK$26,619,000) and
RMB6,000,000 (equivalent to HK$7,606,000) which bear interest at rates
of 19.2% to 21.6% per annum, 21.6% per annum and 0.3% per day,
respectively.

All these unsecured other borrowings are repayable within one year and,
as at 31 December 2014, HK$10,140,000 were overdue.

As at 31 December 2013, unsecured other borrowings also included: (i) a
loan from an independent third party of RMB173,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$220,037,000), which bore interest at 12% per annum; and (i) loans
from certain independent third parties of RMB40,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$50,876,000), which bore interest at 19% per annum. These loans
were repaid in full during the year ended 31 December 2014.

Other loans

On 21 January 2013, the Group entered into a non-binding framework
agreement with Beijing Wincapital in relation to the disposal of a 30%
equity interest in SEAM, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. The
aggregate disposal consideration is expected to be approximately
RMB900 million (approximately HK$1,100 million). The proposed
transaction is yet to complete and no formal sales and purchase
agreement has been entered into up to the date of approval of the
consolidated financial statements.

In connection with the proposed disposal, Beijing Wincapital arranged
certain loan finance (“Financing Loans”) to the Group in the aggregate
amounts of RMB700 million (equivalent to approximately HK$887 million)
as at 31 December 2014 (2013: HK$254 million). Such borrowings can be
settled by offsetting against the disposal consideration should the
proposed disposal be completed.
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ReMBRRME

24 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

170

(c)

(d)

Other loans (continued)
As at 31 December 2014, the Financing Loans comprised:

0] A loan of RMB200,000,000 (equivalent to HK$253,517,000) (2013:
HK$254,378,000) under a secured financing provided by China
Fortune International Trust Co., Ltd. (“China Fortune Trust”), a
company established in the PRC with limited liability and is an
independent third party to the Group, for a term of two years up to
January 2015.

In consideration of the financing provided by China Fortune Trust, (i)
Yongtong Special Steel, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group,
has assigned to China Fortune Trust its rights and entitlements to
all the income generated or otherwise receivable, if any, from the
equity interest of its wholly-owned subsidiary, Yongtong Stainless
Steel and (ji) a personal guarantee provided by Mr. Dong in favour
of China Fortune Trust, for such period so long as the financing
remains outstanding.

(ii) Loans provided by Gongyi Jiahui in the aggregate of
RMB500,000,000 (equivalent to HK$633,794,000) for a term of
three to six months from the respective drawdown dates.

Except for a loan of RMB49,200,000 (equivalent to
HK$62,365,000) which was secured by a charge over
1,307,786,705 ordinary shares of the Company with a par value of
HK$0.10 each held by Easyman, representing approximately
48.82% of the issued share capital of the Company as at 31
December 2014, all of these loans are unsecured.

As mentioned in note (a) above, as at 31 December 2014, loans
totalling RMB249,200,000 (equivalent to HK$315,883,000) have
been overdue.

As at the date of approval of the consolidated financial statements, the
terms of all of the Financing Loans of HK$887,311,000 have expired and
become overdue. The Group is in the process of negotiating with Beijing
Wincapital and the above relevant lenders to extend the terms of these
borrowings.

The 10% Coupon Senior Bonds

On 12 December 2007, the Company issued 20,000 zero coupon
convertible bonds due 2012 at HK$100,000 each with an aggregate
nominal value of HK$2,000,000,000 (the “Zero Coupon Convertible
Bonds”) which were subsequently traded on the Stock Exchange.

On 10 November 2010, the Company exchanged 97.85% of the Zero
Coupon Convertible Bonds with: (1) a cash payment of HK$20,000 for
each HK$100,000 in principal amount of the Zero Coupon Convertible
Bonds; and (2) 13,748 10% coupon convertible bonds due 2012 at
HK$100,000 each with an aggregate nominal value of HK$1,374,800,000
(the “10% Coupon Convertible Bonds”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ReMBRRME

— =
24 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 24 SRITRHEMEE (E)
(CONTINUED)
Notes: (continued) s : (48)
(d  The 10% Coupon Senior Bonds (continued) (d 10% RESELEMES (&)
On 12 June 2012, the Company further exchanged 97.87% of the 10% RZZE——FXRA+=H  KAaE—FUT
Coupon Convertible Bonds with: (1) 39,099 10% coupon senior bonds FHERBRA0% ZHE S Al AR ESH 2 97.87% : (1)
due 2015 at a principal amount of HK$25,000 for the 10% Coupon LA 100,000 T AN & R8 10% 2 H 2 Al AR E % -
Convertible Bond of principal amount of HK$100,000 with an aggregate TR S 58 25,0008 TR —E—RAFEHZ 10%
nominal amount of HK$977,475,000 (the “10% Coupon Senior Bonds”); ZmEELES #3001 LEEAE
and (2) 13,033 6% coupon convertible bonds due 2015 at a principal 977,475,000/ ([ 10% ZEEEREH D) + R(©Q)
amount of HK$25,000 for the 10% Coupon Convertible Bonds of principal LA 100,000/ 7T A& 5810% Z 1/ B n R E % -
amount of HK$100,000 with an aggregate nominal amount of LA £ 25,0008 TR T —AEHH 6%
HK$325,825,000 (the “6% Coupon Convertible Bonds”). ZEEAMRES $£13033%H BEEA
325,825,000 7t (6% =8 B AT EH ) ©
Some of the key terms of the 10% Coupon Senior Bonds are as follows: 10% ZE BB EHFBD EBERAT ¢
0} Interest rate: 10% per annum, which is payable quarterly in arrears; [0} FME :10E - BEEZMATHHNFE
(ii) Maturity date: 12 March 2015; (ii) FER: —T—RAF=A+=H:
(iii Repayment: The Company shall redeem the bonds at 100% of the (iif B8 "ARIERETARESE 12
principal amounts in 9 specific instalments on the dates falling 9, 1518212427 -30% 33 A + &
12,15, 18, 21, 24, 27, 30 and 33 months after the issue date; 9HIEE » AN FE R B4 100% A28
(iv) Premium: on 12 December 2012, the Company will pay a premium (iv) wE:RZE—=—F+=-A+=H  ARQ
of HK$7,792.50 per HK$25,000 in principal amount of the 10% AlEM10% ZEEEBABEFNSTEREEA
Coupon Senior Bonds to each bondholder; BAREFE 25,0008 T2 151 7,792.50 BITH
v) Redeemable in cash at the option of the Company at their early v) R-E——F+ A+ - HAd 2B RER
redemption amount calculated by using the bond principal with an (R EH B AT IR AN QR ARIZAR
interest rate of 10% on a quarterly basis, at any time on or after 12 SRR EOEELOES R EOE
December 2012 and prior to the final maturity date, providing that REASARSBERNRA0EEEZELTE -
early redemption may not be exercised by the Company within 30 ARARIAEEREHMARE L0 B R
days of the end of a specific close period. TMEREERES -
The 10% Coupon Senior Bonds with the embedded redemption options 10% EESELEEFERNG ZBOEREERE
as a whole, were initially recognised at its fair value and were subsequently AREBENFSHER  H1EBAEHEKARTE - 10%
carried at amortised cost. The fair value of the 10% Coupon Senior Bonds EMEEBLABEEZARBEIAEETEARA
was valued by Greater China Appraisal Limited. AIEEAEE -
The movements of the liability component of the 10% Coupon Senior BE_ZT-—NFE+_A=+—HIEFE ' 10% =
Bonds for the year ended 31 December 2014 are as follows: BEELESZABBI ZEEHNT ¢
Group and
Company
TEER
NG|
HK$'000
FAT
At 1 January 2013 R=ZT—=%—H—H 945,269
Interest expense T2 & B 100,657
Repayments EEN (568,157)
At 31 December 2013 and 1 January 2014
E=—ZT—NF—H—H 477,769
Interest expense k=R -4 25,628
Payments of principal and coupons TRHEERER (119,6593)
Extinguishment on 13 June 2014 (note €) R=ZZ—WFXA+=B3H (HzEe) (383,744)

At 31 December 2014
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ReMBRRME

24 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

172

(e)

The 12% Coupon Senior Bonds

On 18 June 2014, the Company completed the restructuring of its 10%
Coupon Senior Bonds with aggregate nominal amount of
HK$390,990,000 and the 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds with aggregate
nominal amount of HK$181,575,000 (“Debt Restructuring”).

Key terms of the 10% Coupon Senior Bonds have been amended as
follows:

0] Interest rate: 12% per annum, which is repayable quarterly in
arrears;

(ii) Final maturity date: 12 December 2018;

(iii) Repayment: The Company shall redeem the bonds at 100% of the
remaining principal of HK$390,990,000 in 8 quarterly instalments
commencing 12 March 2017 to and including the Final Maturity
Date;

(iv) Redeemable in cash at the option of the Company at their early
redemption amount calculated by using the bond principal with an
interest rate of 12% payable on a quarterly basis, at any time prior
to the final maturity date, providing that early redemption may not
be exercised by the Company within 30 days of the end of a
specific close period.

Details of the amendments to the terms of 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds
have been disclosed in Note 25. The amendments are considered to be
substantial modification of terms of the 10% Coupon Senior Bonds and
the 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds. Consequently, the 10% Coupon
Senior Bonds and the 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds have been
accounted for as extinguishment of financial liabilities and the amended
Senior Bonds (“12% Coupon Senior Bonds”) and amended convertible
bonds (“8% Coupon Convertible Bonds”) have been recognised upon the
completion of the Debt Restructuring.

The 12% Coupon Senior Bonds with the embedded redemption options
were initially recognised as a debt host contract, which was measured
using an equivalent market interest rate for a similar bond without a
redemption option, and are subsequently carried at amortised cost. The
embedded redemption options were initially recognised as an embedded
derivative, which was measured using valuation technique. At its initial
recognition on 13 June 2014 and at the end of the reporting period, the
fair value of the embedded redemption options was insignificant. The fair
value of the 12% Coupon Senior Bonds was valued by Greater China
Appraisal Limited.
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24 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(e) The 12% Coupon Senior Bonds (continued)
The movements of the liability and embedded derivative components of
the 12% Coupon Senior Bonds for the year ended 31 December 2014 are

24

RITRHEMESR ()

Bt - ()

(e)

12% ZEEEE &3 ()
BE-_T-—NF+_A=1+—"HBLLEE 12%E
EEEABEFZABBRANEITEIAS S 228

as follows: wm
Group and Company
AEBRAAT
Liability Embedded
component derivatives Total
BEHD ANEPTETIR #@Et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
At 13 June 2014 (initially recognised) RZZE—WFASAT=H
(MiaTER) 219,351 - 219,351
Interest expense MEFZ 41,772 - 41,772
Payment of coupons SHES (11,826) - (11,826)
Acceleration of unwinding interest on HEBOEHMMRESRZ
bonds due to event of default (note g) F 2 #E (HEg) 141,693 - 141,693
At 31 December 2014 R-ZE—mF+-A=+—H 390,990 - 390,990

As at 31 December 2014, an event of default occurred under the terms of
the 12% Coupon Senior Bonds, details of which have been disclosed in
note (g) below.

() The Modified 10% Coupon Bonds
According to an extraordinary resolution dated 31 May 2012, amendments
to the terms and conditions governing the 10% Coupon Convertible
Bonds for the remaining 284 10% Coupon Convertible Bonds with an
aggregate nominal amount of HK$28,400,000 (the “Modified 10% Coupon
Bonds”) are as follows:

0] delete the conversion right attached to the 10% Coupon
Convertible Bonds and delete the terms in relation to the
adjustment to the conversion price;

(ii) extend the maturity date of the 10% Coupon Convertible Bonds
from 12 December 2012 to 12 March 2015;

(iii) amend the maturity repayment in respect of each 10% Coupon
Convertible Bonds from 131.1699% of the principal amount to
100% of the principal amount;

(iv) delete the pre-agreed share price ceiling as an event triggering the
redemption option of the Company, and remove the capital event
and the delisting of the Company as a relevant event triggering the
redemption option of the bondholders;

(v) amend the early redemption amount to 100% of the principal
amount together with any unpaid interest accrued thereto on the
redemption date.

The Group determined the fair value of the Modified 10% Coupon Bonds
based on the valuation performed by Great China Appraisal Limited using
an equivalent market interest rate for a similar bond without a conversion
option.
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24 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

174

(U]

(9)

The Modified 10% Coupon Bonds (continued)

As at 31 December 2014, an event of default occurred under the terms of
the Modified 10% Coupon Bonds, details of which have been disclosed in
note (g) below.

Events of default under the terms of the borrowings

U

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Company failed to
make interest payment under the relevant terms and conditions of
the Modified 10% Coupon Bonds, 12% Coupon Senior Bonds and
8% Coupon Convertible Bonds of HK$1,420,000, HK$11,698,000
and HK$2,990,000 respectively. This constituted an event of
default under the respective terms of the Bonds. As a result, the
outstanding carrying amounts of the Modified 10% Coupon Bonds,
12% Coupon Senior Bonds and 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds
totalling HK$352,644,000, shall become immediately due and
payable. In addition, unwinding of interest totalling
HK$210,671,000 was accelerated; and all the liabilities of the
Bonds have been classified as current liabilities.

Subsequent to the reporting period on 19 March 2015 and 19
June 2015, the Company also failed to pay further interest of the
Bonds of HK$14,852,000 and HK$14,196,000 respectively.

Despite the above, DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited, the trustee
for the holders of the Bonds, has not demanded immediate
repayment of the Bonds and their related interest up to the date of
approval of the consolidated financial statements. The Group has
been actively negotiating with the holders of the Bonds for further
extension of the repayment of principal and interest, and the
execution of debt restructuring scheme, if needed, to facilitate the
Group meeting its obligations.
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24 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 24 R|ITRHMEE (HF)
(CONTINUED)
Notes: (continued) s : (48)
(9) Events of default under the terms of the borrowings (continued) (9) BEEERRBEENEH(A)

(i The failure to meet obligations under the terms of the Bonds as (i) KRBT EBEESBRIBETIT2EE(RE
detailed in note (i) above also resulted in cross-default of certain XK EOFR) B =T —NFE+ =8
secured bank loans of HK$307,538,000 as at 31 December 2014 =+t BBEETEEMEITER(HE
as mentioned in note (a) above. Subsequent to the year end, 307,538,000 7T) HIE R NEH (R X
pledged time deposits of HK$327,291,000 have been utilised to Mtk (@ Frit) - £K1%& - EBABEERE
settle these secured bank loans. HA1F 30 327,291,000 T * BE&NZEE

HEMRITER °

(i) In addition, as mentioned in note (a) above, certain secured and (i) UESh - 20 SCBTRE () Bt - B TFEER R
unsecured bank loans totaling HK$152,110,000 have become EIK AR ITE RS £152,110,00058 7T -
repayable on demand as a result of the cross default on certain EEETEMERERIXEN(RTX
other loans (see (iv) below). The Group has been actively F(v)IB) M AR B KR EE - NERE—
negotiating with these banks on any possible renewal or BHEREZZRITMEM A EEZESE
refinancing arrangements of these borrowings, out of which EEEmELHETER HAF
HK$88,731,000 is proposed to be re-financed by a proposed 88,731,000 Lt EI A B R B E KB
syndicated loan. & o

(iv) As it is also described in notes (a) and (c) above, as at 31 (iv) AN - B0 E XX FE @) K (o) il - R=F
December 2014, other loans of HK$315,883,000 from Gongyi —OFE+=—A=+—H REEREEZ
Jiahui were overdue and; at the date of approval of the H b &3 315,883,000/8 L B # & : B R
consolidated financial statements, the terms of all of the Financing GAMBHRRIERSR  AARMEER(H
Loans of HK$887,311,000 have expired and become overdue. 887,311,000/ 7T ) 2 HABR B B HA K g A o
The Group is in the process of negotiating with Beijing Wincapital RNEB Fr i mEm Rk i AEmE A
and the above relevant lenders to extend the terms of these EITHER  UERZSHEEZHR -
borrowings.

v) Furthermore, as mentioned in note (b) above, as at 31 December v) BEAN - 20 ESTHTEE (o) At - M =T — U4
2014, other unsecured borrowings of HK$10,140,000 were +-_A=+—H EMmERKFEE
overdue. Subsequent to the reporting period, further loans with 10,140,000/ L E #1 Hf - M3RE HE - A
principal amounts of HK$65,024,000 were overdue. Management £ %0/465,024,0008 T2 E— P ERE A
has been actively negotiating with the lenders for the renewal and H. EHE—GRIRENRE AETHER
extension of these borrowings. NEEMERZEMEE -
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25 CONVERTIBLE BONDS

(a) 6% coupon convertible bonds
The movements of the liability and derivative components
of the 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds for the year ended

31 December 2014 are as follows:

25

AR ES

(a) 6% RS TmMm oS

BE-FT-—mF+-A=+—ALLF
¥ - 6% REAARBES Y B ERHT
HEH 2 BB :

Group and Company
KEEREAR
Liability
component of
convertible
bonds Derivatives Total
AERES
ZEEHS PTHETER @t
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET
(Note 26)
(Pt 5+ 26)
At 1 January 2013 n-—Z—=%—H—H 177,660 101,592 279,252
Interest expense fI 5.5 2 42,333 - 42,333
Conversion into ordinary shares BRI RK T i AR (79,452) (33,252) (112,704)
Changes in fair value ARBEEZH - (46,688) (46,688)
Payments of coupons THES (11,359) = (11,359)
At 31 December 2013, N-ZE—=5+-A=1+—H"
non-current portion JEBNHERER 129,182 21,652 150,834
At 1 January 2014 RZZE—MF—H—H 129,182 21,652 150,834
Interest expense A EFY 22,020 - 22,020
Changes in fair value RABEES - (20,575) (20,575)
Payments of coupons IHES (5,432) - (5,432)
Extinguishment on RZE—MF-A+=H
13 June 2014 (note b) S8 (D) (145,770) (1,077) (146,847)

At 31 December 2014

RZZE—NE+-_A=+—H -
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As at 31 December 2013, the 6% Coupon Convertible
Bonds and the 10% Coupon Senior Bonds (as detailed in
Note 24(d) above) were secured by: (i) the pledge of the
Company’s time deposits amounted HK$13,285,000; (i)
all of the rights, interest, title and benefits of the exclusive
offtake agreement as set out in Note 16; and (iii) all of the
shares held by First Elite Development Limited in S.E.A.
Mining Limited, a private company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability, which is the sole legal and
beneficial holder of the convertible bonds issued by Yiwan
with principals amounting to HK$46,500,000 and
US$3,000,000 respectively, which are convertible into
ordinary shares of Yiwan.
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25 CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED)
(a) 6% coupon convertible bonds (continued)
Some of the key terms of the 6% Coupon Convertible
Bonds are as follows:

(i) Convertible at the option of the bondholders into
fully paid ordinary shares at any time from 12 June
2012 to 2 March 2015 at a conversion price of
HK$0.7834 per share (the “Initial Conversion Price”).
If on 12 December 2012 (the “Reset Date”), the
volume weighted average price of the shares for the
period of 15 consecutive trading days on the Stock
Exchange immediately prior to the Reset Date (the
“Prevailing Market Price”) is less than the then
prevailing conversion price, the conversion price
shall be adjusted to a price that is equal to such
Prevailing Market Price, provided always that the
conversion price as so adjusted shall not be less
than 75% of the Initial Conversion Price (the “Floor
Price”). In the event that the Prevailing Market Price
is less than the Floor Price, the conversion price
shall be adjusted to a price equal to the Floor Price.
Accordingly, the initial conversion price of
HK$0.7834 was adjusted to HK$0.5800 with effect
from 12 December 2012 (the “Adjustment”). Apart
from the Adjustment, there is no change in terms of
the 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds;

(i)  Redeemable in cash at the option of the Company
at their early redemption amount calculated by
using the bond principal with an interest rate of 6%
on a quarterly basis, at any time on or after 12
December 2012 and prior to the final maturity date,
providing that early redemption may not be
exercised by the Company within 30 days of the
end of a specific close period,;

(i)  Redeemable in cash at the option of the Company
at their early redemption amount calculated by
using the bond principal with an interest rate of 6%
on a quarterly basis, if at any time after the first
anniversary of the issue date the volume weighted
average price of the shares over period of 30
consecutive trading days on the Stock Exchange,
the last of which occurs not more than 5 days prior
to the date upon which notice of such redemption
is published, is greater than or equal to 125% of the
then prevailing conversion price;
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25 CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED)

178

(a)

6% coupon convertible bonds (continued)

(iv)  Premium: on 12 December 2012, the Company will
pay a premium of HK$7,792.50 per HK$25,000 in
principal amount of the 6% Coupon Convertible
Bonds to each bondholder; and

(v} To be redeemed at 100% of its principal amount on
12 March 2015. The 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds
carry interest at a rate of 6% per annum, which is
payable quarterly in arrears.

The Company determined the fair value of the liability
component of the 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds based
on the valuation performed by Greater China Appraisal
Limited using an equivalent market interest rate for a
similar bond without a conversion option.

The Company also recognised a number of derivatives,
the values of which comprise:

(i) The fair value of the option of the bondholders to
convert the 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds into
ordinary shares of the Company at the conversion
price; and

(i)  The fair value of the option of the Company to
redeem the 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds.

These options are interdependent as only one of these
options can be exercised. Therefore, they are not able to
be accounted for separately and a single compound
derivative financial instrument was recognised.

The fair values of the derivatives were valued by Greater
China Appraisal Limited using the trinomial model. As at
31 December 2013, the fair value of liability component of
the 6% Coupon Convertible bonds was HK$120,707,000.
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25 CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED)
(b) 8% coupon convertible bonds
On 18 June 2014, the Company completed the Debt
Restructuring as stated in Note 24 (e), whereupon the
terms and conditions governing the 6% Coupon
Convertible Bonds with aggregate nominal amount of
HK$181,575,000 have been amended as follows:

M

(i)

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

Note:

Amended the interest rate payable from 6% per
annum to 8% per annum;

Extended the final maturity date of the 8% Coupon
Convertible Bonds from 12 March 2015 to 12
March 2018;

The price at which ordinary shares will be issued
upon conversion of the Convertible Bonds will be
reduced to HK$0.30 per ordinary share, subject to
adjustment in the manner provided in the
Convertible Bonds Trust Deed;

Amended to the Conversion Price re-set mechanics
to provide a reduced Floor Price of HK$0.18;

Added a provisional clause to the definition of
“Relevant Event” (Note) to ensure that the suspension
of trading of the ordinary shares of the Company on
the Stock Exchange at the completion date of the
Debt Restructuring will not constitute a Relevant
Event unless it continues for a period of 120
consecutive calendar days following 12 June 2014;

Amended the Reserve Account arrangements to
reduce the Required Minimum Balance from
US$10,000,000 to US$1,000; and

The addition of provisions which will require the
Company to credit to the balance of the Reserve
Account amounts calculated by reference to the
volume of dry tonnes of ore exported to SEAM in
the event that the current restrictions imposed on
the export of ores under the Exclusive Offtake
Agreement are lifted and which will require the
Company to accelerate the payments schedule in
such circumstances.

A “Relevant Event” occurs:

(1)
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when the ordinary shares of the Company cease to be listed or
admitted to trading, or the trading of which is suspended for a
period of more than 90 consecutive calendar days, on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange; or

when there is a change of control in the Company.
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25 CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED)

(b) 8% coupon convertible bonds (continued)
The amendments are considered to be substantial
modification of terms of the 6% Coupon Convertible
Bonds. Consequently, the 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds
have been accounted for as extinguishment of financial
liabilities and the 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds have
been recognised upon the completion of the Debt
Restructuring.

The movements of the liability and derivative components
of the 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds for the year ended

25 WigKRES (&)
(b) 8% EEMEBAHRRES (&)
ZEET R REAIEE] 6% EHEA
MR B % 2 (5K - B - 6% RESA
BEEAEIRASRARZIKY
1 8% SRE B AR 5 2R ek E
BAKHER -

BE_Z-NOE+-_A=+—HLLHF
B 8% ZHEFABERERZABNRIT

31 December 2014 are as follows: EE D 2 BB
Group and Company
KEERAAT
Liability
component of
convertible
bonds Derivatives Total
AERES
ZEERS TETE et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT TET TET
At 13 June 2014 (initial recognition)  R=Z—MHEXA+=H
(IRTER) 81,691 105,663 187,354
Interest expense FEFL 14,608 - 14,608
Conversion into ordinary shares BRAE AR (17,782) (22,033) (39,815)
Changes in fair value NI L) - 743 743
Payments of coupons SERESS (3,662) - (3,662)
Acceleration of unwinding interest on  FiEZ QS IRES 2
bonds due to event of default 2% e (fI7E24(g)
(Note 24(g)) 69,070 - 69,070
At 31 December 2014 RZZE—MFE+-_A=+—H 143,925 84,373 228,298

The Company determined the fair value of the liability
component of the 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds based
on the valuation performed by Greater China Appraisal
Limited using an equivalent market interest rate for a
similar bond without a conversion option.
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25 CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED) 25 TRRES (HF)
(b) 8% coupon convertible bonds (continued) (b) 8% EMERBRKRMES (&)

The Company also recognised a number of derivatives,
the values of which comprise:

()  The fair value of the option of the bondholders to
convert the 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds into
ordinary shares of the Company at the conversion
price;

(i) The fair value of the option of the Company to
redeem the 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds; and

(iy ~ The fair value of the potential option of the holders
to request the Company to redeem the 8% Coupon
Convertible Bonds upon the occurrence of Relevant
Event.

These options are interdependent as only one of these
options can be exercised. Therefore, they are not able to
be accounted for separately and a single compound
derivative financial instrument was recognised.

The fair values of the derivatives were valued by Greater
China Appraisal Limited using the trinomial model. As at
31 December 2014, the fair value of the liability
component of the 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds was
HK$73,647,000.

The 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds and the 12% Coupon
Senior Bonds (as detailed in Note 24 (e) above) are
secured by () the pledge of the Group’s time deposits
amounting to HK$13,000; (i) all of the rights, interest, title
and benefits of the Exclusive Offtake Agreement; and (iii)
all of the shares held by First Elite Development Limited in
S.EA. Mining Limited, a private company incorporated in
Hong Kong with limited liability, which is the sole legal and
beneficial holder of the convertible bonds issued by Yiwan
with principals amounting to HK$46,500,000 and
US$3,000,000 respectively, which are convertible into
ordinary shares of Yiwan.

As at 31 December 2014, an event of default occurred
under the terms of the 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds,
details of which have been disclosed in Note 24 (g).
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26 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 26 fTEE@MIA
Group and Company
AEBEARAN T
2014 2013
—E-mF —E—=%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BaE F#&T T
Liabilities Bf&E
Conversion option and redemption DEEE 6% = H 2
option bifurcated from the host AgRESEER
contract of the 6% Coupon e B
Convertible Bonds, non-current JEBNHA 25(a) - 21,652
Conversion option and redemption DEEE 8% M B
option bifurcated from the host AR ESESR
contract of the 8% Coupon 2 e K FE ol
Convertible Bonds, current BNER 25(b) 84,373 =
84,373 21,652
27 OTHER LONG TERM PAYABLES 27 HthEMENRE
Group
KEH
2014 2013
—E-ImF —=—=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE&T T
Other long term payables H i B A 50R
Carrying amount at 1 January N—A—BZERHRE 8,751 8,115
Additions NE 2,429 375
Transfer to other short term payables EE RS S H (b 55 HAJE (< 3k 18 (1,268) -
Exchange realignment N =5 (26) 261
Carrying amount at 31 December R+ A=+—RHZKAE 9,886 8,751
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28 TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES

28 ENERAREMNRE

Group Company
AREE KATE]
2014 2013 2014 2013
—F-mFE —FT-=F —FT-mF —T-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
=S FET BT FHExT BRI
Trade payables FERTBR K (@) 124,286 184,566 3,850 3,850
Notes payables EANES (o) 797,528 587,614 - =
921,814 772,180 3,850 3,850
Notes: BT
(a)  Trade payables (a) FEERE
An ageing analysis of the trade payables at the end of the reporting period, REEHR - 1RBEE AP E 2 B RRZRER
based on the invoice date, is as follows: DT :
Group Company
rEH N
2014 2013 2014 2013
= =F= =F-mEF ===
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT FET T
Within 90 days 90 HA 7,377 40,681 - -
91 to 180 days 91E180H 15,584 14,931 - 8
181 to 365 days 1812365 H 18,530 25,114 3 -
1to 2 years 1224 29,628 48,744 - 2,557
2 to 3 years 2E3F 29,182 43,277 2,557 -
Over 3 years BB 3F 23,985 11,819 1,290 1,290
124,286 184,566 3,850 3,850

Trade payables are normally settled on terms of 60 to 180 days. The

FER RN 2 — R HIR60E 180 H » R¥REH

carrying amounts of trade payables approximate their fair values at the

end of the reporting period.

(b) Notes payables

An ageing analysis of the notes payables of the Group at 31 December

(b) ESRE

R BNRRZEEEREARBEMS -

RZZF—WF+=A=+—8 ' ENEERZKRER

2014 is as follows: DT -
Group
AEE
2014 2013
—Z2-mF =%
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBT T
Within 90 days 9B X 459,082 419,725
91 to 180 days 91Z 1808 338,446 167,889
797,528 587,614
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28

29

184

TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES (CONTINUED) 28 MENEREIHREEE (&)
Notes: (continued) BisE - (48)
(b)  Notes payables (continued) (b) EAREEGE)
At 31 December 2014, notes payables of HK$797,528,000 (2013: R-ZZEZE—MNMFE+_A=+—H8 ENEE
HK$587,614,000) were secured by time deposits of HK$471,994,000 797,528,000/ T ( = F — = 4 : 587,614,000/5
(2013: HK$350,644,000) (Note 23). As at 31 December 2013, certain JC) PATE HA1F 30471,994,0008 (=2 — =4 :
notes payables were also secured by a parcel of leasehold land in 350,644,000 70 ) (MisE23) e 5 - R=F
Mainland China with net carrying amount of HK$3,548,000 (Note 15). The —=F+ZA=+—8 HTENMZEIRAF
carrying amounts of notes payables approximate their fair values at the K e — i@ B T8 % {8 /4 3,548,000 78 7t (Mt 3£ 15) #9
end of the reporting period. HETHERER - NMER - BRNEBEZE
HEEAALBERS °
Subsequent to the financial reporting period, notes payables to the extent B S RS HAT% - FE T 2= 4% £ 539,989,000 7T
of HK$539,989,000 had been settled mainly by utilising pledged time EX 2788 MAEEAE 7 5470,492,000&
deposits of HK$470,492,000. Among the remaining notes payables of JC & o 8 N FE 1+ = 15 257,539,000 T ¢
HK$257,539,000, HK$240,971,000 had expired and became overdue up 240,971,000/ T E BT RNEZE AR E BHE
to date of this report. The Group is actively negotiating with the relevant B e REBIEGEMEEBRE LT HEERER
banks on any possible refinancing arrangements, including replacing them BAERITHEITHER  BREAEZEBERIERN -
with the proposed syndicated loan.
OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 29 HiENREBERETER
Group Company
rE AT
2014 2013 2014 2013
—E-NE —T--—F —T-NF —T-=fF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET BT F#ET BRI
Advances from customers BB 115,559 147,803 - =
Payables related to purchases BEEEME - ME &
of property, plant and Bl 2 e IR
equipment 103,646 139,330 - -
Accrued interest expense FERT A B 97,230 15,775 22,662 2,989
Payroll payable ENEHS 19,055 15,975 4,528 2,904
Amount due to a director BN—%EE 258
(Note 36) (Mf5E36) 2,226 2,417 2,226 2,417
Others HAith 162,761 123,781 11,269 9,220
500,477 445,081 40,685 17,530

As at 31 December 2014, the carrying amounts of other
payables and accruals approximate their fair values.
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30 SHARE CAPITAL 30 BA
2014 2013
—F-mF —F-=F
Number of
ordinary Number of
shares HK$'000 ordinary shares HK$'000
EERY TET LERE TAT
Authorised (HK$0.1 each): A (BRO01ETL) |
At 1 January and 31 December W—B—HETZBE=+—H 5,000,000,000 500,000 5,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid (HK$0.1 each): 2217 &R (BRO1BT) :
At 1 January R—A—H 2,553,040,200 255,304 2,306,057,474 230,606
Conversion of convertible bonds BRABRES 125,499,998 12,550 246,982,726 24,698
At 31 December R+—A=+—H 2,678,540,198 267,854 2,553,040,200 255,304

31

During the year ended 31 December 2014, convertible bonds
with principal amount of HK$37,650,000 (2013:
HK$143,250,000) were converted into 125,499,988 (2013:
246,982,726) new ordinary shares of the Company at
HK$0.300 (2013: HK$0.5800) per share in accordance with the
terms of the convertible bonds.

RESERVES

(a)

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 76
to 77 of the financial statements.

Share premium

Under the Companies Law (2009 Revision) of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium and contributed surplus are
distributable to the shareholders of the Company,
provided that immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will
be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall
due in the ordinary course of business.
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31 RESERVES (CONTINUED)

186

(a)

Group (continued)

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the
difference between the aggregate of the nominal value of
the paid-up capital of Infonics acquired pursuant to the
Group reorganisation on 29 April 2006 and the nominal
value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange
therefor.

Capital reserve

At 31 December 2014, the balance of capital reserve is
non-distributable and represents the additional
contribution by a shareholder in 2003 amounting to
HK$36,047,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB37,147,000), and the capitalisation of payable to a
shareholder amounting to HK$79,760,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB85,000,000) in respect of which Mr.
Dong waived his rights and benefits to the debts owed to
him by Yongtong Special Steel in 2004.

Statutory reserves

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and the
respective Articles of Association of Yongtong Special
Steel, Yongtong Alloy Metals, Xiangtong Electricity,
Yongtong Stainless Steel, East Harvest Minerals, East
Harvest Mining, Hongnie Trading, Yongtong Fully Lead
and Henan Jiakun, these companies are each required to
allocate 10% of their profit after tax, as determined in
accordance with PRC Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (“PRC GAAP”), to the statutory surplus reserves
(the “SSR”) until these reserves reach 50% of the
registered capital.

Subsequent to the re-registration of Yongtong Special
Steel as a wholly-foreign-owned company on 10
November 2003, allocation to the SSR was no longer
required. According to the relevant PRC regulations
applicable to wholly-foreign-owned companies, Yongtong
Special Steel is required to allocate a certain portion (not
less than 10%) of its profit after tax in accordance with
PRC GAAP to the statutory reserve fund (the “SRF”) until
this reserve reaches 50% of its registered capital.

The SSR and SRF are non-distributable other than in the
event of liquidation and, subject to certain restrictions set
out in the relevant PRC regulations, can be used to offset
accumulated losses or be capitalised as paid-up capital.
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31 RESERVES (CONTINUED) 31 f#4E (E)
(@) Group (continued) (@) ZA&£H ()

Distributable reserves At D IR FEE

For dividend purposes, the amount which the PRC MIREME  PEMBARAIAESD
subsidiaries can legally distribute by way of a dividend is RZIRESEE  W2ERBHE et
determined by reference to the distributable profits as HE R 45 B 2 A B A TE B 7 R 3R PT S Bk
reflected in their PRC statutory financial statements which Z AR A MmEE o A /M m Al i
are prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP. These RRBEBRE SRS ERRE 2 ARE
profits differ from those that are reflected in this report FTI B 2 S R AR ©

which is prepared in accordance with IFRSs.

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC, profits BIFEFRE R EE - PR B R RBRE
after tax of the PRC subsidiaries can be distributed as & im MIE R E X ATiiR B 25 E A&
dividends after the appropriations to the SSR and SRF set S RETEES R - IDIRERE -
out above.

(b) Company (b) Z&AF

Share  Contributed  Share option Accumulated

premium surplus reserve losses Total
R EE BEfES BRERE 2 ER b

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThT THT TR TR ThT

(Note)
(HtzE)
At 1 January 2013 RZE-=4—-F—H 3,036,939 296,966 33,567 (983,261) 2,384,211
Total comprehensive income FERAMAAR
for the year - - - 77,922 77,922
Conversion of convertible bonds & Ak % 88,006 - - - 88,006
Equity-settled share-based INRELEE ROARRD %2
compensation expense (Note 32) B4 Bk (31 32) - - 3,084 - 3,084
At 31 December 2013 RZE-=4+ZA=+-H 3,124,945 296,966 36,651 (9005339 2,553,223
At 1 January 2014 R-ZE-mE-f—H 3,124,945 296,966 36,651 (905,339) 2,553,223
Total comprehensive oss EERABRA
for the year - - - (1,462,250) (1,462,250)
Conversion of convertible bonds B[Rk ES 27,265 - - - 27,265
Equity-settled share-based AR S R AR 2 52 .2
compensation expense (Note 32) B4R (FitiEa2) - - (180) - (180)
At 31 December 2014 R-E-NE+-A=F+—H 3,152,210 296,966 36,471 (2,367,589) 1,118,058
Note: Contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference MisE : ARBIZEFBRATIIERRARE-TT
between the value of the net assets of the underlying subsidiaries NENAZ N B S E S HAT IR B R R
acquired by the Company pursuant to the Group reorganisation on BARZFEEBEARNARMBETHAR
29 April 2006 and the nominal value of the Company’s shares R|Z BN EEZZE5E °

issued in exchange therefor.
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188

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 2 May 2005, the Company approved a share option scheme
(the “Share Option Scheme”) under which the Directors may, at
their discretion, grant options to the Directors and employees of
the Group to subscribe for shares in the Company. The
subscription price for shares under the Share Option Scheme
will be determined by the Directors, which shall be calculated at
the time of grant of the relevant option and shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the nominal value of a share; (i) the
closing price of a share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheet on the date of grant of the relevant option,
which must be a business day; and (i) the average closing
price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the relevant option.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme must not
exceed 10% of the share capital of the Company in issue and
may not exceed in nominal value 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company in issue for a period of 10 consecutive
years. The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for the
period of 10 years commencing on 2 May 2005. No option may
be granted to any one person which, if exercised in full, would
result in the total number of shares which were already issued
and may fall to be issued to him under all the options previously
granted to him pursuant to the Share Option Scheme in any
12-month period up to the date of grant, exceeding 1% of the
maximum aggregate number of shares for the time being issued
and which may fall to be issued under the Share Option
Scheme.

Share options granted to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive Directors. In additions, any share
options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive Director, or to any of their associates, in excess
of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time or
with an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s
shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within
any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

PERERERAR AR

32

BRESE

RZZEZRAFAAZH - ARAME—TERE
Bt & (TREAERE]) - Bt EFAH
BRTITASEEZELEERBARARN
FERE - BRESBIZBNRBERHES
RELERBERERETE - TRERT
EHRzZERE  (\ROEE: (\RRLERA
BREER(WARSER)BMXMERRE
REDIBAD 2 W B + R (i) BZ R L B R
PBiEE BT R AR AR ARERMN
5l B An F YT E

RIBREERT B R & 2 BB S Ko 2 B fn
HEAREZTFBEAARACETRAZ
10% * M TNFEBARRERTRAEEZ
30% ' BETFEHR - BREAIEA_TF
hERAZBEFTFAR - MREERE
BEER121E A ME 2 E T B ERE
BREFIRT - BALZEREREHE
R R ME BT 2 D AR BUERE E R IE
ZBRERT B E R RS R BT 2R A% L
BR1% - BINSRE R HRBAE -

BYARBES BFATEHEERR
HEMBRFZBMBEAZBRERS LR
FEHITE SR - WHN WRTARRER
BRRFBIIFATES - REFARSFBHE
A2 BRI 1216 A AR &9 {E fa] 65
HBHARE D BT 0.1% K AAE(RIEA
RERFEH A BN ER) BBsAEE
7T BARIBRRERASESTHAE -

—E-mEEERE




E — = ;

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ReMBRRME

32 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) 32 EmRRECHE (&)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 REFRH ZERETNIZE HEiET28H
days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal NIERN - MARABLYNEHEAIBIT IR
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise AREB - IREZEREZITEHRSES
period of the share options granted is determinable by the BE KA REBHEMABITE  mE
Directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and wEHA NS ERREERE B R +F -
ends on a date which is not later than 10 years from the date of BREZEEHALT Bt E20%EK
offer of the share options. The options will have a vesting EARNEEBHZ12@BTE MEERE
schedule of five years whereby only 20% of the options shall be FARABRITEZEIN20% EENIRE - B2 R
exercisable 12 months after the grant date and an additional FHEABRENSFER] 2 BT T(E o

20% may be exercised by the grantee in each subsequent year
until five years later when 100% of the options may be

exercised.
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends BREL TR A AZ AR B SPIRE K
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings. 2 HIEEZER -
The following share options were outstanding under the Share BIEERETZATNTERERFAB AT
Option Scheme during the year: & :
2014 2013
—E-IOF —E—=F
Weighted
average Weighted
exercise Number of average Number of
price options exercise price options
ik B IR
TEE BREHA 1B EREHE
HK$ HK$
per share ’000 per share ‘000
BRET T4 BRATT T
At 1 January Rn—H—H 0.99 73,275 1.02 78,505
Forfeited during the year RE AR 0.71 (14,460) 1.48 (5,230)
At 31 December RN+—_A=+—H 1.05 58,815 0.99 73,275
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32 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2014

Number of options

Exercise price'

32 HEMRREFHEI(E)
REREREAITEZBREZTHEERTT
fEERIATE -

—s-mF

BREHE TEE"

’000 HKS$ per share Exercise period
T4 BRET 1T
17,920 1.07 30 July 2006 to 29 July 2015
—EEXRFEtA=+RE=E-HAFEtLA=t+ANH
2,550 1.91 6 March 2008 to 5 March 2017
—EENF=AARHE-E—tF=AEH
7,545 245 20 March 2009 to 19 March 2018
“EEAF=ZA=Z+HEZZE-NF=ZAt+AIH
30,800 0.63 20 January 2013 to 19 January 2022
—E-=ZFf-HF=tHEZEZ-=F—-HThH

58,815

2013

Number of options

Exercise price!

B ES e TR E"

‘000 HK$ per share Exercise period
F1n BT 1T{EHA
17,920 1.07 30 July 2006 to 29 July 2015
—EERNFLtA=+HE=TE—RFEA=1+NAH
2,550 1.91 6 March 2008 to 5 March 2017
—EENF=ARNBE=ZT—+F=HAH
8,205 2.45 20 March 2009 to 19 March 2018
—ETAF=A-_tHE-ZT—/\F=A+ANHB
44,600 0.68 20 January 2013 to 19 January 2022
T =F—AZt+tRE-T-_—_F—A+ANH

73,275

i The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the
case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s

share capital.
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33

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The Group reversed share option expense of approximately
HK$180,000 during the year ended 31 December 2014 (2013:
share option expense of HK$3,084,000 was recognised).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
58,815,000 (2013: 73,275,000) share options outstanding
under the Share Option Scheme, which represented
approximately 2.20% (2013: 2.87%) of the Company’s shares
in issue as at 31 December 2014. The exercise in full of the
outstanding share options would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in the issue of 58,815,000
(2013: 73,275,000) additional ordinary shares of the Company
and an additional share capital of HK$5,881,500 (2013:
HK$7,327,500) and share premium of HK$56,053,000 (2013:
HK$64,918,000) (before issue expenses).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group follows the guidance of IAS37 “Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” to determine
when contingent liabilities should be recognised, which requires
significant judgement.

A contingent liability will be disclosed when a possible obligation
has arisen, but its existence has to be confirmed by future
events outside the Group’s control, or when it is not possible to
calculate the amount. Realisation of any contingent liabilities not
currently recognised or disclosed could have a material impact
on the Group’s financial position.

The Group reviews significant outstanding litigations in order to
assess the need for provisions. Among the factors considered
are the nature of the litigation, legal processes and potential
level of damages, the opinions and views of the legal counsels
and advisors, and the management’s intentions to respond to
the litigations. To the extent the estimates and judgements do
not reflect the actual outcome, this could materially affect the
results for the period and the financial position.
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33 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
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(i)

Litigation with Rock Resource Limited (“RR”)
and United Mineral Limited (“UM”) (collectively
referred to as the “Buyers”)

In March 2014, the Company received certain legal letters
(the “Letters”) from the Buyers dated 20 March 2014,
which purported to be statutory demands serviced to the
Company pursuant to section 178(1)(a) of the Companies
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance
(Cap. 32) (“Statutory Demand”).

The Letters concern disputes between the Group and the
Buyers relating to certain primary contracts for the sale
and purchase of Indonesian iron ores, and contain claims
for (i) an amount of US$10,347,698 (equivalent to
approximately HK$80,242,000) which comprises the
demand for return of an advance payment made by RR to
the Group of US$3,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$23,264,000) and interest thereon to the extent of
US$7,347,698 (equivalent to approximately
HK$56,978,000) payable up to 20 March 2014; and (i) an
amount of RMB70,355,783 (equivalent to approximately
HK$89,488,000) which comprises the demand for return
of an advance payment made by UM to the Group of
RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$25,438,000) and interest thereon to the extent of
RMB50,355,783 (equivalent to approximately
HK$64,050,000) payable up to 20 March 2014. The
Company as guarantor to the abovementioned primary
contracts is therefore also a party to these litigations.

On 4 April 2014, the Group issued a legal letter to the
legal representative of the Buyers requesting them to
withdraw the Statutory Demand as the Group considers
that it has bona fide defences on substantial grounds to
the claims asserted from the Buyers, and the Group also
considers it has very substantial counterclaims against the
Buyers as a result of their non-performance of the relevant
contracts.

On 7 April 2014, the Group received another legal letter
from the legal representative of the Buyers informing that
the Buyers will not present their winding up petition
against the Company without serving a 3-day notice.
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33 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(i)

Litigation with Rock Resource Limited (“RR”)
and United Mineral Limited (“UM”) (collectively
referred to as the “Buyers”) (continued)

On 11 April 2014, the Company received another
statutory demand from the legal representative of UM to
claim for certain interest charge (“Interest Charge”) on
certain loans provided by UM to the Group (the principal
of which had been fully repaid before 31 December 2013)
calculated up to 11 April 2014 (as supplemented by
another legal letter dated 15 April 2014), together with the
related penalty, to the extent of US$3,839,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$29,770,000). The Group has
subsequently replied, through its legal representative, that
most of the claimed Interest Charge are unenforceable at
law but agreed to pay the relevant interest charge (after
tax) calculated under normal contract terms in the amount
of US$345,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,675,000) which has been provided for during the
year ended 31 December 2013.

On 9 May 2014, the Group received another legal letter
from the legal representative of UM informing that UM will
not present its winding up petition against the Company
without serving a 3-day notice.

In October 2014, the legal representative of UM issued a
letter to the Group requesting payment for the amount of
US$345,000 and the Group fully settled the amount in
November 2014.

On 18 November 2014, a subsidiary of the Group
received a legal letter from RR, which purported to be
statutory demand serviced to the subsidiary pursuant to
section 254(2)(a) of the Singapore Companies Act (Cap.
50), requesting for settlement of a payable of
US$1,726,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$13,387,000) (the “Unpaid Invoices”), which has been
included as current liabilities of the Group in the
consolidated financial statements.
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33 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

194

(i)

Litigation with Rock Resource Limited (“RR”)
and United Mineral Limited (“UM”) (collectively
referred to as the “Buyers”) (continued)

On 8 December 2014, the Group issued a legal letter to
RR requesting RR to withdraw such statutory demand
and confirm that RR will not commence winding up of the
aforementioned subsidiary as the Group considers it has
bona fide defences on substantial grounds to the claims
asserted in RR’s letter dated 18 November 2014 and
significant cross-claims against RR and therefore the
Unpaid Invoices should not be settled at this stage since
the Group would be entitled to set these sums off against
its very substantial counterclaims for RR and/or UM.

There has been no further correspondence between the
Group and the Buyers since then and up to the date of
approval of the consolidated financial statements. The
Directors, after seeking legal advice on the above claims,
consider that the Group has bona fide defences on
substantial grounds to the claims asserted from the
Buyers such that (i) the aforementioned advance
payments received to the extent of approximately
HK$48,702,000 in aggregate are presently not due for
repayment by the Group; (i) the resulting interest so
calculated are therefore miscalculated and grossly
inflated; (iii) other than an amount of HK$2,675,000
relating to the Interest Charge which has already been
settled by the Group, the remaining sums of the claims
are without merit; and (iv) the Unpaid Invoices should not
be settled at this stage. The Directors are also of the
opinion that the Group has significant ground for very
substantial counterclaims and cross-claims against each
of the Buyers as a result of their non-performance of the
relevant contracts as mentioned in the Letters.
Consequently, no provision has been made for these
claims on these consolidated financial statements as the
Directors consider that it is not probable that the above
legal claims would result in any material outflow of
economic benefits from the Group.
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33 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(i)

Dispute on Contracts of Affreightment
(“COAs”)

The Group entered into certain COAs with various marine
vessel owners committing certain minimum number of
cargoes per calendar month for exporting iron ores from
Indonesia. As a result of the unfavourable economic
environment and the various changes in rules and
regulations stipulated by the Indonesian government
authorities since year 2012, the Group’s ores export was
adversely affected and therefore unable to fulfil the
minimum cargoes commitments as stipulated by some of
these COAs.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group
received various legal letters from TORM A/S (“TORM”), a
marine vessel owner, to (i) claim for an outstanding freight
charges payable by the Group to TORM of approximately
US$1,834,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$14,268,000) (“Outstanding Freight Charges”); and (i)
notify the commencement of arbitration proceedings
pursuant to the terms of the relevant COAs to claim for
loss and damage suffered by TORM (“Other Losses”) with
respect to approximately 51 unfulfilled cargoes under the
terms of the relevant COAs which is estimated by TORM
to be approximately US$11,828,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$91,721,000) up to 27 March 2014 (the
amount stated in the latest claim submissions from
TORM).

The relevant freight charges payable by the Group to
TORM have been fully accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2013. The dispute with TORM in respect of the
Outstanding Freight Charges has been settled at an
amount of US$419,000 (equivalent to HK$3,253,000)
during the year ended 31 December 2014 and the claim
has been fully discharged in June 2014.

In connection with the claims on Other Losses, the Group
has engaged legal advisors to commence arbitration
procedures with TORM in February 2014. The said
arbitration procedures are still in progress as at the date
of approval of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 33 FAEE(E)
(i) Dispute on Contracts of Affreightment (i) MEMEESY(HAMEESHD
(“COAs”) (continued) MFE (E)
In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the EEERBEULSAVBHRERE BB
Directors have obtained legal advice in this respect and, HEREEER  BHRAMRRDNE
based upon which, consider that as the arbitration is still T BRI REMHPHEESN
ongoing, they are not currently in a position to estimate B E(nE)  BEMHHREFAIES
the financial effect (if any) relating to the arbitration and it EHEERERARETEK ©
may take a substantial time to complete the arbitration
process.
Accordingly, no provision in respect of such legal dispute It RRAB T ER MG EEZEZFHR
was made in the consolidated financial statements. A RRIEL B -
As at 31 December 2014 and up to the date of approval R-ZE—NWF+-_A=+—BKEZ
of the consolidated financial statements, based on the CEVBHmERAABR  BEERM
best knowledge and information of the Directors, there KRB ANEEBEPREI A
are no further claims in relation to any COAs that the BERAEMEESYNZEMEBE -
Group has entered into.
Should the resolution of these legal claims and dispute turn out I _EAUEERERREFZHRRERTFRAR
to be unfavourable to the Group, the Group may need to record EE - AEEEEERKRREHAEMZE
additional losses in respect of these claims and disputes in RN FRIFEREINGIE L -
future reporting periods.
OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENT — AS 34 REBVETH—EREEA
LESSEE
The Group leases certain of its office properties under operating REFRBKEHELZHBERE THAE
lease arrangements. Leases for properties are negotiated for ¥ KEEZYEMEFRANTME=1F
terms ranging from two to three years. At 31 December 2014, R-Z—NFE+—-_A=+—H KEERK
the Group and the Company had total future minimum lease NAIR T & R B EAAR I T Al A &
payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as ME 2 RRFERSAFAR|OT
follows:
Group Company
AEE NN
2014 2013 2014 2013
—E-NE —FT-—=F ZT-OF T =%F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET FHIT THET T
Within one year —FR 5,750 5,770 4,004 4,727
In the second to fifth years, F_EFRF
inclusive (BIEEEMF) 2,241 3,047 510 2,485
Over five years BEAF - 518 - -
7,991 9,335 4,514 7,212
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35 COMMITMENTS 35 EiE
Group AEEH
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in Note & F X HTEE34mh S5l > AR A S AR
34 above, the Group had the following capital commitments at REBNRRE R 2 EANEAVEMT -

the end of the reporting period:

2014 2013
—E—{F —E—=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Contracted, but not provided for: EEENEES: T
Property, plant and equipment ME - WEMEK 58,679 62,182
36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36 BEHAIRS
In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the R G SRR i 75 5l 2 2 591 -
consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following AR BN KRS B R ELRE R 5 1T T 5
material transactions and outstanding balances with related BAR S MR T v KRR
parties during the year and as at the end of the reporting period:
Transactions with related parties HEBINXS
2014 2013
—E—mE —EFE-=F
Names of related parties Nature of transactions HK$’000 HK$’000
S B8 REME FET FH&TT
Yiwan Purchase of iron ores,
export tax exclusive (note b) 16,848 590,116
BABEL - TREDOR
(Mt7EDb)
Yiwan Sales of machinery (note c) 5,335 330
SHE MR (Bt c)
Easyman (note a) Interest expense (note d) 3,347 1,095
(Mtzxa) MEEBA ()
Ms. Sun Qiaodian (“Ms. Sun”) (note €) Interest expense (note €) 9,209 1,143
BRIoE A+ ([HFzt ) (Mizke) FEEMA (Fite)
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36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS B AR S (&)
(CONTINUED)
Outstanding balances with related parties EARAER H YRS ERER
2014 2013
—E-MF —E—=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FE&T FHETT
Prepayments to Yiwan (Note 22 and note f) T84 Yiwan 2 5018
(MfsE22 FOKI7ES) 108,349 85,828
Loan to Full Harvest Development Limited ERTERERBRAR
(Note 18) (MfzE18) 56,975 56,975
Amounts due to Easyman (note d) 458 Easyman 708 (HizEd) 61,232 51,940
Amount due to Ms. Sun (note e) ERF L LEHE(WiEe) 32,577 12,973
Amount due to a Director (note g) R —BEEHE(MiEg) 2,226 2,417

198

Notes:

(@)

Easyman is a company wholly owned by Mr. Dong. The Directors consider
that Mr. Dong through Easyman, as a lender of Yiwan, has an indirect
economic interest in Yiwan.

The transactions were carried out based on the terms agreed by the
parties under an exclusive offtake agreement and a second amending
agreement entered into between Yiwan and the Group in March 2007 and
September 2008, respectively.

Sales of machinery to Yiwan were conducted at mutually agreed prices
and terms.

Details of the terms of amounts due to Easyman are disclosed in Note
24(p).

Ms. Sun Qiaodian is the spouse of Mr. Dong. Amount due to Ms. Sun is
unsecured and repayable by 31 December 2015. Interest is calculated at
mutually agreed terms.

Prepayments are made to Yiwan for purchases of iron ores. The amount is
unsecured and interest free and will be settled by offsetting the relevant
purchases.

Amount due to a Director is unsecured, interest free and repayable on
demand.

Details of compensation of key management personnel of the Group are
included in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.
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38

TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

As at 31 December 2014, the Group endorsed certain bills
receivable accepted by banks in the PRC (the “Endorsed Bills”),
to certain of its suppliers in order to settle the trade payables
due to such suppliers with a carrying amount in aggregate of
HK$12,087,000 (2013: HK$20,182,000). In addition, the Group
discounted certain bills receivable accepted by banks in the
PRC (the “Discounted Bills”), to certain banks to finance its
operating cash flow with a carrying amount in aggregate of
HK$15,013,000 (2013: HK$575,253,000). The Endorsed Bills
and the Discounted Bills have a maturity from one to six months
at the end of the reporting period. In accordance with the Law
of Negotiable Instruments in the PRC and relevant discounting
arrangement with certain banks, the holders of the Endorsed
Bills and the Discounted Bills have a right of recourse against
the Group if the accepting banks default (the “Continuing
Involvement”).

In the opinion of the Directors, the Group has transferred
substantially all risks and rewards relating to the Endorsed Bills
and the Discounted Bills. Accordingly, it has derecognised the
full carrying amounts of the Endorsed Bills and the Discounted
Bills. The maximum exposure to loss from the Group’s
Continuing Involvement in the Endorsed Bills and the
Discounted Bills and the undiscounted cash flows to repurchase
these Endorsed Bills and Discounted Bills are equal to their
carrying amounts. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the fair values of the Group’s Continuing Involvement
in the Endorsed Bills and the Discounted Bills are not significant.

During the year, the Group has not recognised any gain or loss
on the date of transfer of the Endorsed Bills and the Discounted
Bills. No gains or losses were recognised from the continuing
involvement, both during the year or cumulatively.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(i) Default in repayment of certain borrowings
As detailed in Note 2.1(a), subsequent to the financial
reporting period, the Group failed to repay the principal
amount of certain borrowings and notes payables,
together with some of their related interest. Up to the date
of this report, a substantial amount of the Group’s
borrowings and notes payables totalling
HK$1,990,714,000 were in default or became overdue.
Measures have been taken by the Directors to mitigate
these matters and the Group is actively negotiating with
the relevant lenders on various remediation plans.
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38 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(CONTINUED)

200

(i)

Winding up petition against a subsidiary

On 27 August 2015, an application was presented by
Shinewarm Resources (HK) Group Limited (“Shinewarm”)
to the High Court of the Republic of Singapore seeking
the winding up of a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group,
CNR Singapore, at a hearing to be held on 18 September
2015. The application was made based on a claim by
Shinewarm for refund of certain trading prepayments
made to CNR Singapore, together with certain related
interest and other expenses, totalling approximately
US$444,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$3,440,000),
and further interest that continues to accrue, under an
arbitral award dated 1 April 2015 and a statutory demand
under section 254(2)(a) of the Singapore Companies Act
(Cap 50) dated 5 May 2015.

CNR Singapore has no objection to the arbitral award and
the statutory demand and is expecting to settle these
amounts. Up to the date of approval of these financial
statements, US$30,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$233,000) had been paid by CNR Singapore. The
Directors expect the payment of the remaining amounts
will be completed before 18 September 2015 and believe
that this claim will have no material adverse impact to the
financial performance and operation of the Group.
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